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AVON CYCLES LIMITED
Regd. Office: G.T. Road, Dhandari Kalan, Ludhiana-141003

Email : avon@avoncycles.com |CIN: U35921PB1951PLC001699

NOTICE
Shorter notice is hereby given that the 74th Annual General Meeting of the members of Avon Cycles 
Limited will be held on Tuesday, September 30, 2025 at 5:00 P.M. at the Registered Office of the 
Company, at G.T. Road, Dhandari Kalan, Ludhiana, to transact the following Business:

ORDINARY BUSINESS:

1.	 To receive, consider and adopt the Audited Financial Statements (including audited 
consolidated financial statements) for the financial year ended 31st March, 2025 and the 
Reports of the Directors and the Auditors thereon.

2.	 To declare Final Dividend on Equity Shares for the financial year 2024-25.

3.	 To appoint a Director in place of Sh. Onkar Singh Pahwa (DIN: 01189248), who retires by 
rotation and being eligible, offers himself for re-appointment.

4.	 To appoint a Director in place of Smt. Gurpreet Kaur (DIN: 09356854), who retires by rotation 
and being eligible, offers herself for re-appointment.

By order of the Board 

Place: Ludhiana

Dated: 25.09.2025 	

Sd/-

(Rishi Pahwa)

Managing Director

DIN: 00286399
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NOTES
1.	 A member entitled to attend and vote at the Meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend 

and vote on poll instead of himself/ herself and the proxy need not be a member of the 
company. Proxy Form, in order to be effective, must be delivered at the Regd. Office of the 
Company at least 48 hours before the scheduled time of the meeting. A blank Proxy Form is 
enclosed.

2.	 A person can act as proxy on behalf of members not exceeding fifty and holding in the 
aggregate not more than ten percent of total Share Capital of Company carrying voting 
rights. A Member holding more than ten percent of total Share Capital of Company carrying 
voting rights may appoint a single person as proxy and such person shall not act as proxy for 
any other person.

3.	 The Company has fixed September 27 (Saturday), 2025 as the ’Record Date’ for determining 
entitlement of Members to final dividend for the financial year ended March 31, 2025.  

4.	 A statement pursuant to Section 102(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 (Act) relating to the 
special businesses to be transacted at the Annual General Meeting is annexed hereto. All 
documents referred to in the accompanying Notice shall be open for inspection at the 
Registered Office of the Company during business hours except on holidays, up to and 
including the date of the Annual General Meeting, and also at the Meeting. 	

5.	 Register of Directors and Key Managerial Personnel (KMP) and their shareholding under 
Section 170 of the Companies Act, 2013 and the rules made thereunder and Register of 
Contracts maintained under Section 189 of Companies Act, 2013 and the rules made 
thereunder are available for inspection at the registered office of the Company.

6.	 Corporate Members intending to send their authorized representative(s) to attend the 
Meeting pursuant to Section 113 of the Act are requested to send to the Company, a certified 
copy of the relevant Board Resolution/ Authority Letter/ Power of Attorney, authorizing their 
representatives together with the specimen signatures of the representative(s) to attend 
and vote on their behalf at the Meeting.

7.	 Members who have not yet registered their e-mail addresses, bank account details and 
mobile number are requested to register the same with their Depository Participants (“DP”) 
since the shares are held by them in electronic Form.

8.	 Pursuant to the provisions of Section 124 of the Companies Act, 2013 and other applicable 
provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and rules made thereunder, there are no unclaimed 
dividend amounts pending for transfer.

9.	 In case of joint holders attending the Meeting, only such joint holder who is higher in the 
order of names will be entitled to vote.

10.	 The Members/Proxies are requested to bring the attendance slip duly filled in for attending 
the Meeting.

11.	 Details of Directors, retiring by rotation at the ensuing Meeting are annexed to the Notice 
pursuant Secretarial Standard on General Meetings (SS-2), issued by the Institute of Company 
Secretaries of India as Annexure – I.

By order of the Board 

Place: Ludhiana

Dated: 25.09.2025                                                                                                                                                                           Sd/-
          							                                                       (Rishi Pahwa)
							                                              Managing Director
   	                                                                                                                              DIN: 00286399
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The relevant details of Directors who is proposed to be re-appointed Directors of the Company, as required 
under SS-2 issued by the Company Secretaries of India are as under;

Particulars Name of the Director

Sh. Onkar Singh Pahwa

DIN 01189248

Age 73 Years

Date of birth 10.08.1952

Qualification Post Graduate and above

Experience 46 Years in Administration, Marketing, Production and 
Export

Relationship with other Directors, Manager and other Key 
Managerial Personnel of the Company

Sh. Rishi Pahwa, Managing Director, is son of Sh. Onkar 
Singh Pahwa.

Sh. Mandeep Singh Pahwa, Joint Managing Director, is son 
of Sh. Onkar Singh Pahwa.

Nature of appointment (appointment / re-Appointment is 
liable to retire by rotation appointment)

Re-appointment is Liable to retire by rotation as Director

Terms and Conditions of appointment / re-Appointment 
as Whole-me Director 

Appointed as Whole-time Director is Liable to retire by 
rotation 

Remuneration last drawn by such Person Rs. 29.15 Lakh per month plus 30% HRA, and other perks as 
per the policy of the Company.

No of meetings of the Board attended during the year Five

Date of first appointment on the Board 11.04.1983

Shareholding in the company Nil

Directorship Details of the Board 1. Avon Cycles Ltd
2. Avon Fitness Machines Pvt. Ltd.
3. Avon Energies And Investments Private Limited
4. Avon Infrabiz Private Limited
5. Nimbua Greenfield (Punjab) Ltd
6. Avon Newage Cycles Private Ltd
7. Ludhiana Advanced Centre For Cycle Technology

Membership / Chairmanships of committees of other 
Companies

Nil

Mr. Onkar Singh Pahwa is not disqualified under the Companies Act, 2013 (as amended) or disqualified 
and/or debarred by virtue of any order passed by the Securities and Exchange Board of India, Ministry 
of Corporate Affairs, any Court or any such other Statutory Authority, to be appointed / re-appointed / 
continue as a director in any company.
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Particulars Name of the Director

Smt. Gurpreet Kaur

DIN DIN: 09356854

Age 62 Years

Date of birth 24.08.1963

Qualification Post Graduate and Doctorate

Experience 4 years in Administration and Management

Relationship with other Directors, Manager and 
other Key Managerial Personnel of the Company

No Relationship with other Directors, Manager and other Key 
Managerial Personnel of the Company

Nature of appointment (appointment / re-
Appointment is liable to retire by rotation 
appointment)

Re-appointment is Liable to retire by rotation as non-executive 
Director

Terms and Conditions of appointment / re-
Appointment as Whole-me Director 

Appointed as non-executive Director is Liable to retire by rotation

Remuneration last drawn by such Person, if Month 
applicable and Remuneration sought to be paid

Only sitting of Rs. 10,000/- is paid for every Board meeting attended.

No of meetings of the Board attended during the 
year

Three

Date of first appointment on the Board 04.02.2023

Shareholding in the company Nil

Directorship Details of the Board 1. Avon Cycles Ltd
2. Ceigall India Limited
3. Ceigall Infra Projects Private Limited
4. Ceigall Malout Abohar Sadhuwali Highways Private Limited
5. Ceigall Jalbehra Shahbad Greenfield Highway Private Limited
6. Ceigall Bathinda Dabwali Highways Private Limited
7. C&C Construction Limited

Membership / Chairmanships of committees of 
other Companies

Ceigall India Limited
•	 Nomination and Remuneration Committee
•	 Corporate Social Responsibility Committee
Ceigall Jalbehra Shahbad Greenfield Highway Private Limited
•	 Audit Committee 
•	 Nomination and Remuneration Committee*
Ceigall Infra Projects Private Limited
•	 Audit Committee
•	 Nomination and Remuneration Committee*
•	 Corporate Social Responsibility Committee
Ceigall Bathinda Dabwali Highways Private Limited
•	 Audit Committee
•	 Nomination and Remuneration Committee*
Ceigall Malout Abohar Sadhuwali Highways Private Limited
•	 Audit Committee
•	 Nomination and Remuneration Committee*
•	 Corporate Social Responsibility Committee
C&C Construction Limited
•	 Nomination and Remuneration Committee*
•	 Stakeholders Relationship Committee
•	 Audit Committee

*Chairperson 

Smt. Gurpreet Kaur is not disqualified under the Companies Act, 2013 (as amended) or disqualified 
and/or debarred by virtue of any order passed by the Securities and Exchange Board of India, Ministry 
of Corporate Affairs, any Court or any such other Statutory Authority, to be appointed / re-appointed / 
continue as a director in any company.



6

AVON CYCLES LIMITED
Regd. Office: G.T. Road, Dhandari Kalan, Ludhiana-141003

Email : avon@avoncycles.com |CIN: U35921PB1951PLC001699| Ph: 0161-4684800

ATTENDANCE SLIP

Annual General Meeting- 30-09-2025

Regd. Folio No./DP ID & Client ID

Name and Address of the Sole/First Member

Joint Holder 1

Joint Holder 2

No. of shares held

I certify that lam a shareholder/ proxy of the shareholder of the Company.

I/We hereby record my/our presence at the Annual General Meeting of the Company being held 
on Tuesday, 30-09-2025 at 5:00 PM at the Registered Office of the Company at G.T. Road, Dhandari 
Kalan, Ludhiana.

Member’s Folio/DP ID- Client 
ID No.

Member’s/ Proxy’s name in 
Block Letters

Member’s/ Proxy’s Signature

Note:

1. Members are requested to bring their copies of Annual Report to the Meeting.

2. Please fill in attendance slip and hand it over at the entrance of the hall.
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AVON CYCLES LIMITED
Regd. Office: G.T. Road, Dhandari Kalan, Ludhiana-141003

Email : avon@avoncycles.com |CIN: U35921PB1951PLC001699| Ph: 0161-4684800

Form No. MGT-11
PROXY FORM

[Pursuant to Section 105(6) of the Companies Act, 2013 and Rule 19(3) of the Companies 
(Management and Administration) Rules, 2014]

CIN: U35921PB1951PLC001699

Name of the company: Avon Cycles Limited

Registered office: G.T. Road, Dhandari Kalan, Ludhiana-141003

Name of the Member(s):

Registered Address:

Email id

Folio No/Client Id:

DP Id:

I/We, being the holder(s) of ______________________ Equity Shares of M/s Avon Cycles Limited, 
hereby appoint

1. Name: ______________________________________________________

E-mail Id: ______________________________________________________

Address: ______________________________________________________

Signature: ________________________________or failing him/her

2. Name: ______________________________________________________

E-mail Id: ______________________________________________________

Address: ______________________________________________________

Signature: ________________________________or failing him/her

3. Name: ______________________________________________________

E-mail Id: ______________________________________________________

Address: ______________________________________________________

Signature: _________________________________or failing him/her
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as my/our proxy to attend and vote (on a poll) for me/us and on my/our behalf at the Annual General 
Meeting of the Company, to be held on 30-09-2025 at The Registered Office of the Company at 5:00 
PM and at any adjournment thereof in respect of such resolutions as are indicated below:

Resolution No. Particulars For Against

1 To receive, consider and adopt the Audited Financial 
Statements (including audited consolidated financial 
statements) for the financial year ended 31st March, 
2025 and the Reports of the Directors and the Auditors 
thereon.

2 To declare Final Dividend on Equity Shares for the 
financial year 2024-25.

3 To appoint a Director in place of Sh. Onkar Singh Pahwa 
(DIN: 01189248), who retires by rotation and being 
eligible, offers himself for re-appointment.

4 To appoint a Director in place of Smt. Gurpreet Kaur (DIN: 
09356854), who retires by rotation and being eligible, 
offers herself for re-appointment.

Signed this ______________day of ___________ 2025

Signature of Shareholder _______________Signature of Proxy holder(s)___________

Note: This form of proxy in order to be effective should be duly completed and deposited at the 
Registered Office of the Company, not less than 48 hours before the commencement of the Meeting.

Affix Revenue

Stamp of Rs. 1
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Route map of the venue of the Annual General Meeting
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AVON CYCLES LIMITED
                                   Regd. Office: G.T. Road, Dhandari Kalan, Ludhiana-141003
       		       Email : avon@avoncycles.com |CIN: U35921PB1951PLC001699

BOARD’S REPORT

To the Members,

Your Directors feel pleasure in submitting their 74th Annual Report of the Company together with 
the Audited Statements of Accounts for the year ended 31st March, 2025. 

1. FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 

The financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31st March, 2025, had been prepared in 
accordance with Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS). The financial performance of your Company 
for financial year(s) 2024-25 and 2023-24 are as under:                                         

(Rs. in Lakh)                                                                                                                                                               

Particulars STANDALONE CONSOLIDATED
F.Y. 2024-25 F.Y. 2023-24 F.Y.2024-25 F.Y.2023-24

Revenue from Operations 88,510.22 1,11,454.02 94,449.86 1,15,966.38

Other Income 3,338.54 3,190.25 3,209.65 3,193.44

Total Income 91,848.76 1,14,644.27 97,659.51 1,19,159.82
 

Less: Expenses 67,490.69 83,417.03 71,597.74 86,092.77

Less: Finance Cost 170.26 269.22 414.91 561.45 

Less: Depreciation and Amortization 674.54 717.89 1,269.23 1,379.46 

Less: Other Expenses 16,739.01 19,676.40 18,012.39 20,726.96 

Profit before tax & exceptional items 6,774.24 10,563.77 6,365.24 10,399.18 

Less: Exceptional Items (CSR Expend-
iture)

137.41 129.32 137.41 129.32

Profit before tax 6,636.83 10,434.45 6,227.83 10,269.86 

Less: Provision for tax   - Current
                                          - Deferred

1,552.00
3,23.91

2,299.22
(103.53)

1,552.00
268.22

2,299.22
(121.72)

Profit  after tax 4,760.92 8,238.76 4,407.61 8,092.36

Add: Other Comprehensive Income/
(Loss)

(38.86) 21.85 (36.43) 22.17

Total Comprehensive Income 4,722.06 8,260.61 4,371.18 8,114.53 

Earnings per Share: Basic (Rs.)
Earnings per Share: Diluted (Rs.)

539.62
539.62

955.74
955.74

499.12
499.12

942.12
942.12
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2. STATE OF THE COMPANY’S AFFAIRS
Your Company is leading manufacturer of Bicycles, E-Rikshaws, E-Scooter and their parts, led by strong 
Management. M/s Avon Newage Cycles Private Limited (Wholly Owned Subsidiary) has also started 
production of premium bicycles and exporting the same to various countries.
On standalone basis, the Company reported Revenue from Operations of Rs. 88,510.22 Lakh for the 
financial year 2024-25, as compared to Rs. 1,11,454.02 Lakh in the previous financial year 2023-24, 
registering a de-growth of 20.59%. Net profit for the year under review amounted to Rs. 4,760.92 
Lakh, as compared to Rs. 8,238.76 Lakh in the previous year, registering a substantive decrease of 
42.21 % over the previous year. 
On consolidated basis, the Company reported revenue from operations of Rs. 94,449.86 Lakh for the 
financial year 2024-25, as compared to Rs. 1,15,966.38 lakh in the previous financial year 2023-24, 
registering a de-growth of 18.55%. Net profit for the year under review amounted to Rs. 4,407.61 
Lakh, as compared to Rs. 8,092.36 Lakh in the previous year, registering a decrease of 45.53% over 
the previous year. 

3. DIVIDEND 
Your Directors are pleased to recommend a final dividend of Rs. 20 per share for the year ended 31st 
March, 2025. The dividend if approved and declared at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting on 
30th September, 2025, would result in total dividend outflow of Rs. 174.10 Lakh. 

4. RESERVES
An amount of Rs. 5 crore has been transferred to the General Reserve.

5. CHANGE IN NATURE OF BUSINESS
There was no change in the nature of business during the year under review.         

6. SHARE CAPITAL 
During the period under review, there was no change in the Capital Structure of the Company.

7. CREDIT RATING OF SECURITIES
The Company is not required to obtain the credit rating of its Securities. 

8. TRANSFER OF UNCLAIMED DIVIDEND/MATURED DEPOSITS/MATURED DEBENTURES TO   
INVESTOR EDUCATION AND PROTECTION FUND
No amount has been transferred to the Investor Education and Protection Fund as no eligible 
amount was payable.

9. DIRECTORS
During the year under review following changes took place in composition of Board:

a)	 Appointment/ re-appointment of Directors: 

	 Sh. Rishi Pahwa and Sh. Bhupinder Singh Dhiman, Directors were re-appointed in the Annual 
General Meeting held on 30.09.2024.

	 Resignation from Directorship: 

	 During the year under review no director has resigned.

	 Declaration by Independent Directors: The Independent Directors have submitted their 
disclosures to the Board that they have fulfilled all the requirements as stipulated in Section 
149(6) of the Companies Act, 2013 and the relevant rules.

b)	 Separate meeting of Independent Directors: In terms of requirements under schedule 
IV of the Companies Act, 2013, a separate meeting of independent directors was held on 
10.05.2024. 
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c)	 Remuneration Policy: The Company’s Policy relating to appointment of Directors, payment 
of Managerial Remuneration, Directors’ qualifications, independence of Directors and other 
related matters as provided under Section 178(3) of the Companies Act, 2013 went under no 
change during the year. 

10. BOARD MEETINGS CONDUCTED DURING THE YEAR UNDER REVIEW
During the year under review five meetings of the Board of Directors were held namely on 
10.05.2024, 01.06.2024, 26.09.2024, 25.12.2024 and 18.03.2025.

11. DISCLOSURE OF COMPOSITION OF AUDIT COMMITTEE, NOMINATION AND REMUNERATION 
COMMITTEE, CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY COMMITTEE AND MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
The Company has four Committees namely Audit Committee, Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee, Corporate Social Responsibility Committee and Management Committee.

The Audit Committee consisted of the following members as on 31.03.2025:

1)	 Sh. Anil Arora-Chairman 

2)	 Sh. Rishi Pahwa- Member 

3)	 Sh. Bhavdeep Sardana –Member

Two Audit Committee Meetings were held during the year under review namely on 10.05.2024, and 
26.09.2024.

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee consisted of following members as on 31.03.2025

1)	 Sh. Anil Arora-Chairman 

2)	 Sh. Bhavdeep Sardana-Member

3)	 Sh. Bhupinder Singh Dhiman-Member

The above composition of the Nomination & Remuneration Committee consists of Independent 
Directors viz., Sh. Bhavdeep Sardana and Sh. Anil Arora. Company held two meeting of Nomination 
& Remuneration Committee during year under review on 26.09.2024 and 18.03.2025.

The Corporate Social Responsibility Committee consisted of the following members as on 
31.03.2025.

1)	 Sh. Bhavdeep Sardana-Chairman 

2)	 Sh. Onkar Singh Pahwa- Member

3)	 Sh. Rishi Pahwa- Member-Member

4)	 Sh. Mandeep Singh Pahwa-Member

5)	 Smt. Gurpreet Kaur-Member

The Committee has been constituted as per law having at least one member as independent 
director. Two meeting of CSR Committee were held during the year under review namely on 
10.05.2024 and 26.09.2024.

The Management Committee consisted of the following members as on 31.03.2025.

1)	 Sh. Onkar Singh Pahwa- Chairman

2)	 Sh. Rishi Pahwa- Member-Member

3)	 Sh. Mandeep Singh Pahwa-Member

No meeting was held during the year 2024-25.
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12. DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT
In accordance with the provisions of Section 134(5) of the Companies Act, 2013, the Board hereby 
submits its Responsibility Statement:—

(a) 	 in the preparation of the annual accounts, the applicable accounting standards have been 
followed along with proper explanation relating to material departures;

(b)	 they have selected such accounting policies and applied them consistently and made 
judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent so as to give a true and fair view 
of the state of affairs of the company at the end of the financial year and of the profit of the 
Company for that period;

(c) 	 they have taken proper and sufficient care for the maintenance of adequate accounting 
records in accordance with the provisions of this Act for safeguarding the assets of the 
Company and for preventing and detecting fraud and other irregularities;

(d) 	 they have prepared the Annual Accounts on a going concern basis; 

(e) 	 they have laid down Internal Financial Controls to be followed by the Company and such 
Internal Financial Controls are adequate and operating effectively; and

(f )  	 they have devised proper systems to ensure compliance with the provisions of all applicable 
laws and that such systems were adequate and operating effectively.

13. DETAILS IN RESPECT OF ADEQUACY OF INTERNAL FINANCIAL CONTROLS WITH REFERENCE 
TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Company has Internal Financial Controls which are adequate and are operating effectively. 
The controls are adequate for ensuring the orderly & efficient conduct of the business, including 
adherence to the Company’s policies, the safeguarding of assets, the prevention & detection of 
frauds & errors, the accuracy & completeness of accounting records and timely preparation of 
reliable financial information.

14. FRAUD REPORTED BY THE AUDITORS 
There were no instances of fraud during the year and consequently, the Auditors have not reported 
any fraud to the Board under Section143 (12) of the Companies Act, 2013.

15. PARTICULARS OF CONTRACTS OR ARRANGEMENTS MADE WITH RELATED PARTIES
All related party transactions that were entered into during the financial year were on an arm’s 
length basis and were in the ordinary course of business. There are no materially significant related 
party transactions made by the Company with Promoters, Directors, Key Managerial Personnel or 
other designated persons which may have a potential conflict with the interest of the Company at 
large. However, detail of related party transaction is attached as per Annexure-A (AOC- 2).

16. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Audited Consolidated Financial Statements prepared by the Company, in accordance with the 
Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS), are duly provided in the Annual Report of the Company.

17. DETAILS OF SUBSIDIARIES/ASSOCIATE COMPANIES
M/s Avon Newage Cycles Private Limited is wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. Avon Newage 
Cycles Private Limited is exporting high end bicycles and this will definitely contribute to the overall 
performance of the Company. Details of Subsidiary Company is attached as per Annexure-B. 

18. PUBLIC DEPOSITS
During the period under review, the Company has not accepted/renewed any deposits from public in 
terms of the Companies Act, 2013 and rules made thereunder.
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19. CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY 
Under Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) provisions, the Company has formed requisite CSR 
Committee. The committee has framed CSR policy which has been approved by the Board as per 
requirement of section 135 of the Companies Act, 2013.

The composition of CSR committee and CSR Policy has been displayed on the website of the 
Company namely www.avoncycles.com. Two meetings of CSR Committee were held during the 
year under review namely on 10.05.2024 and 26.09.2024.

The Annual Report on Company’s CSR activities of the Company is furnished in Annexure-C and 
attached to this report.

20. CONSERVATION OF ENERGY, TECHNOLOGY ABSORPTION, FOREIGN EXCHANGE EARNINGS 
AND OUTGO
The information pertaining to conservation of energy, technology absorption, Foreign Exchange 
Earnings and Outgo as required under Section 134 (3)(m) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with 
Rule 8(3) of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014 is furnished in Annexure-D and is attached to 
this report. 

21. STATEMENT CONCERNING DEVELOPMENT AND IMPLEMENTATION OF RISK MANAGEMENT 
POLICY OF THE COMPANY
The Risk Management includes identifying types of risks and its assessment, risk handling and 
monitoring and reporting. The following are the elements of risks which in the opinion of the Board 
may threaten the very existence of the Company itself:

a. 	 Product obsolescence vis -a - vis non-acceptance of models could adversely affect the 
revenue stream and profitability.

b. 	 Small manufacturers in the unorganized sector have set up their units which certainly pose 
a threat to the organized sector.

c. 	 Cheap imports from China are also threatening the Bicycle Industry.

d. 	 Steel prices are changing on regular basis and there is wide fluctuation in chemical industry 
and other metals including Nickel, Brass etc, which are governed by external forces.

e. 	 Dollar rate increasing rapidly.

22. VIGIL MECHANISM
The Company has established a vigil mechanism which is overseen through the Audit Committee. 
The genuine concerns are expressed by the employees and seniors. The Company has also provided 
adequate safeguards against victimization of employees and seniors who express their concerns. 
The Company has also provided direct access to the Chairman of the Audit Committee on reporting 
issues concerning the interests of employees and the Company.

23. SIGNIFICANT AND MATERIAL ORDERS PASSED BY THE REGULATORS OR COURTS
During the year under review, there were no significant and material orders passed by the Regulators 
or Courts against the Company.

24. AUDITORS AND AUDITORS’ REPORTS: 

STATUTORY AUDITORS
M/s H.K. Chitkara and Company, Chartered Accountants (Firm Registration No. 001571N) were 
appointed as Statutory Auditors for five years in the Annual General Meeting held on 30.09.2024, 
from F.Y. 2024-25 to F.Y. 2028-29. So they stand appointed for the year 2025-26.

COST AUDITORS
Cost Audit is not applicable on the Company.
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SECRETARIAL AUDIT:
Pursuant to the provisions of Section 204 of the Companies Act, 2013 and the Companies 
(Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014, the Company had appointed 
M/s B. K. Gupta & Associates, Practicing Company Secretaries, to undertake the Secretarial Audit of 
the Company for financial year 2024-25.

The Secretarial Audit Report is annexed herewith as Annexure-E. The report is self-explanatory. 

INTERNAL AUDIT AND CONTROL
Internal Auditor’s findings are discussed by management and suitable corrective actions are taken 
as per the directions of Audit Committee on an ongoing basis to improve efficiency in operations.

25. EXPLANATION OR COMMENTS ON QUALIFICATIONS, RESERVATIONS OR ADVERSE 
REMARKS OR DISCLAIMERS MADE BY THE STATUTORY AUDITORS AND THE SECRETARIAL 
AUDITORS IN THEIR REPORTS
The Auditors of the Company have not made any reservation or qualification or adverse remark in 
their reports. 

26. COMPLIANCE WITH SECRETARIAL STANDARDS 
The Company is following all the applicable Secretarial Standards issued by Institute of Companies 
Secretaries of India (ICSI.)

27. MATERIAL CHANGES AND COMMITMENT IF ANY AFFECTING THE FINANCIAL POSITION OF 
THE COMPANY OCCURRED BETWEEN 31.03.2025 AND THE DATE OF THIS REPORT
No adverse or unfavourable material changes took place between 31.03.2025 and the date of this 
report which had an effect on the financial position of the company. 

28. ANNUAL RETURN
The Annual Return of the Company is available on its corporate website at https://avoncycles.com/
corporate/annual-return.

29. DISCLOSURE UNDER THE SEXUAL HARASSMENT OF WOMEN AT WORKPLACE (PREVENTION, 
PROHIBITION AND REDRESSAL) ACT, 2013
The Company has duly set up an Internal Complaints Committee (ICC) in line with the requirements 
of the Sexual Harassment of Women at the Workplace (Prevention, Prohibition & Redressal) Act, 
2013, to redress Complaints received regarding sexual harassment. Detail of complaints are as 
under:

S r . 
No.

Number of complaints of 
sexual harassment received 
in the year

Number of complaints 
disposed off during the year

Number of cases pending for 
more than ninety days

1 Nil Nil	 Nil

30. COMPLIANCE OF MATERNITY BENEFIT ACT, 1961
Pursuant to the provisions of rule 8(5)(xiii) of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014 (including any 
amendments, re-enactments and re-enforcements for the time being in force), the Company is 
regularly complying with the provisions of Maternity Benefit Act, 1961.

31. PARTICULARS OF LOANS, GUARANTEES OR INVESTMENTS MADE UNDER SECTION 186 OF 
THE COMPANIES ACT, 2013
The particulars of Loans and investments made under section 186 have been disclosed in the financial 
statements. The Company has given Corporate Guarantee to Indusind Bank and Mufin Green Finance 
Limited to make good any default committed by the persons who get finance for the purchase of 
E-Rickshaw and E-Bike of Avon Cycles Limited from Indusind Bank and Mufin Green Finance Limited. 
The total amount outstanding was Rs. 75.20 Lakh. No Provision has been made in the standalone 
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financial statements as no default has been reported on balance sheet date. Further the Company 
has also given corporate guarantee to HDFC Bank Ltd. and EXIM Bank Limited on behalf of wholly 
owned subsidiary i.e. M/s Avon Newage Cycles Private Limited. The guarantee given to the extent of 
loan extended by these banks. Total outstanding loan as on March 31, 2025 is Rs. 1816.65 Lakh. The 
quantum of such loans, investments, guarantee and security in connection with loan to any bodies 
corporate or persons is within the limits of the Board of Directors as required under section 186 of 
the Companies Act, 2013.

32. REGISTRAR AND SHARE TRANSFER AGENT
M/s MUFG Intime India Private Limited are the Registrar and Transfer Agent of the Company.

33. LOANS RECEIVED FROM DIRECTOR 
The Company has received unsecured loans from its Directors. At the same time some of the loan 
has been repaid.

34. GENERAL DISCLOSURES
Your Directors state that no disclosure or reporting is required in respect of the following items as 
there were no transactions on these items during the year under review:

1.	 There is no proceeding pending under the Insolvency and Bankruptcy Code, 2016.

2.	 There was no instance of one time settlement with any Bank or Financial Institution.

35. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
Your Directors place on record their sincere thanks to the suppliers, the customers, the bankers, 
business associates, consultants, and various Government Authorities for their continued support 
to the company during the year under review. Your Directors also acknowledge gratefully the 
employees for their dedication.                                                                            

                                                   			                 For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

 		                                           	  

	 Sd/-	 Sd/-
Dated: 25.09.2025	 (Rishi Pahwa)	 (Mandeep Singh Pahwa)
Place: Ludhiana	 Managing Director	 Jt. Managing Director
	 DIN: 00286399                                      	 DIN: 00248245
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ANNEXURE-A
Form No. AOC-2

For the year 2024-25

(Pursuant to clause (h) of sub-section (3) of section 134 of the Act and Rule 8(2) of the Companies 
(Accounts) Rules, 2014)

Form for disclosure of particulars of contracts/arrangements entered into by the Company 
with related parties referred to in sub-section (1) of section 188 of the Companies Act, 2013 
including certain arm’s length transactions under third proviso thereto.

1. Details of contracts or arrangements or transactions not at arm’s length basis: Avon Cycles 
Limited has not entered into any contracts/ arrangements/ transactions with its related parties 
which are not at Arm’s Length Price during the year 2024-25.

2. Details of material contracts or arrangement or transactions at arm’s length basis:

Sr. 
No

Name(s) of the related 
party and nature of 
relationship

Nature of 
contracts/ 
arrangements/ 
transactions

Duration of 
the contracts /
arrangements/
transactions

Salient terms of 
the contracts or 
arrangements 
or transactions 
including the 
value, if any:

Date(s) of 
approval by 
the Board, if 
any:

Amount 
paid as 
advances, if 
any:

1 Avon Fitness Machines 
Pvt. Limited 
(Sh. Onkar Singh Pahwa, 
Sh. Mandeep Singh 
Pahwa and 
Sh. Rishi Pahwa are 
common directors)

1. Sale of goods 

2.Property given 
on rent 

3. Rendering of 
services 

4. Purchase of 
Goods 

1.Ongoing 

2. Ongoing 

3. Ongoing

4. Ongoing

1. Sale of goods: Rs. 
12,536.52
.

2. Rent Received 
Rs. 79,73,304

3. Availment of 
services: Rs. 
99,890

4. Purchase of 
goods: Rs. 3,72,405

18.03.2024 No

2 Avon Energies & 
Investments Private 
Limited. 
(Sh. Mandeep Singh 
Pahwa and 
Sh. Rishi Pahwa are 
common Directors)

1.Property 
obtained on lease 

2.Sale of goods 

15 years

1.Ongoing 

Property obtained 
on lease. Terms as 
per agreement dt. 
01.02.2013 and 
15.09.2014
(Amt. of rent/
interest:
 Rs. 54,89,760

Sale of goods:   
Rs. 1,26,666

18.03.2024 No

3 Hans Raj Pahwa & 
Brothers (Partnership 
Firm in which Directors 
are interested)

Availing of 
canteen services 

Ongoing Canteen running 
expenses 
Rs. 5,80,334

18.03.2024 No

4 Aditragh Enterprises 
(Relative’s entity)

Purchase and sale 
of goods 

Ongoing 1. Purchase of 
goods 
Rs. 19,61,42,097

2. Sale of goods of 
Rs. 5,93,015.95

18.03.2024 No
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5 NRG Enterprises 
(Relative’s entity)

Purchase and sale 
of goods 

Ongoing Purchase of goods 
of 
Rs. 15,58,19,938

2. Sale of goods of 
Rs. 2,69,386.55

18.03.2024 No

6 Wheel Craft (Relative’s 
entity)

Purchase and sale 
of goods 

Ongoing Purchase of goods 
of Rs. 84,95,696

2. Sale of goods of 
Rs. 1,09,238.87

18.03.2024 No

7 Avon Newage Cycles 
Private Limited (Wholly 
Owned Subsidiary)

Purchase and sale 
of goods 

Ongoing 1. Purchase of 
goods of 
Rs.  5,28,29,445.95
2. Sale of goods of 
Rs. 2,48,74,475.40

18.03.2024 No

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

	 Sd/-	 Sd/-
Dated: 25.09.2025	 (Rishi Pahwa	 (Mandeep Singh Pahwa) 
Place: Ludhiana	 Managing Director	  Jt. Managing Director
	 DIN: 00286399                                      	 DIN: 00248245
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ANNEXURE-B
Form AOC-1

(Pursuant to first proviso to sub-section (3) of section 129 read with rule 5 of Companies 
(Accounts) Rules, 2014)

Statement containing salient features of the financial statement of subsidiaries/associate 
companies/joint ventures for the year 2024-25

 Part “A”: Subsidiaries

(Information in respect of each subsidiary to be presented with amounts in Rs.)

Sr. No.: 1

Name of the subsidiary M/s Avon Newage Cycles Private Limited

The date since when subsidiary was acquired 26.11.2020

Reporting period for the subsidiary concerned, if 
different from the holding company’s reporting period

01.04.2024 to 31.03.2025 (same as of holding company’s 
reporting period)

Reporting currency and Exchange rate as on the last 
date of the relevant financial year in the case of foreign 
subsidiaries

NA

Share capital (Authorized, Issued, Subscribed and paid 
up)

Authorised Capital   :     Rs. 25,00,00,000
Issued Capital            :     Rs. 18,92,80,000                                                
Subscribed Capital   :     Rs. 18,92,80,000
Paid Up Capital          :     Rs. 18,92,80,000

Reserves & surplus Rs. 12,25,16,126

Total assets Rs. 111,83,13,702

Total Liabilities (excluding Share Capital and Reserves & 
surplus)

Rs. 80,65,17,577

Investments NIL

Turnover Rs. 65,25,61,937 

Profit before taxation Rs.(4,09,01,629)

Provision for taxation Rs. 55,69,047

Profit after taxation Rs.(3,53,32,582)

Proposed Dividend NIL

% of shareholding 100%

1. Names of subsidiaries which are yet to commence operations: NIL

2. Names of subsidiaries which have been liquidated or sold during the year: NIL

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

                                                                			                                            	  

	 Sd/-	 Sd/-
Dated: 25.09.2025	 (Rishi Pahwa)	 (Mandeep Singh Pahwa) 
Place: Ludhiana	 Managing Director	 Jt. Managing Director
	 DIN: 00286399                                      	 DIN: 00248245
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ANNEXURE-C
Annual Report on CSR Activities   

1.	 Brief outline on CSR Policy of the Company

	 The Company’s CSR initiatives are inspired by the opportunity to contribute towards 
sustainable future and its nourishment. The Company’s Corporate Strategy ensures 
inculcating social developments as an integral part of its business enterprise and to contribute 
to make substantial improvements in the social framework of the nearby community.

2.	 Composition of CSR Committee

Sr. 
No.

Name of Director Designation 
/ Nature of 
Directorship

Number of meetings 
of CSR Committee 
held during the year

Number of meetings of 
CSR Committee attended 
during the year

1 Sh. Bhavdeep Sardana Chairman 2 1

2 Sh. Onkar Singh Pahwa Member 2 2

3 Sh. Rishi Pahwa Member 2 2

4 Sh. Mandeep Singh Pahwa Member 2 2

5 Smt. Gurpreet Kaur Member 2 0

3.	 Provide the web-link where composition of CSR committee, CSR Policy and CSR projects 
approved by the Board are disclosed on the website of the company at: www. avoncycles.
com/corporate/corporate-social-responsibility.

4.	 Provide the executive summary along with web-link(s) of Impact Assessment of CSR Projects 
carried out in pursuance of sub-rule (3) of rule 8, if applicable.

	 Not Applicable for the financial year under review.

5.	 (a) Average net profit of the company as per sub-section (5) of section 135: Rs. 6,788.57 Lakh

	 (b) Two percent of average net profit of the company as per sub-section (5) of section 135: 
Rs. 135.77 Lakh

	 (c) Surplus arising out of the CSR projects or programmes or activities of the previous financial 
years: Nil 

	 (d) Amount required to be set-off for the financial year, if any: Rs. 2.94 Lakh

	 (e) Total CSR obligation for the financial year [(b)+(c)-(d)]:  Rs. 132.83 Lakh

6.	 (a) Amount spent on CSR Projects (both Ongoing Project and other than Ongoing Project): 
Rs. 137.41 Lakh

	 (b) Amount spent in Administrative Overheads: NIL

	 (c) Amount spent on Impact Assessment, if applicable: NIL

	 (d) Total amount spent for the financial year [(a)+(b)+(c)]. Rs. 137.41 Lakh

	 (e) CSR amount spent or unspent for the financial year:

Total Amount 
Spent for the 
financial year (In 
Lakh)

                                                         Amount Unspent

Total Amount transferred to 
Unspent CSR Account as per 
subsection (6) of section 135.

Amount transferred to any fund specified under 
Schedule VII as per second proviso to sub-section (5) 
of section 135.

Amount Date of Transfer Name of fund Amount Date of Transfer

137.41 NIL NIL NA NA NA
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	 (f ) Excess amount for set-off, if any:

Sr. No. Particular Amount  
(Rs. in Lakh)

I Two percent of average net profit of the company as per sub-section (5) of 
section 135

135.77

II Amount required to be set-off for the financial year, if any 2.94

III Net CSR Liability for the year [(I)-(II)] 132.83

IV Total amount spent for the financial year 137.41

V Excess amount spent for the financial year [(iv)-(iii)] 4.58

VI Surplus arising out of the CSR projects or programmes or activities of the 
previous financial years, if any

0

VII Amount available for set-off in succeeding financial years [(v)-(vi)] 4.58

7. 	 (a) Details of Unspent Corporate Social Responsibility amount for the preceding three 
financial years:

Sr. 
No

Preceding 
financial 
year

Amount 
transferred 
to Unspent 
CSR Account 
under 
subsection (6) 
of section 135 
(in Rs.)

Balance 
Amount in 
Unspent 
CSR Account 
under 
subsection 
(6) of section 
135 (in Rs.)

Amount 
spent 
in the 
reporting 
financial 
year 

Amount transferred 
to a Fund as specified 
under Schedule VII as 
per second proviso 
to subsection (5) of 
section 135, if any

Amount 
remaining to 
be spent in 
succeeding 
financial 
years

Deficiency, 
if any

Amount 
(in Rs.)

Date of 
transfer

1 2021-22 Rs. 23,07,875 0 Rs. 0 NA NA 0 NA

8. 	 Whether any capital assets have been created or acquired through Corporate Social 
Responsibility amount spent in the financial year: NO

	 If Yes, enter the number of Capital assets created/ acquired: NA

	 Furnish the details relating to such asset(s) so created or acquired through Corporate Social 
Responsibility amount spent in the financial year: NA

Sr. 
No.

Short particulars of the 
property or asset(s) 
[including complete 
address and location of the 
property]

Pin code of the 
property or 
asset(s)

Date of creation Amount 
of CSR 
amount 
spent

Details of entity/ 
Authority/ 
beneficiary of the 
registered owner

(1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6)

CSR Registration Number, if 
applicable Name Registered 
address

Name Registered address

NA NA NA NA NA NA

9. 	 Specify the reason(s), if the company has failed to spend two per cent of the average net 
profit as per subsection (5) of section 135. : NA

	 Sd/-	 Sd/-
	 (Onkar Singh Pahwa)	 Bhavdeep Sardana		
	 Managing Director	 (Chairman CSR Committee)	
	 DIN: 01189248	 DIN: 07995587
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ANNEXURE - D
CONSERVATION OF ENERGY, TECHNOLOGY ABSORPTION AND FOREIGN 

A) Conservation of Energy
Steps taken for conservation of energy:

All the units have taken various measures in conservation of energy. The thrust is to measure the 
existing system parameters and then implement improvements. Emphasis is also given to optimise 
the operation of various equipments which also lead to energy conservation.

The following steps were taken by the Company for conservation of energy:

•	 2 NOS Electrical Forklifts purchased.

•	 Installed Low wattage Ceiling fan.-100 Nos.

B) Technology Absorption
The efforts made towards technology absorption, following given below new machine installed in 
frame processing area:

•	 Manual fork alignment fixture machine
•	 Manual frame alignment fixture machine
•	 Hydraulic Seat reaming machine
•	 Hydraulic Mitering machine
•	 Fork blade Mitering machine
•	 BB Shell Draw machine
•	 New MIG welding Machine -06 Nos
•	 New TIG welding machine -02 Nos

The benefits derived like product improvement, cost reduction, product development or import 
substitution;

•	 These machines are improved productivity as well as quality of products.
•	 New TIG & MIG welding machine improved quality of product.
•	 Technology Imported: No
•	 Whether the technology been fully absorbed:
•	 The technology imported in earlier years has been fully absorbed.
•	 If not fully absorbed, areas where absorption has not taken place, and the reasons thereof: N.A.

C) Foreign exchange earnings and Outgo-
The Foreign Exchange earned in terms of actual inflows during the year and the Foreign Exchange 
outgo during the year in terms of actual outflows.

                                                  (Rs. In Lakh)

Particulars 2024-25 2023-24

Income in Foreign Exchange (FOB value of exports) 4964.55 4191.89

CIF value of Imports 405.66 722.56

Expenditure in Foreign Exchange (others) 130.85 286.32

                               For And on behalf of the Board of Directors

	 Sd/-	 Sd/-
Dated: 25.09.2025	 (Rishi Pahwa)	 (Mandeep Singh Pahwa)
Place: Ludhiana	 Managing Director	 Jt. Managing Director
	 DIN: 00286399	 DIN: 00248245
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Form No. MR-3
SECRETARIAL AUDIT REPORT

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31ST MARCH, 2025 
[Pursuant to Section 204(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 and RuleNo.9 of the Companies 

(Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014]

To

The Members,
Avon Cycles Limited,
CIN: U35921PB1951PLC001699
Regd. Office: G T Road, Dhandari Kalan, 
Ludhiana, Punjab -141003.

We have conducted the Secretarial Audit of the compliance of applicable statutory provisions 
and the adherence to good corporate practices by Avon Cycles Limited (hereinafter called as “the 
Company”). Secretarial Audit was conducted in a manner that provided us a reasonable basis for 
evaluating the corporate conducts/statutory compliances and expressing our opinion thereon.

Based on our verification of the Company’s books, papers, minute books, forms and returns filed 
and other records maintained by the company and also the information provided by the Company, 
its officers, agents and authorized representatives during the conduct of Secretarial Audit, We 
hereby report that in our opinion, the company has, during the audit period covering the financial 
year ended on 31st March, 2025, complied with the statutory provisions listed hereunder and also 
that the company has proper Board-processes and compliance-mechanism in place to the extent, 
in the manner and subject to the reporting made hereinafter.

We have examined the books, papers, minute books, forms and returns filed and other records 
maintained by Company for the financial year ended on 31st March, 2025 according to the 
provisions of:-

(i)	 The Companies Act, 2013 (the Act) and the rules made thereunder;

(ii)	 The Securities Contracts (Regulation) Act, 1956 (’SCRA’) and the rules made thereunder: Not 
applicable during the audit period;

(iii)	 The Depositories Act, 1996 and the Regulations and Bye-laws framed thereunder.

(iv)	 Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999 and the rules and regulations made thereunder 
to the extent of Foreign Direct Investment, Overseas Direct Investment and External 
Commercial Borrowings: Not applicable during the audit period

(v)	 The following Regulations and Guidelines prescribed under the Securities and Exchange 
Board of India Act, 1992 (’SEBI Act’):Not Applicable as Company is an Unlisted Public Limited 
Company;

	 a)	 The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Substantial Acquisition of Shares and 
Takeovers) Regulations, 2011;

	 b)	 The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2015;

	 c)	 The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Prohibition of Insider Trading) Regulations, 
2015;

	 d)	 The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue of Capital and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2018; 
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	 e)	 The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Share Based Employee Benefits and Sweat 
Equity) Regulations,2021;

   	 f )	 Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue and Listing of Non-Convertible Securities) 
Regulations, 2021; 

	 g)	 The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Registrars to an Issue and Share Transfer 
Agents) Regulations, 1993 regarding the Companies Act and dealing with client;

	 h)	 The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Delisting of Equity Shares) Regulations, 
2021; and

   	 i)	 The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Buyback of Securities) Regulations, 2018.

(vi)	 We have relied on the representation made by the Company & its Officers for system 
and mechanism formed by the Company for compliances under other applicable Acts as 
Environmental Laws & Labor Laws as per list attached herewith.

(vii)	 We have also examined compliance with the applicable clauses of the following:-

	 a)	 Secretarial Standards (SS-1 and SS-2) issued by The Institute of Company Secretaries of 
India;

	 b)	 The Listing Agreements entered into by the Company with Stock Exchange(s): Not 
Applicable as Company is an Unlisted Public Company.

During the period under review the Company has generally complied with the provisions of the 
Act, Rules, Regulations, Guidelines, Standards, etc. mentioned above.

We further report that the Board of Directors of the Company is duly constituted with proper 
balance of Executive Directors, Non-Executive Directors and Independent Directors. The changes 
in the composition of the Board of Directors that took place during the period under review were 
carried out in compliance with the provisions of the Act.

Adequate notice is given to all directors to schedule the board meetings, agenda and detailed 
notes of agenda were sent at least seven days in advance, and a system exists for seeking and 
obtaining further information and clarifications on the agenda items before the meeting and for 
meaningful participation at the meeting. 

Majority decision is carried through while the dissenting members’ views are captured and recorded 
as part of the minutes.

We further report that there are adequate systems and processes in the company commensurate 
with the size and of the company to monitor and ensure compliance with applicable laws, rules, 
regulations and guidelines.

We further report that during the audit period the company has not made any decisions which are 
having major bearing in the Company’s affair in pursuance of above referred laws, rules, regulation, 
guidelines, standards, etc.

	                                  For B.K. Gupta & Associates
	                                                Company Secretaries
	

	 Sd/-
	 (CS Bhupesh Gupta)
	 FCS No.:4590
Place: Ludhiana									                     CP. No.:5708
Date: 28.08.2025							                  UDIN:F004590G001095416
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Note: This report is to be read with our letter of even date which is annexed as Annexure A and 
forms an integral part of this report.

Laws applicable to the industry to which the Company belongs, as identified and confirmed 
by the management of the company and confirmed that the company has complied with 
these laws: 

List of Labour Laws

Factories Act, 1948

Industrial Disputes Act, 1947

The Payment of Wages Act, 1936

The Minimum Wages Act, 1948

Employee’s State Insurance Act 1948

The Payment of Bonus Act, 1972

Employees’ Provident Fund and Miscellaneous Provisions Act, 1952

The Sexual Harassment of Women at Workplace (Prevention, Prohibition and Redressal) Act, 2013

Payment of Gratuity Act, 1979

The Maternity Benefit Act, 1961

List of Environmental Laws 

Environment (Protection) Act, 1986

Water (Prevention and Control of Pollution) Act, 1974

Air (Prevention and Control of Pollution) Act, 1981
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Annexure -A
To

The Members,

Avon cycles limited,

CIN: U35921PB1951PLC001699

Regd. Office: G T Road, Dhandari Kalan, 

Ludhiana, Punjab -141003.

1.	 Maintenance of secretarial record is the responsibility of the management of the Company. 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these secretarial records based on our audit.

2.	 We have followed the audit practices and processes as were appropriate to obtain reasonable 
assurance about the correctness of the contents of the secretarial records. The verification 
was done on the random test basis to ensure that correct facts are reflected in secretarial 
records. We believe that the processes and practices, we followed provide a reasonable basis 
for our opinion.

3.	 We have not verified the correctness and appropriateness of financial records and books of 
accounts of the Company.

4.	 Where ever required, we have obtained the Management Representation about the 
compliance of laws, rules and regulations and happening of events etc.

5.	 The compliance of the provisions of Corporate and other applicable laws, rules, regulations, 
standards is the responsibility of management. Our examination was limited to the 
verification of procedures on random test basis.

6.	 The Secretarial Audit report is neither an assurance as to the future viability of the company 
nor of the efficacy or effectiveness with which the management has conducted the affairs of 
the Company.

	
For B.K. Gupta & Associates

	 		  Company Secretaries
	
	

Sd/-
	 (CS Bhupesh Gupta)
Date: 28.08.2025									                  FCS No.:4590
Place: Ludhiana									                   CP. No.:5708
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To The Members of Avon Cycles Limited

Report on the Audit of the Standalone Ind AS Financial Statements

Opinion
We have audited the accompanying Standalone financial statements of M/s. Avon Cycles Limited 
which comprise the Balance Sheet as at 31st March, 2025, the Statement of Profit & Loss (including 
OCI), the statement of changes in equity and the statement of Cash Flow for the year then ended 
and summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information comprising 
Notes to Accounts.                  

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, 
the aforesaid standalone financial statements give the information required by the Companies 
Act, 2013 (’Act’) in the manner so required and give a true and fair view in conformity with the 
accounting principles generally accepted in India, of the state of affairs of the Company as at March 
31, 2025, its profit & loss and its Cash Flows for the year ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards on auditing (SAs) specified under 
section 143 (10) of the Companies Act, 2013. Our responsibilities under those Standards are further 
described in the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the standalone financial statements 
section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the code of ethics 
issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India together with the ethical requirements 
that are relevant to our audit of the standalone financial statements under the provisions of the Act 
and the rules thereunder, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements and the code of ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in 
our audit of the standalone financial statements for the year ended 31st March 2025. These matters 
were addressed in the context of our audit of the standalone financial statements as a whole, and 
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Reporting of key audit matters as per SA 701, Key Audit Matters are not applicable to the Company 
as it is an unlisted company.

Information Other than Standalone Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report Thereon
The Company’s Board of Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information 
comprises Board’s Report, Report on Corporate Governance and Business Responsibility report but 
does not include the standalone financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the standalone financial statements does not cover the other information and we 
do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of standalone financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information and in doing so , consider whether the other information is materially consistent 
with the standalone financial statements or our knowledge obtained during the course of our audit 
or otherwise appears to me materially misstated. If, based on the work we performed, we conclude 
that there is material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We 
have nothing to report in this regard. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Ind AS Standalone Financial Statements
The Company’s board of directors are responsible for the matters stated in section 134 (5) of the Act 
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with respect to the preparation of these standalone financial statements that give a true and fair 
view of the standalone financial position and financial performance of the Company in accordance 
with the accounting principles generally accepted in India, including the accounting standards 
specified under section 133 of the Act.

This responsibility also includes maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with 
the provisions of the Act for safeguarding of the assets of the Company and for preventing and 
detecting frauds and other irregularities; selection and application of appropriate accounting 
policies; making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and design, 
implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls, that were operating 
effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the 
preparation and presentation of the standalone financial statement that give a true and fair view 
and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the standalone financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends 
to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are also responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial 
reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these standalone financial statements based on our 
audit. We have taken into account the provisions of the Act, the accounting standards and the 
matters which are required to be included in the audit report under the provisions of the Act and 
the Rules made there under. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing 
specified u/s 143(10) of the Act. Those Standards require that we comply with ethical requirement 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the standalone 
financial statements are free from material misstatements.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the standalone financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the standalone 
financial statements, whether due to fraud & error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors 
consider internal control relevant to the Company’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
standalone financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of the accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 
the overall presentation of the standalone financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the standalone financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these standalone financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:
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• 	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the standalone financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than 
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• 	 Obtain an understanding of internal financial controls relevant to the audit in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. Under section 143(3)(i) 
of the Act, we are also responsible for expressing our opinion on whether the Company has 
adequate internal financial controls system in place and the operating effectiveness of such 
controls.

• 	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

• 	 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
standalone financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. 
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue 
as a going concern.

• 	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the standalone financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the standalone financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with 
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all 
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and 
where applicable, related safeguards. From the matters communicated with those charged with 
governance, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the standalone 
financial statements for the year ended 31st March 2025 and are therefore the key audit matters. 
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report as applicable unless law or regulation precludes 
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a 
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so 
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
1.	 As required by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2020 (“the Order”) issued by the 

Central Government in terms of Section 143(11) of the Act, we give in “Annexure A” a 
statement on the matters specified in paragraphs 3 and 4 of the Order.

2.	 As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, based on our audit, we report that:

	 (a)	 We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best 
of our knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit.

	 (b)	 In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the 
Company so far as it appears from our examination of those books and proper 
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returns adequate for the purposes of our audit have been received from the 
branches not visited by us.

	 (c)	 The Balance Sheet, the Statement of Profit and Loss, the Statement of Changes in 
Equity and the Statement of Cash Flows dealt with by this Report are in agreement 
with the books of account and with the returns received from branches not visited 
by us.

	 (d)	 In our opinion, the aforesaid Ind AS standalone financial statements comply with the 
Indian Accounting Standards prescribed under Section 133 of the Act.

	 (e)	 On the basis of the written representations received from the directors as on 31 March 
2025 taken on record by the Board of Directors, none of the directors is disqualified as 
on 31 March 2025 from being appointed as a director in terms of Section 164(2) of the 
Act.

	 (f )	 With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls with reference to 
standalone financial statements of the Company and the operating effectiveness of 
such controls, refer to our separate Report in “Annexure B”.

	 (g)	 In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations 
given to us, the remuneration paid by the Company to its directors during the year is 
in accordance with the provisions of section 197 of the Act.

	 (h)	 With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance 
with Rule 11 of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2021,as amended, in our 
opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to  
us:

		  i.	 The Company has disclosed the impact of pending litigations on its financial 
position in its Ind AS standalone financial statements - Refer Note 36 to the Ind 
AS standalone financial statements;

		  ii.	 The Company has made provision in its standalone financial statements 
as required under the applicable law or accounting standards for material 
foreseeable losses on long term contracts.

		  iii.	 There were no amounts which were required to be transferred to the Investor 
Education and Protection Fund by the Company.

		  iv.	 a) The management has represented that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, 
no funds have been advanced or loaned or invested (either from borrowed funds 
or share premium or any other sources or kind of funds) by the Company to or 
in any other person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign entities (“Intermediaries”), 
with the understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the 
Intermediary shall, whether, directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons 
or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Company 
(“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf 
of the Ultimate Beneficiaries;

			   b) The management has represented that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, 
no funds have been received by the Company from any person(s) or entity(ies), 
including foreign entities (“Funding Parties”), with the understanding, whether 
recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Company shall, whether, directly or 
indirectly, lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner 
whatsoever by or on behalf of the Funding Party (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or 
provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries; 
and
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			   c) Based on such audit procedures that were considered reasonable and 
appropriate in the circumstances, nothing has come to our notice that has caused 
us to believe that the representations under sub-clause (a) and (b) contain any 
material misstatement.	

	 v.	 The dividend declared or paid during the year by the Company is in compliance with 
Section 123 of the Act.

	 vi.	 Audit Trail (edit log) facility is applicable to company w.e.f 01.04.2023 and accordingly 
reporting under rule 11(g) of companies (Audit & Auditors) rule, 2014 is not applicable 
for the financial year ending 31.03.2025.

     

For H.K. Chitkara & Co.
Chartered Accountants 

Firm’s Registration No: 001571N

Sd/-
Sameer Chitkara 

Partner
Date:  25.09.2025                                                                                                                     Membership No: 094353
Place: Ludhiana                                                                                                                                		
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Annexure A to the Independent Auditor’s Report
With reference to the Annexure A referred to in the Independent Auditor’s Report to the 
members of the Company on the Ind AS standalone financial statements for the year ended 31st 
March 2025, we report the following:

In terms of the information and explanations sought by us and given by the Company and the 
books of account and records examined by us in the normal course of audit and to the best of our 
knowledge and belief, we state that:

(i)	 (a) 	 (i)  The Company has maintained proper records showing full particulars, including 
quantitative details and situation of Property, Plant & Equipment.

	 (a)	 (ii) The Company has maintained proper records showing full particulars of intangibles 
assets.

	 (b)	 The Company has a program of verification of property, plant and equipment to cover 
most of the items in a phased manner over a period of three years which, in our opinion, 
is reasonable having regard to the size of the Company and nature of its assets. Pursuant 
to the program, certain property, plant and equipment were physically verified by the 
management during the year. According to the information and explanations given to 
us, no material discrepancies were noticed on such verification.

	 (c)	 According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of 
our examination of the records of the Company, the title deeds of immovable 
properties of land and buildings which are freehold, are held in the name of the 
Company. In respect of immovable properties that have been taken on lease and 
disclosed as Right of Use Assets in the Ind AS standalone financial statements, the 
lease agreements are in the name of the Company.

	 (d)	 The Company has not revalued its Property, Plant and Equipment (including Right of 
use assets) or intangible assets during the year ended March 31, 2025.

	 (e)	 There are no proceedings initiated or are pending against the Company for holding 
any benami property under the Prohibition of Benami Property Transactions Act, 1988 
and rules made thereunder.

(ii)	 (a)	 The inventory has been physically verified by the management during the year except 
for inventories lying with third parties. However, in respect of certain items, the 
inventories were verified by the management on a visual estimation which has been 
relied upon by us. In our opinion, the frequency of verification by the management 
is reasonable and the coverage and procedure for such verification is appropriate. 
Inventories lying with third parties have been confirmed by them as at March 31, 2025 
and discrepancies of 10% or more in aggregate for each class of inventory were not 
noticed in respect of such confirmations. Discrepancies of 10% or more in aggregate 
for each class of inventory have not been noticed.

	 (b) 	 As disclosed in note 61 to the financial statements, the Company has been sanctioned 
working capital limits in excess of  five crores in aggregate from banks during the 
year on the basis of security of current assets of the Company. The quarterly returns/
statements filed by the Company with such banks are in agreement with the books of 
accounts of the Company.

(iii)	 (a)	 During the year the Company has provided loans, advances in the nature of loans, 
provided guarantee and security to companies as follows:
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 Loans  ` In Lakhs

aggregate amount granted/ Provided during the year

-Subsidiaries 2,530.00

-Associates -

-Other related Parties 33.67

-Others 78.16

Balance outstanding as at Balance sheet date in respect of above case

-Subsidiaries         4,688.00 

-Associates                   -   

-Other related Parties          1,716.74

-Others           2,136.39 

	 (b) 	 During the year the investments made and the terms and conditions of the grant 
of all loans to companies are not prejudicial to the Company’s interest.

	 (c) 	 The Company has granted loans during the year to companies where the schedule 
of repayment of principal and payment of interest has been stipulated and the 
repayment or receipts are regular.

	 (d) 	 The total amount overdue for more than 90 days is Rs. 1050.00 Lakh. The Company 
is taking reasonable steps for recovery of principal and interest.

	 (e) 	 There were no loans which had fallen due during the year, that have been renewed 
or extended or fresh loans granted to settle the overdues of existing loans given to 
the same parties. 

	 (f ) 	 The Company has not granted any loans or advances in the nature of loans, either 
repayable on demand or without specifying any terms or period of repayment to 
companies, firms, Limited Liability Partnerships or any other parties.

(iv)	 In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, and on 
the basis of our examination of the records of the company, the Company has complied 
with the provisions of Section 185 and 186 of the Act, with respect to the loans given, 
investments made, guarantees and securities given.

(v)	 The Company has neither accepted any deposits from the public nor accepted any 
amounts which are deemed to be deposits within the meaning of Sections 73 to 76 of 
the Companies Act and the rules made thereunder, to the extent applicable. Accordingly, 
the requirement to report on clause 3(v) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

(vi)	 According to the information & explanation given to us and on the basis of our examination 
of the records of the company, the provision of the rules made by the central government 
for the maintenance of cost records under section 148(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 are not 
applicable, accordingly, clause 3(vi) of the Order is not applicable to the Company. 

(vii)	 (a)	 According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our 
examination of the records of the Company, amounts deducted/ accrued in the 
books of account in respect of undisputed statutory dues including Provident fund, 
Employees’ State Insurance, Income-tax, Sales tax, Service tax, Goods and Services tax, 
duty of Customs, duty of Excise, Value added tax, Cess and other material statutory 
dues have generally been regularly deposited during the year by the Company with 
the appropriate authorities.

                	 According to the information and explanations given to us, no undisputed amounts 
payable in respect of Provident fund, Employees’ State Insurance, Income-tax, Sales 
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tax, Service tax, Goods and Services tax, duty of Customs, duty of Excise, Value added 
tax, Cess and other material statutory dues were in arrears as at 31st March 2025, for a 
period of more than six months from the date they became payable. 

	 (b)  	 According to the information and explanations given to us, there are no dues of 
Income-tax or Sales tax or Service tax or Goods and Services tax or duty of Customs or 
duty of Excise or Value added tax which have not been deposited by the Company on 
account of disputes except for the following:

Name of 
the statute

Nature of 
dues

Amount ( Rs. 
lakh )

Amount paid under 
protest*( Rs. lakh )

Period to which 
the amount 
relates

Forum where dispute is 
pending

Finance 
Act, 1994

Service 
Tax

29.02327 2.90233 2008-09 To 
2011-12

Customs, Excise And 
Service Tax Appellate 
Tribunal
CHD

Finance 
Act, 2017

Custom 
Duty

22.39695 1.67977 2018-19 Appeal 
Customs, Excise And 
Service Tax LDH

Finance 
Act, 2017

Custom 
Duty

531.43237 39.85743

Jan18 to Aug 
2022

Appellate Tribunal 
Customs, Excise And 
Service Tax 
CHDFinance 

Act, 2017
Penalty 20.00 1.50

(viii)	 The Company has not surrendered or disclosed any transaction, previously unrecorded in 
the books of account, in the tax assessments under the Income Tax Act, 1961 as income 
during the year. Accordingly, the requirement to report on clause 3(viii) of the Order is not 
applicable to the Company.

(ix)	 (a) 	 The Company has not defaulted in repayment of loans or other borrowings or in the 
payment of interest thereon to any lender.

	 (b) 	 The Company has not been declared willful defaulter by any bank or financial institution 
or government or any government authority.

	 (c)	  There are no Term Loans availed by company.

	 (d) 	 On an overall examination of the financial statements of the Company, no funds raised 
on short-term basis have been used for long-term purposes by the Company.

	 (e) 	 On an overall examination of the financial statements of the Company, the Company has 
not taken any funds from any entity or person on account of or to meet the obligations 
of its subsidiaries or associate. The Company does not have any joint venture.

	 (f ) 	 The Company has not raised loans during the year on the pledge of securities held in 
its subsidiaries or associate. Hence, the requirement to report on clause (ix)(f ) of the 
Order is not applicable to the Company. The Company does not have any joint venture.

(x)	 (a) 	 The Company has not raised any money during the year by way of initial public offer / 
further public offer (including debt instruments) hence, the requirement to report on 
clause 3(x)(a) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

	 (b) 	 The Company has not made any preferential allotment or private placement of shares 
/fully or partially or optionally convertible debentures during the year under audit and 
hence, the requirement to report on clause 3(x)(b) of the Order is not applicable to the 
Company.

(xi)	 (a) 	 No fraud by the Company or no fraud on the Company has been noticed or reported 
during the year. 
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	 (b) 	 During the year, no report under sub-section (12) of Section 143 of the Companies 
Act, 2013 has been filed by cost auditor, secretarial auditor or by us in Form ADT – 4 
as prescribed under Rule 13 of Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014 with the 
Central Government.

	 (c) 	 As represented to us by the management, there are no whistle blower complaints 
received by the Company during the year and upto the date of this audit report.

(xii)	 The Company is not a Nidhi company as per the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013. 
Therefore, the requirement to report on clause 3(xii)(a), (b) and (c) of the order are not 
applicable to the Company.

(xiii)	 Transactions with the related parties are in compliance with Section 177 and 188 of 
Companies Act, 2013 where applicable and the details have been disclosed in the notes to 
the financial statements, as required by the applicable accounting standards.

(xiv)	 (a)	 The Company has an internal audit system commensurate with the size and nature of 
its business.

	 (b)	 The internal audit reports of the Company issued till the date of the audit report, for 
the period under audit have been considered by us.

(xv)	  The Company has not entered into any non-cash transactions with its directors or persons 
connected with its directors and hence requirement to report on clause 3(xv) of the Order is 
not applicable to the Company.

(xvi)  	 (a) 	 The provisions of Section 45-IA of the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934 (2 of 1934) are 
not applicable to the Company. Accordingly, the requirement to report on clause (xvi)
(a) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

	 (b) 	 The Company has not conducted any Non-Banking Financial or Housing Finance 
activities without obtaining a valid Certificate of Registration (COR) from the Reserve 
Bank of India as per the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934.

	 (c) 	 The Company is not a Core Investment Company as defined in the regulations made 
by Reserve Bank of India. Accordingly, the requirement to report on clause 3(xvi)(c) of 
the Order is not applicable to the Company.

	 (d) 	 There is no Core Investment Company as a part of the Group, hence, the requirement 
to report on clause 3(xvi) (d) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

(xvii)	 The Company has not incurred cash losses in the current financial year and in the 
immediately   preceding financial year.

(xviii)	 According to the information & explanation given to us and on the basis of our examination 
of the records of the company, there has been no resignation of statutory auditors during 
the year. Accordingly, the paragraph 3(xviii) of the order is not applicable.

(xix)	 On the basis of the financial ratios disclosed in note 62 to the financial statements, ageing 
and expected dates of realization of financial assets and payment of financial liabilities, 
other information accompanying the financial statements, our knowledge of the Board of 
Directors and management plans and based on our examination of the evidence supporting 
the assumptions, nothing has come to our attention, which causes us to believe that any 
material uncertainty exists as on the date of the audit report that Company is not capable of 
meeting its liabilities existing at the date of balance sheet as and when they fall due within 
a period of one year from the balance sheet date. We, however, state that this is not an 
assurance as to the future viability of the Company. We further state that our reporting is 
based on the facts up to the date of the audit report and we neither give any guarantee 
nor any assurance that all liabilities falling due within a period of one year from the balance 
sheet date, will get discharged by the Company as and when they fall due.
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(xx)	 (a) 	 In respect of other than ongoing projects, there are no unspent amounts that are 
required to be transferred to a fund specified in Schedule VII of the Companies Act 
(the Act), in compliance with second proviso to sub section 5 of Section 135 of the Act.

	 (b)	  The amounts remaining unspent under sub-section (5) of section 135 of the Companies 
Act in respect of ongoing projects, has been transferred to a special account in 
compliance of provision of sub section (6) of Section 135 of Companies Act. 

(xxi)	 The requirement to report on clause 3(xxi) of the Order is not applicable to the standalone 
financial statements of the Company.

For H.K. Chitkara & Co.
Chartered Accountants 

Firm’s Registration No: 001571N

Sd/-
Sameer Chitkara  

Partner
Date:  25.09.2025                                                                                                              Membership No: 094353 
Place: Ludhiana
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Annexure B to the Independent Auditor’s Report
(Referred to in paragraph 2(f ) under ’Report on Other Legal and Regulatory  

Requirements’ section of our report of even date)

Report on the Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting under Clause (i) of Sub-
section 3 of Section 143 of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”)
We have audited the internal financial controls over financial reporting of Avon Cycles Limited (“the 
Company”) as of 31st March 2025 in conjunction with our audit of the Ind AS financial statements 
of the Company for the year ended on that date.

Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls
The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial 
controls based on the internal control over financial reporting criteria established by the Company 
considering the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of 
Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants 
of India (“ICAI”). These responsibilities include the design, implementation and maintenance of 
adequate internal financial controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and 
efficient conduct of its business, including adherence to the Company’s policies, the safeguarding 
of its assets, the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and completeness of 
the accounting records, and the timely preparation of reliable financial information, as required 
under the Act.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls over 
financial reporting based on our audit.  We conducted our audit in accordance with the Guidance 
Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting (the “Guidance Note”) and 
the Standards on Auditing, issued by ICAI and deemed to be prescribed under Section 143(10) of 
the Act, to the extent applicable to an audit of internal financial controls, both applicable to an 
audit of Internal Financial Controls and, both issued by ICAI. Those Standards and the Guidance 
Note require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether adequate internal financial controls over financial reporting 
was established and maintained and if such controls operated effectively in all material respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the 
internal financial control system over financial reporting and their operating effectiveness. Our 
audit of internal financial controls over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding 
of internal financial controls over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness 
exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based 
on the assessed risk. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the Ind AS financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls system over financial reporting.

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting
A company’s internal financial control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide 
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A 
company’s internal financial control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures 
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect 
the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance 
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in 
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accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of 
the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors 
of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection 
of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material 
effect on the financial statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting
Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls over financial reporting, including 
the possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements 
due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of the 
internal financial controls over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the 
internal financial control over financial reporting may become inadequate because of changes in 
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Opinion
In our opinion, the Company has, in all material respects, an adequate internal financial controls 
system over financial reporting and such internal financial controls over financial reporting were 
operating effectively as at 31 March 2025, based on the internal control over financial reporting 
criteria established by the Company considering the essential components of internal control 
stated in the Guidance Note issued by the ICAI.         

                      

For H.K. Chitkara & Co.
Chartered Accountants 

Firm’s  Registration No: 001571N

Sd/-
Sameer Chitkara  

Partner
Date:  25.09.2025                                                                                                              Membership No: 094353 
Place: Ludhiana
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Avon Cycles Limited, Ludhiana
Standalone Balance Sheet as at 31.03.2025

          (Amount ` in lakh)

Particulars Note  As at  As at 

         31.03.2025  31.03.2024 

Assets

Non-Current Assets

a) Property Plant & Equipment 2              5,472.42                 4,182.13 

b) Right-of-Use Asset 3                 283.66                    313.39 

c) Investment Properties 2.1                   69.31                      69.31 

d) Capital Work in Progress                 343.49                 1,287.71 

e) Other Intangible Assets 2.3                   74.95                      63.29 

f ) Financial Assets:

i) Investments 4              4,791.39                 4,737.61 

ii) Loans & Advances 5                 165.19                    242.44 

iii) Other Financial Assets 6                 597.21                    639.36 

g) Other Non Current Assets 7                 535.77                    371.36 

Total Non- Current Assets            12,333.38                11,906.60 

Current Assets

a) Inventories 8              8,020.23                 5,719.50 

b) Financial Assets:

i) Investments 9              7,390.10                 6,753.07 

ii) Trade Receivables 10            13,665.41                11,061.29 

iii) Cash & Cash Equivalents 11            18,627.21                22,844.96 

iv) Other Balances with Banks 12              9,019.23                 8,376.51 

v) Loans & Advances 13            10,190.18                 8,058.18 

vi) Other Financial Assets 14                 144.68                    632.98 

c) Current Tax Assets                 365.06                    290.15 

d) Other Current Assets 15              2,697.23                 2,448.48 

e) Assets held for Sale 2.2                     9.86                      62.27 

Total Current Assets            70,129.19                66,247.39 

Total Assets            82,462.57                78,153.99 

Equity And Liabilities

Equity

a) Equity Share Capital 16                   87.05                      87.05 

b) Other Equity 17            69,744.11                65,306.70 

Total Equity            69,831.16                65,393.75 

Liabilities

Non-Current Liabilities

a) Financial Liabilities:

i) Borrowings 18                 352.13                    728.67 

ii) Lease Liability 19                 155.92                    181.88 

iii) Other Financial Liabilities 20                 676.26                    631.51 

b) Provisions                         -                            -   

c) Deferred Tax Liability (net)                 469.69                    158.86 

d) Other Non- Current Liabilities 21                 480.60                    300.43 

Total Non- Current Liabilities              2,134.60                 2,001.35 
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Current Liabilities

a) Financial Liabilities:

i) Borrowings 22              1,028.84                          -   

ii) Lease Liability 23                   44.62                      47.68 

iii) Trade Payables

(a) total outstanding dues of micro and small 
enterprises

24              4,480.47                 3,116.29 

(b) total outstanding dues of trade payable other 
than micro and small enterprises

24              3,338.67                 3,745.60 

iii) Other Financial Liabilities 25                 471.18                    691.12 

b) Provisions                         -                            -   

c) Current Tax Provisions                         -                            -   

d) Other current Liabilities 26              1,133.03                 3,158.20 

Total Current Liabilities            10,496.81                10,758.89 

Total Equity & Liabilities            82,462.57                78,153.99 

Notes on Financial Statements 1 to 61

In terms of our report attached

For H.K. Chitkara & Co.	   For and on behalf of the Board	     For and on behalf of the Board
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No.001571N

Sd/-	 Sd/-	 Sd/-
(Sameer Chitkara)	 (Rishi Pahwa)	 (Mandeep Singh Pahwa)
Partner	 Managing Director	 Jt. Managing Director
M.No. 094353	 DIN: 00286399	 DIN: 00248245
UDIN: 25094353BMJGBG2326
Place: Ludhiana
Dated: 25.09.2025
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Avon Cycles Limited, Ludhiana

Standalone Statement of Profit & Loss Account for the period ended 31.03.2025

   (Amount ` in lakh)

Particulars Note Year Ended    Year Ended 

        31.03.2025  31.03.2024 

Income

a) Revenue from Operations 27            88,510.22             1,11,454.02 

b) Other Income 28              3,338.54                 3,190.25 

Total Income            91,848.76             1,14,644.27 

Expenses

a) Cost of Materials Consumed 29            59,240.59                70,280.67 

b) Purchases of Stock-in-trade 30              4,034.45                 4,905.33 

c) Change in Inventories of Finished Goods, Stock-in-trade and Work-
in-Progress

31            (2,275.71)                 2,308.27 

d) Employee Benefits Expense 32              6,491.36                 5,922.76 

e) Finance Costs 33                 170.26                    269.22 

f ) Depreciation & Amortisation Expense 2.5                 674.56                    717.89 

g) Other Expenses 34            16,739.01                19,676.40 

Total Expenses            85,074.52             1,04,080.54 

Profit/(loss) Before Tax & Exceptional Items              6,774.24                10,563.77 

Exceptional Items:

CSR Expenditure u/s 135 of Companies Act, 2013                 137.41                    129.32 

Profit/(Loss) Before Tax              6,636.83                10,434.45 

Tax Expenses/(Credit) (Net)

Current Tax              1,552.00                 2,299.22 

Deferred Tax                 323.91                  (103.53)

Profit/(Loss) for the year              4,760.92                 8,238.76 

Other Comprehensive Income/(Loss):

Re-measurement of post-employment benefit Obligations                 (51.93)                      29.20 

Income Tax Relating to these items                   13.07                      (7.35)

Other Comprehensive Income/(Loss), Net of Tax                 (38.86)                      21.85 

Total Comprehensive Income/(Loss)              4,722.06                 8,260.61 

Earnings/Loss) per equity share of face value of  ` 10 each (EPS)

(i) Basic (in `)                 539.62                    955.74 

(ii) Diluted (in `)                 539.62                    955.74 

Notes on Financial Statements 1 to 61

In terms of our report attached

For H.K. Chitkara & Co.	 For and on behalf of the Board	 For and on behalf of the Board
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No.001571N

Sd/-	 Sd/-	 Sd/-
(Sameer Chitkara)	 (Rishi Pahwa)	 (Mandeep Singh Pahwa)
Partner	 Managing Director	 Jt. Managing Director
M.No. 094353	 DIN: 00286399	 DIN: 00248245
UDIN: 25094353BMJGBG2326
Place: Ludhiana
Dated: 25.09.2025
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AVON CYCLES LIMITED
STANDALONE CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31.03.2025

(Amount ` in lakh)

Particulars   2024-2025  2023-2024 

A. Cash Flow From Operating Activities        

Net profit/(loss) before tax             6,636.76          10,434.45 

Adjustments for :        
Interest expenses             117.43             165.66  

Depreciation and Amortisation on PPE             624.12             717.89  

Profit/ Loss on Sales/ Fair Valuation of Investment         (1,635.97)        (1,898.48)  

Profit on Sales of Fixed Assets             (50.98)             (21.13)  

Interest Received         (1,318.36)        (1,115.91)  

Dividend Received                   -                     -    

Other Non-Operating Income                   -               (31.99)  

Other Comprehensive Income             (38.86)              21.85  

Rent             (81.74)  (2,384.36)           (82.04) (2,244.15)

Cash Flow from Operating activities before changes in 
following Assets & Liabilities:

  4,252.40            8,190.31 

Trade Receivables         (2,604.11)        (1,509.69)  

Inventories         (2,300.73)          2,323.20  

Loan & Advances         (2,054.75)        (2,313.28)  

Other Financial Assets             530.45          3,231.56  

Other Assets (excluding Advance Tax)           (212.93)           (765.90)  

Trade Payables             957.24             453.58  

Other Financial Liabilities           (204.18)           (206.18)  

Provisions (Excluding Provision of Income Tax)           (692.22)        (1,580.59)  

Other Liabilities         (1,534.16)  (8,115.39       (1,882.79) (2,250.08) 

Cash generations from/(used in) operations    (3,862.99)            5,940.22 

Income Tax Paid (Net)   (1,365.54)             (678.28)

Net Cash from/(used in) operating activities (A)   (5,228.53)            5,261.95 

B. Cash Flow From Investing Activities        
Purchase of Fixed Assets         (1,050.03)           (632.46)  

Purchase/ (Sale) of Investment           (690.79)          2,018.32  

Sale of Fixed Assets             171.57              60.46  

Interest Received          1,318.36          1,115.91  

Dividend Received                   -                     -    

Profit/Loss on Sales of Investment          1,635.97                   -    

Other Non-Operating Income                   -                31.99  

Rent Received               81.74 1,466.82             82.04 2,676.26 

Net Cash From/(used in) Investing Activities (B)             1,466.82            2,676.26 

C. Cash Flow From Financing Activities        
Interest Paid                (117)           (165.66)  

Dividend Paid                (348)           (348.20)  

Proceeds/(Repayments) of/from loan funds                 652 187          (985.76) (1,499.62 

Net Cash From/(used in) from Financing Activities  (C)                    187          (1,499.62)

Net Increase/(Decrease in Cash & Cash Equivalents                (3,575)            6,438.59 
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Cash & Cash Equivalents as on 01/04/2024           31,221.48          24,782.89 

Cash & Cash Equivalents as on 31/03/2025           27,646.44          31,221.48 

In terms of our report attached

For H.K. Chitkara & Co.	 For and on behalf of the Board	 For and on behalf of the Board
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No.001571N

Sd/-	 Sd/-	 Sd/-
(Sameer Chitkara)	 (Rishi Pahwa)	 (Mandeep Singh Pahwa)
Partner	 Managing Director	 Jt. Managing Director
M.No. 094353	 DIN: 00286399	 DIN: 00248245
UDIN: 25094353BMJGBG2326
Place: Ludhiana
Dated: 25.09.2025
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OTHER EQUITY

(` in Lakh)

Particulars Retained 
Earnings

 Other 
Comprehensive 

Income 

General 
Reserve

Capital 
Reserve

Capital 
Redemption 

Reserve

Total

Balance as on April 01, 2024 48,426.77 -  16,838.33 36.48 5.12 65,306.70

Profit for the year 4,760.86 -  - - - 4,760.86

Other Comprehensive Income/ (Loss) for the 
year

(38.86) -  - - - -38.86

Total Comprehensive Income for the year 4,721.99 -  - - - 4,721.99

Transferred to General Reserve (500.00) -  - - - (500.00)

Transferred from General Reserve -   -  - - - 0.00

Transfer From Retained Earnings -    - 500.00 - - 500.00

Final Dividend for Financial Year 2023 - 2024 (174.10) -  - - - (174.10)

(@ Rs. 20/- per share)   -         

Interim Dividend for Financial Year 2024 -2025 (174.10) -  - - - (174.10)

(@ Rs. 20/- per share)            

Tax adjustment of earlier years 63.55 -  - - - 63.55

Balances as on March 31, 2025 52,364.12 - 17,338.33 36.48 5.12 69,744.05

AVON CYCLES LIMITED
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

EQUITY SHARE CAPITAL

For year ended 31st March, 2025 (` in Lakh)

Particulars Amount

Balance as on April 01, 2024            87.05 

Proceeds from Issue of Shares                 -   

Prior Period Errors                 -   

Changes during the year                 -   

Balances as on March 31, 2025            87.05 

   

For year ended 31st March, 2024 (` in Lakh)

Particulars Amount

Balance as on April 01, 2023             87.05 

Proceeds from Issue of Shares                 -   

Prior Period Errors                 -   

Changes during the year                 -   

Balances as on March 31, 2024             87.05 
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In terms of our report attached

For H.K. Chitkara & Co.	 For and on behalf of the Board	 For and on behalf of the Board
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No.001571N

Sd/-	 Sd/-	 Sd/-
(Sameer Chitkara)	 (Rishi Pahwa)	 (Mandeep Singh Pahwa)
Partner	 Managing Director	 Jt. Managing Director
M.No. 094353	 DIN: 00286399	 DIN: 00248245
UDIN: 25094353BMJGBG2326
Place: Ludhiana
Dated: 25.09.2025

Particulars Retained 
Earnings

 Other 
Comprehensive 

Income 

General 
Reserve

Capital 
Reserve

Capital 
Redemption   

Reserve

Total

           

Balance as on April 01, 2023 41,209.97 (114.72) 16,338.33 36.48 5.12 57,475.17

Profit for the year 8,238.76 - - - - 8,238.76

Other Comprehensive Income/ (Loss) for the 
year

-  21.85 - - - 21.85 

Total Comprehensive Income for the year 8,238.76   21.85 - - - 8,260.61

Transferred to General Reserve (500.00) - - - - (500.00)

Transferred from General Reserve - - - - - -

Transfer From Retained Earnings - - 500.00 - - 500.00 

Dividend (348.20) - - - - (348.20)

Tax adjustment of earlier years (80.89) - - - - (80.89)

Balances as on March 31, 2024 48,519.64 (92.87) 16,838.33 36.48 5.12 65,306.70



46

Avon Cycles Limited
Notes on Standalone Financial Statements for the period ended March 31, 2025

1. BACKGROUND						    
Avon Cycles Ltd. is a closely held company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in India. The 
registered address of the Company is located at G.T Road, Dhandari Kalan, Ludhiana - 141003.The 
Company is engaged  in diversified businesses primarily dealing in manufacturing of Bicycle & Cycle 
Parts, E-Bikes and E-Rickshaws.

1 )   MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION				  

a)	 Basis of Preparation:						   

	 i) Compliance with IndAs:						    
	 The Standalone Financial Statements comply in all material aspects with Indian Accounting 

Standards (Ind AS) notified under Section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013 (the Act) [Companies 
(Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015] as amended thereafter and other relevant provisions 
of the Act.

	 ii) Historical Cost Convention:						    
	 The Standalone financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for the 

following:

	 a) certain financial assets and liabilities (including derivative instruments) and contingent 
consideration that is measured at fair value;

	 b) defined benefit plans - plan assets measured at fair value.

b)	 Foreign currency translation:						    

	 i) Functional and presentation currency:						    
	 Items included in the Standalone financial statements of Company are measured using the 

currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional 
currency’). The Standalone Financial Statements are presented in Indian rupee (INR), which is 
Company’s functional and presentation currency.

	 (ii) Transactions and Balances:						    
	 Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates 

at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement 
of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies at year end exchange rates are generally recognized in profit or loss. All other 
foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the statement of profit and loss on a net basis 
within other gains/(losses).

c)	 Revenue Recognition:						    
	 Ind As 115 was issued on 28th March 2018 and supersedes Ind As 11 Construction Contracts and 

Ind As 18 Revenue and it applies, with limited exceptions, to all revenue arising from contracts 
with its customers. Ind As 115 establishes a five step model to account for revenue arising 
from contracts with customers and requires that revenue be recognized at an amount that 
reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring 
goods or services to a customer. Ind As 115 requires entities to exercise judgement, taking into 
consideration all of the relevant facts and circumstances when applying each step of the model 
to the contract with their customers. The standard also specifies the accounting for incremental 
costs of obtaining acontract and the costs directly related to fulfilling a contract. In addition, 
the standard requires extensive disclosures. The Company adopted Ind As 115 using modified 
retrospective method of adoption with the date of initial application of 1st April, 2018. Under 
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thismethod, the standard can be applied either to all contracts at the date of initial application 
or to only contracts that are not completed atthis date. The Company elected to apply standard 
to contracts that are not completed at the date of initial application. 

	 Recognizing revenue from major business activities					   

	 Sale of Goods:						    
	 Timing of recognition: The Company manufactures and sells Bicycle, Bicycle Parts, Ebikes, 

E-Rickshaws and Power. Sales are recognized when products are delivered to the dealer, 
the dealer has full discretion over the channel and price to sell the products, and there is no 
unfulfilled obligation that could affect dealer’s acceptance of the products. Delivery occurs when 
the products have been shipped to the specified location, the risks of obsolescence and loss 
have been transferred to the dealer, and either the wholesaler has accepted the products in 
accordance with the sales contract, the acceptance provisions have lapsed, or the company has 
objective evidence that all criteria for acceptance have been satisfied.

	 Measurement of revenue: The products are sold with volume discounts and customers have a 
right to return faulty products in the wholesale market. Revenue from sales is based on the price 
specified in the sales contracts, net of the estimated volume discounts and returns at the time of 
sale. Accumulated experience is used to estimate and provide for the discounts and returns. The 
volume discounts are assessed based on anticipated annual purchases. No element of financing 
is deemed present as the sales are made with a credit term of 60 days, which is consistent with 
market practice. Export sales are accounted for on the basis of Let Export date. Export incentives 
are accounted for on accrual basis. Revenue related to service coupons is deferred and is 
recognized whenever claimed by the dealer.

	 Interest income is recognized on time basis. Royalty income is recognized on accrual basis.

d)	 Government Grants:						   
	 Grants from the government are recognized at their fair value when there is a reasonable assurance 

that the grant will be received and the company will comply with all attached conditions. 
Government grant relating to income are deferred and recognized in the profit or loss over 
the period necessary to match them with the costs that they are intended to compensate and 
presented within other income. Government grants relating to purchase of property, plant and 
equipment are included in non-current liabilities as deferred income and are credited to profit or 
loss over the expected lives of the related assets and presented within other income.

e)	 Income Tax:						    

i)	 Current Tax:						    
	 The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from ‘profit 

before tax’ as reported in thestatement of profit and loss because of items of income or expense 
that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. 
The Company’s current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the end of the reporting period. Current income tax assets/liabilities for current year 
is recognized at the amount expected to be paid to and/or recoverable from the tax authorities.

ii)	 Deferred Tax:						   
	 The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable 

income based on the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in 
deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences to unused tax losses.  
Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the Standalone 
financial statements. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been 
enacted or substantially enacted by by the end of the reporting period and are expected to apply 
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when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.  
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences and unused 
tax losses only if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise 
those temporary differences and losses. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when 
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and when 
the deferred tax balances relate to same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax 
liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends 
either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  
Current and deferred tax is recognised in the Statement of profit and loss, except to the extent 
that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In that 
case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

iii)	 Appendix C to Ind AS 12 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatment				  
	 The appendix addresses the accounting for income taxes when tax treatments involve uncertainty 

that affects the application of Ind AS 12 Income Taxes. It does not apply to taxes or levies outside 
the scope of Ind AS 12, nor does it specifically include requirements relating to interest and 
penalties associated with uncertain tax treatments. The Appendix specifically addresses the 
following: 

	 1. 	 Whether an entity considers uncertain tax treatments separately. 

	 2.	 The assumptions an entity makes about the examination of tax treatments by taxation 
authorities.

	 3. 	 How an entity determines taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax 
credits and tax rates.

	 4. How an entity considers changes in facts and circumstances.  

	 The Company determines whether to consider each uncertain tax treatment separately or 
together with one or more other uncertain tax treatments and uses the approach that better 
predicts the resolution of the uncertainty. The Company applies significant judgement in 
identifying uncertainties over income tax treatments.

f)	 Leases:						    

	 As a lessee						    
	 The Company’s lease asset classes primarily consist of leases for land and buildings. The Company 

assesses whether a contract contains a lease, at inception of a contract. A contract is, or contains, 
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of 
time in exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the 
use of an identified asset, the Company assesses whether: (i) the contract involves the use of an 
identified asset (ii) the Company has substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the 
asset through the period of the lease and (iii) the Company has the right to direct the use of the 
asset. 

	 At the date of commencement of the lease, the Company recognizes a right-of-use asset (“ROU”) 
and a corresponding lease liability for all lease arrangements in which it is a lessee, except for 
leases with a term of twelve months or less (short-term leases) and low value leases. For these 
short-term and low value leases, the Company recognizes the lease payments as an operating 
expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. 

	 Certain lease arrangements includes the options to extend or terminate the lease before the end 
of the lease term. ROU assets and lease liabilities includes these options when it is reasonably 
certain that they will be exercised.    
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	 The right-of-use assets are initially recognized at cost, which comprises the initial amount of 
the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or prior to the commencement date 
of the lease plus any initial direct costs less any lease incentives and an estimate of costs to 
be incurred by the lessee in dismantling and removing the underlying asset or restoring the 
underlying asset or site on which it is located. They are subsequently measured at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Right-of-use assets are depreciated from the 
commencement date on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and useful life 
of the underlying asset. Right of use assets are evaluated for recoverability whenever events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable. For 
the purpose of impairment testing, the recoverable amount (i.e. the higher of the fair value less 
cost to sell and the value-in-use) is determined on an individual asset basis unless the asset 
does not generate cash flows that are largely independent of those from other assets. In such 
cases, the recoverable amount is determined for the Cash Generating Unit (CGU) to which the 
asset belongs. The lease liability is initially measured at amortized cost at the present value of 
the future lease payments. The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in 
the lease or, if not readily determinable, using the incremental borrowing rates in the country 
of domicile of these leases. Lease liabilities are remeasured with a corresponding adjustment to 
the related right of use asset if the Company changes its assessment if whether it will exercise an 
extension or a termination option. Lease liability and ROU asset have been separately presented 
in the Balance Sheet and lease payments have been classified as financing cash flows.

	 As a lessor						    
	 Leases for which the Company is a lessor is classified as a finance or operating lease. Whenever 

the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee, 
the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases. 

	 For operating leases, rental income is recognized on a straight line basis over the term of the 
relevant lease. 

g)	 Impairment of Assets:						    
	 Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation 

and are tested annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that they might be impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment whenever events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An 
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds 
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs 
of disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped 
at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely 
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units). 
Non- financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible 
reversal of the impairment at the end of each reporting period.

h)	 Cash and Cash Equivalents						    
	 For the purpose of presentation in the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents 

includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly 
liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to 
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and 
bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities in the balance 
sheet.
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i)	 Inventories:						    

	 Raw materials and stores, work in progress, traded and finished goods
	 Raw materials and stores, work in progress, traded and finished goods are stated at the lower of 

cost and net realisable value. Cost of raw materials and traded goods comprises cost of purchases. 
Cost of work-in- progress and finished goods comprises direct materials, direct labour and an 
appropriate proportion of variable and fixed overhead expenditure, the latter being allocated on 
the basis of normal operating capacity. Cost of inventories also include all other costs incurred in 
bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. Cost includes the reclassification 
from equity of any gains or losses on qualifying cash flow hedges relating to purchases of raw 
material but excludes borrowing costs. Costs are assigned to individual items of inventory on the 
basis of weighted average basis. Costs of purchased inventory are determined after deducting 
rebates and discounts. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of 
business less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the 
sale.							     

j)	 Non-current assets held for sale						    
	 Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered 

principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use and a sale is considered 
highly probable. They are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less 
costs to sell, except for assets such as deferred tax assets, assets arising from employee benefits, 
financial assets and contractual rights under insurance contracts, which are specifically exempt 
from this requirement. 

	 An impairment loss is recognised for any initial or subsequent write-down of the asset to fair 
value less costs to sell. A gain is recognised for any subsequent increases in fair value less costs to 
sell of an asset (or disposal group), but not in excess of any cumulative impairment loss previously 
recognised. A gain or loss not previously recognised by the date of the sale of the non-current 
asset is recognised at the date of de-recognition.  

	 Non-current assets classified as held for sale and the assets of a disposal group classified as held 
for sale are presented separately from the other assets in the balance sheet. The liabilities of a 
disposal group classified as held for sale are presented separately from other liabilities in the 
balance sheet. 

k)	 Property, Plant and Equipment:						    
	 Freehold land is carried at historical cost. All other items of property, plant and equipment are 

stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly 
attributable to the acquisition of the items.   

	 Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, 
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item 
will flow to the group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount 
of any component accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised when replaced. All other 
repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the reporting period in which they 
are incurred.  

	 Depreciation methods, estimated useful lives and residual value:  

	 Depreciation is calculated using the Written Down Value method to allocate their cost, net of their 
residual values, over their estimated useful lives which is in conformity with the requirements of 
the Companies Act, 2013. Depreciaton is not recorded on Work - in- Progress until construction 
and installation is complete and asset is ready for its intended use. 
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	 The property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases is depreciated over the asset’s 
useful life or over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term if there is no reasonable 
certainty that the Company will obtain ownership at the end of the lease term. An asset’s carrying 
amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is 
greater than its estimated recoverable amount.  

	 Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. 
These are included in profit or loss within other gains/(losses).		

l)	 Investment Properties:						    
	 Property that is held for long-term rental yields or for capital appreciation or both, and that 

is not classified as owner occupied property, is classified as investment property. Investment 
property is measured initially at its cost, including related transaction costs and where applicable 
borrowing costs. Subsequent expenditure is capitalised to the asset’s carrying amount only 
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the expenditure will flow to 
the group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance 
costs are expensed when incurred. When part of an investment property is replaced, the carrying 
amount of the replaced part is derecognised.  Investment properties are depreciated using the 
written down value method over their estimated useful lives.

	 Investment properties generally have a useful life of 30-60 years. The useful life has been 
determined based on technical evaluation performed by the management’s expert. 

m)	 Intangible Assets:						    
	 Computer Softwares: Costs associated with maintaining software programmes are recognised 

as an expense as incurred. Development costs that are directly attributable to the design and 
testing of identifiable and unique software products controlled by the Company are recognised 
as intangible assets when the following criteria are met:

	 -  	 It is technically feasible to complete the software so that it will be available for use.

	 -  	 Management intends to complete the software and use it.

	 -  	 There is an ability to use the software.

	 -  	 It can be demonstrated how the software will generate probable future economic benefits.

	 -  	 Adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use 
the software are available, and

	 -  	 The expenditure attributable to the software during its development can be reliably 
measured.  

The estimated useful lives are as follows:
Type of Asset Useful Lives
Factory Buildings 30 Years
Other Buildings - RCC Structure 60 Years
Other Buildings - Non RCC Structure 30 Years
Leasehold Improvements Lease Term
Plant & Equipment 15 Years
Furniture & Fixtures 10 Years
Office Equipment 10/ 5 Years
Computer Equipment 6 / 3 years
Vehicles 8 Years
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	 Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as part of the software include employee costs and 
an appropriate portion of relevant overheads.						    

	 Trade Marks: Trade marks are recognised as an asset as and when expense is incurred.	

	 Capitalised development costs are recorded as intangible assets and amortised from the point 
at which the asset is available for use. Intangible Assets are depreciated using the Written Down 
Value method to allocate their cost, net of their residual values, over their estimated useful lives 
which is in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act, 2013. 

n)	 Trade and other payables						    
	 These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the group prior to the end 

of financial year which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 45-60 
days of recognition. Trade and other payables are presented as current liabilities unless payment 
is not due within 12 months after the reporting period. 

o)	 Borrowings						    
	 Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings 

are subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of 
transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period 
of the borrowings using the effective interest method. Fees paid on the establishment of loan 
facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that 
some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw down 
occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be 
drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity services and amortised over the 
period of the facility to which it relates.  

	 Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the company has an unconditional right to 
defer material provision of a long-term loan arrangement on or before the end of the reporting 
period with settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. Where 
there is a breach of a the effect that the liability becomes payable on demand on the reporting 
date, the entity does not classify the liability as current, if the lender agreed, after the reporting 
period and before the approval of the Standalone financial statements for issue, not to demand 
payment as a consequence of the breach.

p)	 Borrowing costs						    
	 General and specific borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction 

or production of a qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of time that is required to 
complete and prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. Qualifying assets are assets that 
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale. 

	 Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their 
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.  

	 Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

q)	 Provisions and Contingent Liabilities:						    
	 Provisions are recognised when the company has a present legal or constructive obligation as 

a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the 
obligation and the amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions are measured at the present 
value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation 
at the end of the reporting period. Contingent Liabilities are disclosed in respect of possible 
obligations that arise from past events but their existence will be confirmed by the occurrence 
or non occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the 
Company or where any present obligation cannot be measured in terms of future outflow of 



53

resources orwhere a reliable estimate of the obligation cannot be made. Contingent assets are 
neither recognised nor disclosed in FinancialStatements. Provisions are measured at the present 
value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation 
at the end of the reporting period. Contingent Liabilities are disclosed in respect of possible 
obligations that arise from past events but their existence will be confirmed by the occurrence 
or non occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the 
Company or where any present obligation cannot be measured in terms of future outflow of 
resources or where a reliable estimate of the obligation cannot be made. Contingent assets are 
neither recognised nor disclosed in Financial Statements. 

r)	 Employee benefits						    

(i)	 Short-term obligations						    
	 Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits that are expected to be 

settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the 
related service are recognised in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting 
period and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. The 
liabilities are presented as current employee benefit obligations in the balance sheet. 

(ii)	 Other long-term employee benefit obligations						    
	 The liabilities, if any, which needs to be settled after 12 months from the end of the period 

in which the employees render the related services are are measured as the present value of 
expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the 
end of reporting period using the projected unit credit method. 

(iii)	  Post-employment obligations						    
	 The group operates the following post-employment schemes:					   

	 a) defined benefit plans such as gratuity, pension, post-employment medical plans; and

	 b) defined contribution plans such as provident fund.						    

	 Gratuity obligations						   
	 The liability or asset recognised in the balance sheet in respect of defined benefit gratuity plans is 

the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period less the fair 
value of plan assets. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by actuaries using the 
projected unit credit method. The present value of the defined benefit obligation denominated 
in INR is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows by reference to market 
yields at the end of the reporting period on government bonds that have terms approximating 
to the terms of the related obligation.

		 The present value of the defined benefit obligation denominated in INR is determined by 
discounting the estimated future cash outflows by reference to market yields at the end of the 
reporting period on government bonds that have terms approximating to the terms of the 
related obligation.

		 The net interest cost is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net balance of the defined 
benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets. This cost is included in employee benefit 
expense in the statement of profit and loss. 

		 Remeasurement gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial 
assumptions are recognised in the period in which they occur, directly in other comprehensive 
income. They are included in retained earnings in the statement of changes in equity and in the 
balance sheet.

	 Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation resulting from plan amendments 
or curtailments are recognised immediately in profit or loss as past service cost. 
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	 Defined contribution plans						   
	 The group pays provident fund contributions to publicly administered provident funds as per 

local regulations. The group has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been 
paid. The contributions are accounted for as defined contribution plans and the contributions 
are recognised as employee benefit expense when they are due.

(iv)	 Bonus plans						    
	 The group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses. The group recognises a provision 

where contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that has created a constructive 
obligation.

s)	 Financial Assets:						    

(i)	 Classification:						    
	 The company classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories :-	

	 a)	 Those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through other comprehensive 
income or through Statement of profit and loss), and			 

	 b)	 Those measured at amortised cost.						    

	 c) 	 Investments in Subsidiaries are measured at Cost less impairment loss, if any.

	 d) 	 Investments in Associates are measured at Cost less impairment loss, if any.

	 The classification depends on the company’s business model for managing the financial assets 
and the contractual terms of cash flows.						    

	 For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or other 
comprehensive income. For investments in debt instruments, this will depend on the business 
model in which the investment is held. For investments in equity instruments, this will depend 
on whether the company has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to 
account for the equity investment at the fair value through other comprehensive income. 

(ii)	 Measurement:						    
	 At initial recognition, the company measures a financial asset at its fair value plus transaction 

cost that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. In the case of a financial 
asset at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs of financial assets are expensed in the 
Statement of profit and loss. The company subsequently measures all equity investments at fair 
value. Where the company’s management has elected to present fair value gains and losses on 
equity investments in OCI, there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and losses 
to profit or loss. Investments in Subsidiaries and Associates is measured at Cost less impairment 
loss, if any. 

(iii)	 Impairment of Financial Assets:						    
	 Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds its 

recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less cost of disposal and its value in use. 
The company assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit losses associated with its 
assets carried at amortised cost and FVTOCI debt instruments. The impairment methodology 
applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk. For trade 
receivables only, the company applies the simplified approach permitted by Ind AS 109 Financial 
Instruments, which requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of 
the receivables. 

(iv)	 Derecognition of Financial Asset:						    
	 A Financial Asset is derecognised only when:						    

	 a) The Company has transferred the rights to receive the cash flows from the financial assets, or	
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	 b) Retains the contractual rights to receive the cash flows of the financial asset, but assumes 
contractual obligation to pay the cash flows to one or more receipent.

(v)	 Income Recognition:						   
	 Interest Income: Interest income from debt instruments is recognised using the effective interest 

rate method. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to the gross carrying amount of a 
financial asset. When calculating the effective interest rate, the group estimates the expected 
cash flows by considering all the contractual terms of the financial instrument (for example, 
prepayment, extension, call and similar options) but does not consider the expected credit losses.  
Dividends: Dividends are recognised in profit or loss only when the right to receive payment is 
established, it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to 
the group, and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably. 

t)	 Impairment of Non Financial Assets:						    
	 Assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 

carrying amount may not be recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is higher of an asset’s 
fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets 
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which 
are largely independent of the cash inflows from assets or group of assets (cash-generating 
units). Non-Financial assets suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the 
impairment at the end of each reporting period. 

u)	 Offestting Financial Instruments						    
	 Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the balance sheet 

where there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an 
intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The 
legally enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and must be enforceable in 
the normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the group 
or the counterparty. 

v)	 Derivatives that are not designated as hedges:						    
	 The Company enters into certain derivative/ forward contracts to hedge foreign currency risks 

which are not designated as hedges. Such contratcs are accounted for at fair value through profit 
or loss.

w)	 Estimates & Judgements:						    
	 The preparation of Standalone financial statements requires the use of accounting estimates 

which, by definition, will seldom equal the actual results. Management has made judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and reported 
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.					   

	 The areas involving critical estimates or judgements are:						    

	 i) 	 Estimation of current tax expense and payable.						    

	 ii) 	 Designation of financial assets /liabilities through FVTPL. 					   

	 iii) 	 Estimation of defined benefit obligation.						    

	 iv) 	 Recognition of deferred tax assets for carried forward tax losses.				  

	 Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated. They are based on historical experience 
and other factors, , including expectations of future events that may have a financial impact on 
company and that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
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x)	 Applicability of New and Revised Ind As:						    
	 The Ministry of Corporate Affairs (“MCA”) notifies new standards or amendment to the existing 

standards under Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules as issued from time to time. 
For the year ended March 31, 2025, MCA has notified Ind AS – 117 Insurance contracts and 
amendments to Ind AS 116 – Leases, relating to sale and leaseback transactions, applicable to 
the Company w.e.f. April 1, 2024. The Company has reviewed the new pronouncements based 
on its evaluation has determined that it does not have any significant impact in its financial 
statements.

	 On May 9, 2025, MCA notifies the amendments to Ind AS 21 - Effects of Changes in Foreign 
Exchange Rates. These amendments aim to provide clearer guidance on assessing currency 
exchangeability and estimating exchange rates when currencies are not readily exchangeable. 
The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after April 1, 2025. The Company 
is currently assessing the probable impact of these amendments on its financial statements.		
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 Notes forming part of the Financial Statements 

 2. PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT AS ON 31.03.2025                                                                                                                                                                       ( ` in Lakh)

 DESCRIPTION GROSS BLOCK   DEPRECIATION NET CARRYING 
AMOUNT 

 
 

As on 
31.03.2024 

Additions/ 
Trfd./ 

Adjustment 

Sale/Trfd. / 
Adjustment 

Total as on  
31.03.2025 

Upto  
31.03.2024 

For the  
year 

Sale/ 
Trfd. 

Upto     
31.03.2025 

As on 
31.03.2025

As on 
31.03.2024

Own Assets:                    

Freehold Land 212.99 - - 212.99 - - - -   212.99 212.99 

Factory Buildings 5,251.62 1,139.06 - 6,390.68 2,677.03 258.38 - 2,935.42 3,455.26 2,574.58 

Other Buildings 143.07 - - 143.07 95.69 2.66 - 98.35 44.72 47.38 

Plant & Machinery 3,794.14 356.97 16.63 4,134.48 2,958.90 147.02 12.57 3,093.35 1,041.14 835.24 

Furniture and Fixtures 353.28 36.01 - 389.29 312.46 13.35 - 325.80 63.49 40.82 

Office Equipment 360.61 57.68 - 418.29 301.91 16.64 - 318.55 99.74 58.70 

Computer Equipment 277.68 7.87 - 285.56 236.09 16.93 - 253.02 32.54 41.60 

Vehicles 840.98 372.41 178.14 1,035.25 470.17 156.56 114.02 512.71 522.54 370.82 

Total 11,234.38 1,970.01 194.78 13,009.61 7,052.25 611.54 126.59 7,537.20 5,472.42 4,182.13 

Note: 1. Freehold Land includes Land of value Rs. 6.40 Lac and Factory Building includes Factory Building of value Rs. 2923.29 Lac hypothicated to Banks 
on Pari - Passu Charge Basis. 
2. All title deeds of Immoveable property are in the name of the Company.

 2. PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT AS ON 31.03.2024                                                                                                                                                                       ( ` in Lakh)

 DESCRIPTION GROSS BLOCK   DEPRECIATION NET CARRYING 
AMOUNT 

 
 

As on 
31.03.2023 

Additions/ 
Trfd./ 

Adjustment 

Sale/Trfd. / 
Adjustment 

Total as on  
31.03.2024 

Upto  
31.03.2023 

For the  
year 

Sale/ 
Trfd. 

Upto     
 31.03.2024 

As on 
31.03.2024

As on 
31.03.2023

Own Assets:                    

Freehold Land 212.99 - - 212.99 - - - - 212.99 212.99 

Factory Buildings 5,231.44 20.17 - 5,251.62 2,405.70 271.33 - 2,677.03 2,574.58 2,825.74 

Other Buildings 143.07 - - 143.07 92.84 2.85 - 95.69 47.38 50.23 

Plant & Machinery 3,714.20 96.01 16.06 3,794.14 2,809.26 165.52 15.87 2,958.90 835.24 904.95 

Furniture and Fixtures 348.98 4.30 - 353.28 299.83 12.63 - 312.46 40.82 49.15 

Office Equipment 349.68 15.92 4.99 360.61 289.02 16.36 3.47 301.91 58.70 60.66 

Computer Equipment 270.57 7.63 0.51 277.68 208.11 28.46 0.49 236.09 41.60 62.45 

Vehicles 869.65 83.49 112.15 840.98 384.58 160.15 74.56 470.17 370.82 485.07 

Total 11,140.59 227.51 133.73 11,234.38 6,489.34 657.30 94.40 7,052.25 4,182.13 4,651.24 

2.1 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AS ON 31.03.2025                                                                                                                                                                                    ( ` in Lakh)

 DESCRIPTION GROSS BLOCK   DEPRECIATION NET CARRYING 
AMOUNT 

 
 

As on 
31.03.2024 

Additions/ 
Trfd./ 

Adjustment 

Sale/Trfd. / 
Adjustment 

Total as on  
31.03.2025 

Upto  
31.03.2024 

For the  
year 

Sale/ 
Trfd. 

Upto     
 31.03.2025 

As on 
31.03.2025

As on 
31.03.2024

Freehold Land 69.31 - - 69.31 - - - - 69.31 69.31 

Buildings - - - - - - - - - -

Total 69.31 - -  69.31 - - - - 69.31 69.31 

Note: All title deeds of Immoveable property are in the name of the Company.
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2.1 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AS ON 31.03.2024                                                                                                                                                                                    ( ` in Lakh)

 DESCRIPTION GROSS BLOCK   DEPRECIATION NET CARRYING 
AMOUNT 

 
 

As on 
31.03.2023 

Additions/ 
Trfd./ 

Adjustment 

Sale/Trfd. / 
Adjustment 

Total as on  
31.03.2024 

Upto  
31.03.2023 

For the  
year 

Sale/ 
Trfd. 

Upto     
 31.03.2024 

As on 
31.03.2024

As on 
31.03.2023

 Freehold Land 69.31 - - 69.31 - - - - 69.31 69.31 

  Buildings - - - - - - - - - -

 Total 69.31 - - 69.31 - - - - 69.31 69.31 

2.2 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE AS ON 31.03.2025                                                                                                                                                  ( ̀  in Lakh)

 DESCRIPTION GROSS BLOCK   DEPRECIATION NET CARRYING 
AMOUNT 

 
 

As on 
31.03.2024 

Additions/ 
Trfd./ 

Adjustment 

Sale/Trfd. / 
Adjustment 

Total as on  
31.03.2025 

Upto  
31.03.2024 

For the  
year 

Sale/ 
Trfd. 

Upto     
 31.03.2025 

As on 
31.03.2025

As on 
31.03.2024

Freehold Land 55.80 - 52.41 3.39 - - - - 3.39 55.80 

Building 7.26 - - 7.26 0.79 - - 0.79 6.47 6.47 

Total 63.06 - 52.41 10.65 0.79 - - 0.79 9.86 62.27 

Note: 1. The Company intends to sale parcel of freehold land and building. No impairment loss was recognised in classification of land and building as 
held for sale as at March 31, 2025. Such assets are generally measured at the lower of their carrying value or fair value less costs to sell. Once calssified as 
held for sale, property, plant & equipment are no longer depreciated. The company has stated such assets at carrying value. 
2. All title deeds of Immoveable property are in the name of the Company.

2.2 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE AS ON 31.03.2024                                                                                                                                               ( ` in Lakh)

 DESCRIPTION GROSS BLOCK   DEPRECIATION NET CARRYING 
AMOUNT 

 
 

As on 
31.03.2023 

Additions/ 
Trfd./ 

Adjustment 

Sale/Trfd. / 
Adjustment 

Total as on  
31.03.2024 

Upto  
31.03.2023 

For the  
year 

Sale/ 
Trfd. 

Upto     
 31.03.2024 

As on 
31.03.2024

As on 
31.03.2023

 Freehold Land 55.80 - - 55.80 - - - - 55.80 55.80 

 Building 7.26 - - 7.26 0.79 - - 0.79 6.47 6.47 

 Total 63.06 - - 63.06 0.79 - - 0.79 62.27 62.27 

2.3 INTANGIBLE ASSETS AS ON 31.03.2025                                                                                                                                                                                                ( ` in Lakh)

 DESCRIPTION GROSS BLOCK   DEPRECIATION NET CARRYING 
AMOUNT 

 
 

As on 
31.03.2024 

Additions/ 
Trfd./ 

Adjustment 

Sale/Trfd. / 
Adjustment 

Total as on  
31.03.2025 

Upto  
31.03.2024 

For the  
year 

Sale/ 
Trfd. 

Upto     
 31.03.2025 

As on 
31.03.2025

As on 
31.03.2024

 Softwares 432.45 24.01 - 456.46 377.21 10.36 - 387.58 68.89 55.23 

 Trade marks 30.17 0.24 - 30.40 22.11 2.22 - 24.34 6.06 8.05 

 Total 462.61 24.25 - 486.87 399.33 12.59 - 411.91 74.95 63.29 

2.3 INTANGIBLE ASSETS AS ON 31.03.2024                                                                                                                                                                                                 ( ` in Lakh)

 DESCRIPTION GROSS BLOCK   DEPRECIATION NET CARRYING 
AMOUNT 

 
 

As on 
31.03.2023 

Additions/ 
Trfd./ 

Adjustment 

Sale/Trfd. / 
Adjustment 

Total as on  
31.03.2024 

Upto  
31.03.2023 

For the  
year 

Sale/ 
Trfd. 

Upto     
 31.03.2024 

As on 
31.03.2024

As on 
31.03.2023

Softwares 431.62 0.83 - 432.45 363.06 14.16 - 377.21 55.23 68.56 

Trade marks 29.73 0.44 - 30.17 19.28 2.84 - 22.11 8.05 10.45 

Total 461.35 1.27 - 462.61 382.33 17.00 - 399.33 63.29 79.01 
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2.4 CAPITAL - WORK - IN- PROGRESS: 

Ageing as on 31st March, 2025                                                                                                                                                                                                                               ( ` in Lakh)

  Amount in Capital WIP for a period of: 

  Less Than 1 Year 1-2 years 2-3 years More than 3 Years Total 

Projects in Progress 162.68 180.80 - - 343.49 

Projects Temporarily Suspended - - - - -

Total 162.68 180.80 - - 343.49 

Ageing as on 31st March, 2024                                                                                                                                                                                                                               ( ` in Lakh)

  Amount in Capital WIP for a period of: 

  Less Than 1 Year 1-2 years 2-3 years More than 3 Years Total 

Projects in Progress 290.55 - 997.16 - 1,287.71 

Projects Temporarily Suspended - - - - -

Total 290.55 - 997.16 - 1,287.71 

2.5 Depreciation & Amortisation Expense:                                                                                                                                                                                                  ( ` in Lakh)

Particulars For the year Ended 
31.03.2025 

For the year Ended 
31.03.2024

Depreciation on Property, Plant & Equipment 611.54 657.30 

Add: Amortisation on Intangible Assets 12.59 17.00 

 Add: Depreciation on Right of Use Assets 50.44 43.59 

 Deapreciation charged to Profit & Loss 674.56 717.89 

In terms of our report attached

For H.K. Chitkara & Co.	 For and on behalf of the Board	 For and on behalf of the Board
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No.001571N

Sd/-	 Sd/-	 Sd/-
(Sameer Chitkara)	 (Rishi Pahwa)	 (Mandeep Singh Pahwa)
Partner	 Managing Director	 Jt. Managing Director
M.No. 094353	 DIN: 00286399	 DIN: 00248245
UDIN: 25094353BMJGBG2326
Place: Ludhiana
Dated: 25.09.2025
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(` in lakh)

Land
 

Building
 

Total As at
31st March, 2025

Balance as on April 01, 2024 140.58               172.81 313.39 

Adjustments in Opening Balance (Due to De-Merger) -   - -

Addition -   20.70 20.70 

Deletion -   - -

Depreciation 1.99 48.44 50.43 

Balance as on 31.03.2025 138.59 145.07 283.66 

Following are the changes in the carrying value of right of use (ROU) assets for the year ended March 31, 2024:

(` in lakh)

Land
 

Building
 

Total As at
31st March, 2024

Balance as on April 01, 2023 142.58 214.40 356.98 

Adjustments in Opening Balance - - -

Addition - - -

Deletion 1.99 - 1.99 

Depreciation - 41.60 41.60 

Balance as on March 31, 2024 140.59 172.80 313.39 

The aggregate depreciation expense on ROU assets is included under depreciation and amortisation expense in 
the statement of Profit & Loss.

3.  	 ROU Asset and Lease Liabilities:
	 The Company has lease contracts for various Lands and buildings which have lease term ranging 

from 3 years to 30 years. On transition the Company has recognised right of use assets for leases 
of all assets, other than low value items or which are short  term in nature. Lease liabilities were 
recognised for all such right of use assets equivalent to the amount of discounted value of all 
future lease payments.

	 Following are the changes in the carrying value of right of use (ROU) assets for the period ended 
March 31, 2025:
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The following is the break up of current and non current Lease Liabilities as on March 31, 2025:

Particulars (` in lakh)
As at 

31st March, 2025

(` in lakh)
As at 

31st March, 2024

Non - Current Lease Liabilities 155.92 181.88 

Current Lease Liabilities 44.62 47.68 

Total Lease Liabilities 200.54 229.56 

Following is movement in Lease Liabilities during year ended March 31, 2025:

Particulars (` in lakh)
As at 

2024-2025

(` in lakh)
As at 

2023-2024

Balance in Beginning 229.56                  269.05 

Adjustments in Opening Balance                     -                          -   

Addition during the year                 20.70                        -   

Finance Cost accrued during the period                 23.71                    25.44 

Payment of Lease Liabilities                 73.42                    64.93 

Balance at the End               200.55                  229.56 

The table below provide details regarding the contractual maturities of lease liabilities as at March 31, 2025 on an 
undiscounted basis:

Particulars (` in lakh)
As at 

31st March, 2025

(` in lakh)
As at 

31st March, 2024

Less than One Year                 44.62                    69.42 

One to Five Years               155.92                  232.85 

More than Five years                     -                          -   

Total               200.54                  302.27 

The following are the amounts recognised in the statement of Profit and Loss:

Particulars (` in lakh)
As at 

2024-2025

(` in lakh)
As at 

2023-2024

Depreciation Expense on Right to Use Asset                 50.44                    41.60 

Interest Expense on Lease Liabilities                 23.71                    25.44 

Expense relating to Low Value and Short Term Leases (included in 
other Expenses)

                    -                          -   

Total Amount recognised in profit and Loss account                 74.15                    67.04 
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4 NON- CURRENT INVESTMENTS (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

Non -current investments consist of the following : As at As at  

31st March, 2025 31st March, 2024

INVESTMENTS CARRIED AT FVTPL

a) INVESTMENTS UNQUOTED Units/Shares Units/
Shares 

(i) Investment in equity shares of Subsidiary Companies:

 Avon Newage Cycles Pvt. Ltd. 1,89,28,000 4,149.14 1,89,28,000 4,149.14 

4,149.14 4,149.14 

(ii) Investment in other equity/preference shares:

a) Fully Paid up shares:

 Nimbua Greenfield (Punjab) Ltd of Rs.10 each 84,375 166.31 84,375 148.58 

166.31 148.58 

(iii) Investment in Mutual Funds (Unquoted)

 HDFC Banking and PSU Debt Fund - Reg Plan - Growth 16,04,353 361.21 16,04,353 334.17 

 HDFC Banking and PSU Debt Fund - Direct Growth Option 4,89,881 114.73 4,89,881 105.72 

475.94 439.89 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT INVESTMENTS 4,791.39 4,737.61 

Note: The Market Value of Quoted Investments is equal to the carrying value.

5 LONG TERM LOANS & ADVANCES (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

Long term loan and advances consist of the following :- As at  As at  

31st March, 2025 31st March, 2024

a) Secured Loans & Advances:

Other Loans & Advances 165.19 242.44 

Unsecured, considered good - -

165.19 242.44 

Other Loans & Advances includes:

-Long Term Loans & Advances 165.19 242.44 

6 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (NON- CURRENT) (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

Other Financial assets consist of the following :- As at  As at  

31st March, 2025 31st March, 2024

(i) Security deposits 95.54 106.55 

(ii) Bank Deposits with more than 12 months maturity 501.67 532.81 

(iii)  Other Financial Assets - -

597.21 639.36 

7 OTHER NON CURRENT ASSETS (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

Other non current assets consist of the following :- As at  As at  

31st March, 2025 31st March, 2024

(i) Advance tax (including refunds receivable) 508.74 338.25 

(ii) Advances to Related Parties - -

(iii) Other non-current assets 27.03 33.11 

535.77 371.36 

Other Loans & Advances Consists of:

- Deferred Revenue Expenditure 6.82 11.42 

- Prepaid Expenses - 1.47 
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(` in lakh) (` in lakh)

8 INVENTORIES As at  As at  

Inventories consist of the following : 31st March, 2025 31st March, 2024

Raw Materials 203.93 174.45 

Work-in-progress 270.03 268.58 

Finished Goods 7,149.59 4,927.66 

Stores & Spares 260.49 264.96 

Stock in trade 136.19 83.85 

8,020.23 5,719.50 

9 CURRENT INVESTMENTS (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

Current investments consist of the following : As at  As at  

31st March, 2025 31st March, 2024

INVESTMENTS CARRIED AT FVTPL

i) Investment in shares (quoted)

ii) Investment in mutual funds (unquoted)

ICICI Pru Short Term Fund - Direct Plan - Growth 3,72,070 238.35 3,72,070 219.27 

ICICI Pru Balanced Advantage Fund- Growth 3,04,101 210.92 3,04,101 195.99 

ICICI Prudential Blue Chip Fund 1,70,680 175.78 1,56,231 150.20 

ICICI Prudential Short Term - Growth Option 36,572 21.51 36,572 19.91 

ICICI Pru Regular Saving Fund - Direct Plan- Growth 26,17,376 891.61 26,17,376 818.25 

ICICI Prudential Short Term - Growth Option 462 0.27 462 0.25 

ICICI Prudential Equity Savings Fund Cumulative 13,101 2.86 46,677 9.46 

ICICI Prudential India Opportunities Fund Growth 25,322 8.38 3,440 1.02 

ICICI Prudential MNC Fund Growth 55,203 14.30 55,203 13.77 

ICICI Prudential Banking and PSU Debt Fund - Growth 88,665 28.41 88,665 26.29 

ICICI Prudential Short Term Fund - Growth 3,90,798 229.90 3,90,798 212.74 

ICICI Prudential Short Term Fund - Direct plan - Growth 3,01,553 193.18 3,01,553 177.71 

ICICI Pru Banking & PSU Debt Fund - Direct Plan - Gr 3,47,908 116.11 3,47,908 107.08 

ICICI Pru Short Term Fund - Direct Plan - Growth 3,01,623 193.22 3,01,623 177.75 

ICICI Prudential Banking and PSU Debt Fund - Growth 5,79,686 185.76 5,79,686 171.91 

Nippon India Short Term Fund - Growth 11,19,402 577.40 11,19,402 533.37 

Invesco India Growth India Opp. Fund - Growth (GF-GP) 80,808 70.32 80,808 61.30 

UTI Hybird Eq. Fund - Growth 66,376 252.48 66,376 228.02 

UTI Value Opportunities Fund - Reg -  Growth 1,00,167 156.49 1,00,167 135.97 

UTI Long Term Equity Fund- Tax Saving - Regular Plan- Growth 25,900 49.48 25,900 45.86 

UTI Flexi Cap Fund  Regular Plan 39,151 117.79 39,151 106.01 

UTI Flexi Cap Fund- Regular - Growth 24,515 73.75 24,515 66.38 

UTI Healthcare Fund - Reg Plan- Gr 34,949 93.75 34,949 78.08 

UTI Equity Fund 5,000 9.95 5,000 8.95 

ABSL Frontline Equity Fund - Reg - Growth 3,566 17.54 563 2.55 

Kotak Bond Fund (Short Term) - Reg - Growth 2,76,522 141.07 2,76,522 130.65 

HDFC Mid Term Opportunities Reg Plan - Growth 42,07,736 1,340.80 42,07,736 1,234.33 

HDFC Capital Builder Value Fund - Reg- Growth 899 6.03 899 5.52 

HDFC Equity Fund - Reg - Growth 4,109 75.86 4,109 65.97 

HDFC Small Cap Fund - Reg Plan - Growth 62,868 76.26 62,868 73.97 

HDFC Low Duration Fund - Reg Plan - Growth 1,04,172 58.94 1,04,172 54.85 
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Axis Global Innovation Fund of Fund Reg Plan Growth 4,99,975 60.70 4,99,975 59.75 

Axis Short Term Fund - Regular Growth 21,25,315 641.84 21,25,315 592.81 

Axis Banking & PSU Debt Fund - Direct Growth( BD-DG) 4,225 112.28 4,225 103.67 

Axis Banking & PSU Debt Fund - Regular Growth( BD-GP) 1,072 27.64 1,072 25.59 

Axis Focused 25 Fund - REGULAR GROWTH( AF-GP) 1,01,047 51.58 1,01,047 49.61 

Bandhan Banking & PSU Debt Fund - Reg - Growth 1,16,158 28.00 1,16,158 25.95 

Bandhjan Banking & PSU Debt Fund - Direct Plan - Growth 4,59,382 113.88 4,59,382 105.22 

Sundaram Short Duration Fund 8,851 3.84 8,851 3.55 

Sundaram Balanced Advantage Fund 5,60,619 87.62 5,60,619 176.29 

SBI Blue Chip Fund- Regular- Growth 1,78,187 154.18 1,62,396 129.89 

SBI Bluechip Fund - DIRECT- Growth 1,24,220 118.82 1,22,918 107.94 

SBI Energy Opportunities Fund - Regular Growth 99,995 9.72 99,995 10.09 

PGIM India Dynamic Bond Fund - Direct Plan - growth 4,309 126.66 4,309 115.04 

Canara Robeco Gilt Fund - direct Growth 1,55,149 124.87 1,55,149 114.29 

7,390.10 6,753.07 

TOTAL CURRENT INVESTMENTS

Note: The Market Value of Quoted Investments is equal to the carrying value.

10 TRADE RECEIVABLES (Unsecured) (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

Trade receivable consist of the following :- As at  As at  

31st March, 2025 31st March, 2024

a) Receivable from Related Parties

- Unsecured, considered good 21.21 98.31 

b) Receivable from Others

i) Unsecured, Considered good 13,396.02 10,582.71 

ii) Receivables which have significant increase in credit risk 896.70 831.09 

Less: Imapirment Allowance (Allowance for Doutful 
Receivables)

(648.52) (450.82)

13,665.41 11,061.29 

10.1 Trade Receivables Ageing:

 Outstanding for following periods from due date of payment (` in lakh)

Particulars  Not Due  Less Than  
6 Months

 6 
Months 

to 1 Year

 1 - 2 Years  2 - 3 Years More 
than 3 

Years

Total

As at 31st March, 2025:              

(i) Undisputed Trade Receivables - 
considered good

6,281.70  6,598.34 279.43  181.82                71.24  -   13,412.53 

(ii) Undisputed Trade Receivables 
- which have significant increase 
in credit risk

-                       -   63.57 72.36 25.45 740.01 901.40

(iii) Undisputed Trade Receivables 
- credit impaired

- - - - - - -

(iv) Disputed Trade Receivables - 
considered good

- - - - - - -

(v) Disputed Trade Receivables - 
which have significant increase in 
credit risk

- - - - - - -

(vi) Disputed Trade Receivables - 
credit impaired

- - - - - - -

Total 6,281.70 6,598.34 343.00 254.18 96.70 740.01 14,313.93
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11 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

Cash and Cash Equivalents consist of the following :- As at  As at  

31st March, 2025 31st March, 2024

Cash & Cash equilvalents:

i) Balances with banks

In current accounts 7,684.75 6,129.49 

In cash credit accounts 1,127.25 4,244.87 

(ii) Cheques on hand 13.72 67.69 

(iii) Cash on hand 4.40 3.08 

(iv) Imprest Balances 10.52 7.39 

(v) Imprest Balances - Related Parties 11.30 14.84 

(vi) Highly Liquid Investment with maturity of  
three months or less

9,775.27 12,377.60 

18,627.21 22,844.96 

12 OTHER BALANCES WITH BANKS (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

Other Balances with Banks consist of the following :- As at  As at  

31st March, 2025 31st March, 2024

Other bank balances consists of following:

- Short - Term Bank Deposits 9,019.23 8,376.51 

9,019.23 8,376.51 

13 LOANS AND ADVANCES - CURRENT (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

Short term loans and advances consist of the following :- As at  As at  

31st March, 2025 31st March, 2024

a) Secured,considered good

b) Unsecured,considered good

(i) Loans and Advances to Subsidiaries 4,688.00 2,158.00 

(ii) Loans and Advances to Related Parties 1,716.75 1,683.08 

(iii) Loans and Advances to Employees 236.94 153.23 

(iv) Other loans and advances - - 

 Outstanding for following periods from due date of payment (` in lakh)

Particulars  Not Due  Less Than 6 
Months  

 6 
Months 

to  1 Year

 1 - 2 Years  2 - 3 Years More 
than 3 

Years 

Total

As at 31st March, 2024:              

(i) Undisputed Trade Receivables - 
considered good

 9,554.08  504.10 267.62  161.12             204.70               -   10691.62

(ii) Undisputed Trade Receivables 
- which have significant increase 
in credit risk

- - 43.07 34.49 52.34 690.60 820.50

(iii) Undisputed Trade Receivables 
- credit impaired

- - - - - - -

(iv) Disputed Trade Receivables - 
considered good

- - - - - - -

(v) Disputed Trade Receivables - 
which have significant increase in 
credit risk

- - - - - - -

(vi) Disputed Trade Receivables - 
credit impaired

- - - - - - -

Total 9,554.08  504.10 310.68  195.61 257.04 690.60  11,512.12 
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a) Unsecured, Considered good 3,548.49 4,063.87 

b) Considered Doubtful 5.15 5.15 

Less:  Allowance for Doubtful Loans and Advances (5.15) (5.15)

10,190.18 8,058.18 

Other loans and advances considered good includes

- Interest bearing loans & deposits 2,272.30 4,013 

- Margin Money 133.75 -

14 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS - CURRENT (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

Other current assets consist of the following :- As at  As at  

31st March, 2025 31st March, 2024

a) Interest receivable 1.19 1.76 

b) Other Financial Assets 143.49 631.22 

144.68 632.98 

Other financial assets includes :

- Duty Drawback Receivable 12.78 14.82 

- MEIS/ Rodtep Incentive Receivable 63.17 34.75 

15 OTHER CURRENT ASSETS (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

Other current assets consist of the following :- As at  As at  

31st March, 2025 31st March, 2024

(i) Other Current Assets 2,706.07 2,457.32 

Less:  Allowance for Doubtful Other Assets (8.84) (8.84)

2,697.23 2,448.48 

Other loans and advances considered good includes:

GST Refundable 571.56 861.66 

Prepaid Expenses 116.23 73.72 

Advance to Suppliers including Capital Advances 387.28 225.87 

16 EQUITY SHARE CAPITAL (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

As at As at  

Authorised Share Capital : 31st March, 2025 31st March, 2024

20,00,000 Equity Shares (Previous Year 10,00,000) of Rs.10/-
each

200.00 200.00 

200.00 200.00 

Issued, Subscribed and paid up :

870494 Equity shares (Previous Year 870494) of Rs.10/- 
each fully paid up

87.05 87.05 

87.05 87.05 

16.1 Reconciliation of number of shares (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

As at March 31, 2025 As at March 31, 2024

 No. of shares  Amount No. of shares  Amount 

Equity Shares      

- Opening Balance 8,70,494 87.05 8,70,494 87.05 

- Changes during the year                     -                       -                        -                          -   

- Closing Balance 8,70,494 87.05 8,70,494 87.05 
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16.2 Terms/ Rights attached to Equity Shares

The Company has one class of equity shares having a par value of Rs. 10 each. Each shareholder is eligible for one vote per share 
held. The dividend, if proposed by the Board of Directors is subject to approval of the shareholders in the ensuing Annual General 
Meeting. In the event of liquidation, the equity shareholders are eligible to receive the remaining assets of the Company  after 
distribution of all preferential amounts, in proportion to their shareholding.

16.3 The details of Shareholders holding more than 5% shares :

Name of Shareholder As at 
31st March, 2025

As at 
31st March, 2024

  No. of Shares % No. of Shares  % 

Rishi Pahwa           1,89,198 21.73% 1,89,198 21.73%

Mandeep Singh Pahwa           1,90,028 21.83% 1,90,028 21.83%

Onkar Singh Pahwa C/o Onkar Singh Pahwa Family Trust 1           1,00,134 11.50% 1,00,134 11.50%

Onkar Singh Pahwa C/o Onkar Singh Pahwa Family Trust 2           1,52,883 17.56% 1,52,883 17.56%

Sarabjit Kaur Pahwa C/o Sarabjit Kaur Pahwa Family Trust 1           1,00,134 11.50% 1,00,134 11.50%

Sarabjit Kaur Pahwa C/o Sarabjit Kaur Pahwa Family Trust 2           1,37,279 15.77% 1,37,279 15.77%

16.4  Shareholding of Promoters:

Sr.
No
 
 

Promoter’s Name
 
 
 

 No. of shares 
 at the 

 beginning of 
 the year 

change
during the

year
 

No. of
shares at

the end of
the year

 % of total 
 shares 

 
 

% change
during the

year
 

  As at 31st March, 2025:          

1 Sh. Onkar Singh Pahwa                       -      -   0.00% 0.00%

2 Smt. Sarabjit Kaur Pahwa                       -         -   0.00% 0.00%

3 Sh. Rishi Pahwa 1,89,198                      -   1,89,198 21.73% 0.00%

4 Sh. Mandeep Singh Pahwa 1,90,028                      -   1,90,028 21.83% 0.00%

5 Smt. Pallavi Pahwa                    830                      -      830 0.10% 0.00%

6 Onkar Singh Pahwa C/o Onkar Singh Pahwa  
Family Trust 1 *

           1,00,134                      -   1,00,134 11.50% 0.00%

7 Onkar Singh Pahwa C/o Onkar Singh Pahwa  
Family Trust 2  *

1,52,883                      -    1,52,883 17.56% 0.00%

8 Sarabjit Kaur Pahwa C/o Sarabjit Kaur Pahwa  
Family Trust 1  *

 1,00,134                      -   1,00,134 11.50% 0.00%

9 Sarabjit Kaur Pahwa C/o Sarabjit Kaur Pahwa  
Family Trust 2  *

 1,37,279                      -   1,37,279 15.77% 0.00%

  Total 8,70,486                      -   8,70,486 100.00%  

Sr.
No
 
 

Promoter’s Name
 
 
 

 No. of shares 
 at the 

 beginning of 
 the year 

change
during the

year
 

No. of
shares at

the end of
the year

 % of total 
 shares 

 
 

% change
during the

year
 

  As at 31st March, 2024:          

1 Sh. Onkar Singh Pahwa               24,424 (24,424)           -   0.00% -2.81%

2 Smt. Sarabjit Kaur Pahwa                 8,820 (8,820)       -   0.00% -1.01%

3 Sh. Rishi Pahwa           1,89,157      41 1,89,198 21.73% 0.00%

4 Sh. Mandeep Singh Pahwa           1,90,069 (41) 1,90,028 21.83% 0.00%

5 Pahwa Estates & Holdings Pvt. Ltd.                      -                        -      -   0.00% 0.00%

6 Smt. Pallavi Pahwa                   830                      -    830 0.10% 0.00%

7 Onkar Singh Pahwa C/o Onkar Singh Pahwa  
Family Trust 1 *

             95,713 4,421 1,00,134 11.50% 0.51%

8 Onkar Singh Pahwa C/o Onkar Singh Pahwa  
Family Trust 2  *

          1,32,880  20,003 1,52,883 17.56% 2.30%
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17 OTHER EQUITY (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

Other Equity consist of the following: As at As at  

31st March, 2025 31st March, 2024

General Reserve

As per last Balance Sheet 16,838.33 16,338.33 

Add: Transferred from Profit and Loss Account 500.00 17,338.33 500.00 16,838.33 

Capital Redemption Reserve

As per last Balance Sheet 5.12 5.12 

Capital Reserve

As per last Balance Sheet 36.48 36.48 

Retained Earnings

As per last Balance Sheet 48,426.77 41,095.25 

Add: Profit for the year 4,760.92 8,238.76 

Other Comprehensive Income (38.86) 21.85 

53,148.83 49,355.86 

Less : Appropriations

Transferred to General Reserve 500.00 500.00 

Dividend on Equity Shares 348.20 348.20 

Priod Period Adjustments - - 

Tax adjustment of earlier years (63.55) 52,364.18 80.89 48,426.77 

69,744.11 65,306.70 

Notes to Reserves:

a) Capital Redemption Reserve: 
The Indian Company Act, 2013 (“The Companies Act”) requires that where a company purchases its own shares out of free 
reserves or securities premium account, a sum equal to the nominal value of the shares so purchased shall be transferred to a 
capital redemption reserve account and details of such transfer shall be disclosed in the balance sheet. The capital redemption 
reserve account may be applied by the Company, in paying up unissued shares of the company to be issued to shareholders of 
the company as fully paid bonus shares. Avon Cycles Ltd. established this reserve pursuant to the redemption of equity shares 
issued in earlier years.

b) Retained Earnings:
Retained earnings are the profits that the Company has earned till date, add/(less) any transfers from/(to) general reserve, 
securities premium, dividends or other distributions paid to shareholders. Retained earnings includes re-measurement gain/
(loss) on defined benefit obligations, net of taxes that will not be reclassified to Profit and Loss. 

c) Capital Reserve:
The capital reserve represents the excess of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the consideration paid/ received or vice 
versa in a common control sale/transfer of business/investment.

9 Sarabjit Kaur Pahwa C/o Sarabjit Kaur Pahwa  
Family Trust 1  *

             95,713 4,421 1,00,134 11.50% 0.51%

10 Sarabjit Kaur Pahwa C/o Sarabjit Kaur Pahwa  
Family Trust 2  *

          1,32,880 4,399 1,37,279 15.77% 0.51%

  Total 8,70,486                      -   8,70,486    

* Changes in  equity is on account of transfer of shares to different trust for the benefits of relatives of Mr. Onkar Singh Pahwa and  
Mrs. Sarabjit Kaur Pahwa by way of gift. However, voting rights remain with the transferor.
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18 BORROWINGS (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

Borrowings consist of the following : As at  As at  

31st March, 2025 31st March, 2024

Secured - at Amortised Cost

Term Loans - from Banks -                          -   

Term Loans - from Others -                          -   

Unsecured - at Amortised Cost - -

Loans & Advances from related parties (Directors) 352.13                  728.67 

352.13                  728.67 

19 NON CURRENT LEASE LIABILITY (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

Non- Current Lease Liabilities consist of the following : As at  As at  

31st March, 2025 31st March, 2024

Lease Liability 155.92                  181.88 

155.92                  181.88 

20 OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

Other Financial Liabilities consist of the following : As at  As at  

31st March, 2025 31st March, 2024

Other Financial Liabilities 676.26                  631.51 

 676.26                  631.51 

Other Financial Liabilities includes:

Dealer’s Securities               578.04                  631.51 

21 OTHER NON CURRENT LIABILITIES (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

Other long -term liabilities consist of the following : As at  As at  

31st March, 2025 31st March, 2024

Other Non - Current Liabilities               480.60                  300.43 

              480.60                  300.43 

Other Long Term Liabilities includes:

Employee Obligation for Gratuity (Net Liabiility)               193.15                  300.43 

Provision for Unpaid Eanred Leaves               287.45                        -   

22 SHORT TERM BORROWINGS (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

Short -term borrowings consist of the followings As at  As at  

31st March, 2025 31st March, 2024

Secured loans:

i) Working Capital limits from Banks            1,028.84                        -   

ii) Current Maturities of Long Term Debt                     -                          -   

Unsecured Loans:                     -                          -   

           1,028.84                        -   

Note: The Company has used the borrowed funds from banks for the purpose, it were taken.

Detail of Short Term Borrowings is as under: (` in lakh)

Name of Facility Security Amt. Guaranteed

31-03-2025 31-03-2024

Punjab National Bank Working Capital 
Limit

Hypothication of any stock (RM/ WIP/
FG) lying in premises or in  transit. 
Hypothication of entire  book debts arising 
out of genuine business transactions.

1,028.44 -
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23 CURRENT LEASE LIABILITY (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

Current Lease Liabilities consist of the following : As at  As at  

31st March, 2025 31st March, 
2024

Lease Liability                 44.62                    47.68 

                44.62                    47.68 

24 TRADE PAYABLES (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

Trade Payables consists of following: As at  As at  

31st March, 2025 31st March, 
2024

a) Trade Payables:

a) Total Outstanding dues of micro enterprises and            4,480.47               3,116.29 

small enterprises

b) Total Outstanding dues of other than micro            3,002.26               3,742.18 

enterprises and small enterprises

b) Due to Related Parties               336.41                     3.42 

           7,819.14               6,861.89 

24.1 Trade Payables Ageing:

 Outstanding for following periods from due date of payment (` in lakh)

Particulars
 

Not Due  Less Than  
 1 Year 

 1 - 2 
Years 

 2 - 3 Years More than 
3 Years

Total

As at 31st March, 2025:

(i) MSME  4,480.47                      -         -        -                       -        4,480.47 

(ii) Others  1,749.73 1461.23 38.10 22.47 67.10      3,338.63 

(iii) Disputed dues- MSME -                      -          -         -                       -                 -   

(iv) Disputed dues- Others -                      -       -        -                       -                 -   

Total 6,230.20 1,461.23 38.10 22.47 67.10 7,819.10

 Outstanding for following periods from due date of payment (` in lakh)

Particulars
 

Not Due  Less Than  
 1 Year 

 1 - 2 
Years 

 2 - 3 Years More than 
3 Years

Total

As at 31st March, 2024: 

(i) MSME  3,116.44                      -        -      -                       -        3,116.44 

(ii) Others  2,699.46  961.09 22.01 30.64               32.25      3,745.46 

(iii) Disputed dues- MSME -                      -      -       -                       -                 -   

(iv) Disputed dues- Others -                      -     -        -                       -                 -   

Total 5,815.91 961.09 22.01 30.64 32.25 6,861.90
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25 OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

Other current liabilities consist of the following : As at  As at  

31st March, 2025  31st March, 
2024 

Other Financial Liabilities:

i) Due to  Related Parties                     -                          -   

ii) Due to Other than Related parties               471.18                  691.12 

              471.18                  691.12 

Other Financial Liabilities includes:

Cheques Issued but not presented               336.69                        -   

Capital Creditors                     -                          -   

Forward Contract Payable (Net)                  0.10                        -   

26 OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

Other current liabilities consist of the following : As at  As at  

31st March, 2025  31st March, 
2024 

Advance received from Customers               152.66                  168.60 

Due to Related Parties               291.38               2,150.24 

Other Payables               688.99                  839.36 

           1,133.03               3,158.20 

Other payables includes :

Statutory liabilities               205.45                  285.88 

Income Received in Advance                  2.24                     4.41 

27 REVENUE FROM OPERATIONS (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

2024-2025 2023-2024 

Sale of Products          88,386.24 1,11,279.85 

Other Operating Revenues               123.98                  174.17 

         88,510.22 1,11,454.02 

27.1 PARTICULARS OF SALE OF PRODUCTS (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

Particulars 2024-2025 2023-2024 

Bicycles & its parts          86,851.58 1,08,549.20 

E-Bikes & its parts               316.67                  841.48 

E- Rickshaw & its parts               741.86               1,332.55 

Export Incentives               167.73                  126.68 

Others               308.41                  429.93 

         88,386.25 1,11,279.84 

28 OTHER INCOME (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

2024-2025 2023- 2024

a) Interest Income

i) On Bank Deposits (at amortised cost)               708.64  600.79 

ii) On Loans & Advances (at amortised cost)               570.98  485.21 

iii) On Investments (at amortised cost)                     -                        -   

iv) Other interest                 38.74            1,318.36  29.91               1,115.91 

b) Dividend - - - -
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c) Net gain on Sale/ Fair valuation of Investments

i) Fair Valuation gain on Investments (net)               698.59  1,068.78 

ii) Profit on sale of current investments               935.06  829.69 

iii) Profit on sale of non-current investments                  2.33            1,635.98                      -                 1,898.47 

Royalty                     -                      31.99 

Other Non Operating Income               384.20                  143.88 

           3,338.54               3,190.25 

Other Non - Operating Income includes:

- Rent Received                 81.74                    82.04 

- Profit on Sale of property, plant & equipment                 50.98                    21.13 

- Keyman Insurance               208.90                        -   

29 COST OF MATERIALS CONSUMED (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

2024-2025 2023-2024

 % of consumption % of consumption

Imported               405.66                  0.68  872.91                     5.81 

Indigeneous 58,834.93                 99.32 69,407.76                    94.19 

Total  59,240.59               100.00 70,280.67                  100.00 

30 PURCHASE OF STOCK - IN - TRADE (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

2024-2025 2023-2024

 % of consumption  % of consumption

Imported -   0.00% - 0.00%

Indigeneous            4,034.45 100.00% 4,905.33 100.00%

Total            4,034.45 100.00% 4,905.33 100%

31 CHANGE IN INVENTORIES OF FINISHED GOODS/ (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

STOCK-IN-TRADE/ WORK-IN-PROGRESS 2024-2025 2023-2024

Opening Stock            5,280.10               7,588.37 

Less: Closing Stock           (7,555.81)              (5,280.10)

          (2,275.71)               2,308.27 

32 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

2024-2025 2023-2024

Salaries and Wages            5,833.74               5,303.67 

Contribution to Provident and other Funds               529.34                  500.43 

Staff Welfare Expenses               128.28                  118.66 

Total            6,491.36               5,922.76 

33 FINANCE COSTS (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

2024-2025 2023-2024

Interest Expenses               117.43                  165.66 

Other borrowing costs                 52.83                  103.56 

              170.26                  269.22 
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34 OTHER EXPENSES (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

2024-2025 2023-2024

Manufacturing Expenses

Stores, chemical and packing material            4,834.87  4,849.48 

Processing Charges               421.82  404.46 

Power & Fuel               354.21  342.54 

Carriage Inward                 67.31   77.89 

Repairs to Machinery                 62.05            5,740.26   59.47               5,733.84 

Selling and distribution Expenses

Clearing & Forwarding Charges            7,292.40  10,954.69 

Commission               411.97 216.61 

Advertisement            1,375.91 946.67 

Other Selling Expenses               206.96            9,287.24  133.44             12,251.41 

Establishment Expenses

Printing & Stationery                 30.95    26.89 

Postage, Telegrams & Telephone Expenses                 82.97     54.58 

Traveling Expenses               470.06  535.85 

Vehicles Maintenance Expenses                 47.06    44.38 

Repairs to Building               191.91  179.34 

Repairs & Renewals                 66.61  61.39 

Payments to Auditors                 17.65      18.00 

Charity & Donation                  6.06                   6.20 

Insurance               103.20  155.92 

Rates & Taxes                 26.21    20.26 

Legal & Professional Charges               250.99  240.46 

Bad Debts & Advances written off                  2.08   10.61 

Miscellaneous Expenses               415.76            1,711.51 337.27               1,691.15 

         16,739.01             19,676.40 

34.1 PAYMENT TO AUDITOR AS (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

2024-2025 2023-2024

i) Audit Fees                  2.00                     2.00 

ii) Tax Audit Fee                  3.50                     3.50 

iii) Others                 12.15                    12.50 

                17.65                    18.00 

35 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES: (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

2024-2025 2023-2024

a) Guarantees given by Bank 5711.12 2754.57

b) Proposed Dividend               174.09                  174.10 

c) i) The Company has given Corporate Guarantee to Banks & NBFC’s to make good any default committed by the persons who get 
finance for the purchase of E-Rickshaw of Avon Cycles Ltd. from Bank/ NBFC. The total amount of loan outstanding as on 31.03.25 
is as below:

(` in lakh) (` in lakh)

Name of Financial Institution 2024-2025 2023-2024

Indusind Bank Ltd.                 74.07                    61.46 

Mufin Green Finance Ltd.                  1.13                        -   

                75.20                    61.46 

No provision has been made in the Standalone financial statements as no default has been reported on balance sheet date.
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ii) The Company has also given Corporate guarantees to HDFC Bank Ltd. and EXIM Bank Ltd. on behalf of wholly owned subsidiary 
i.e. M/s Avon Newage Cycles Pvt. The guarantee given to the extent of loan extended by these banks. Total outstanding loan as 
on March 31, 2025 is Rs. 1816.65 Lakh.

d) Disputed excise and service tax demand amounting to Rs. 36.68 lakh (pre year 36.68 lakh) and penalty of Rs. 36.68 lakh (Previous 
year 36.87 lakh) pertaining to financial year from 2006-07 upto 2008-2009 in case of excise and April 2008 to September 2011 in 
case of Service Tax under appeal pending before Appellate authorities. Company has deposited Rs. 2.90 Lac in case of Service Tax 
and Rs. 41.52 Lakh in case of custom and Rs. 1.50Lakh as penalty with customs. Disputed Basic Custom Duty amounting to Rs. 
22.39 Lac (Previous Year - 22.39 lakh) for financial year 2018-19 and Rs. 531.43 lakh  (previous year 531.43) for Jan. 2018 to Aug. 
2022. The management is of opinion that the demand  is not sustainable.

e) Show cause notices received from Excise and Custom Department pending formal demand notices, have not been considered 
as contingent liability.

f ) Income Tax demand for Rs. 6.58 Lac are outstanding for Assessment Year 2016-17 and Rs. 29.55 for Assessment Year 2018-19.

g) Levy of Entry Tax pertaining to period 1st April 2015 to 30th June 2017 has been affirmed by West Bengal High Court. The 
company is now in process to file SLP with Supreme Court on the matter. The disputed amount of entry tax  including interest 
etc. is Rs. 86.15 Lakh for FY 2017-18, Rs. 182.69 Lakh for FY 2016-17 and Rs. 249.21 lakh for FY 2015-16.

36 On certain points, appeals/ references/ revisions are pending at various stages in respect of past year’s income tax assessments. 
Additional demands/ refunds, if any, shall be accounted for as and when these are actually paid/ refunded.

37 SCHEME OF ARRANGEMENT

National Company Law Tribunal-Chandigarh has approved the Scheme of Arrangement amongst M/s Pahwa Estates And 
Holdings Private Limited (Transferor Company) and M/s Avon Cycles Limited (Transferee Company/Demerged Company And 
M/s Avon Energies And Investments Private Limited (Resulting Company) And their respective shareholders and creditors, vide 
its order dated 03.07.2023, detail of which is given below:

1) First part of the Scheme-Amalgamation of M/s Pahwa Estates And Holdings Private Limited (Transferor Company) with M/s 
Avon Cycles Limited (Transferee Company/Demerged Company)
2) Second Part of the Scheme-Demerger of Non Core Undertaking of the Company into M/s Avon Energies And Investments 
Private Limited (Resulting Company)

As per first part of the scheme, M/s Pahwa Estates And Holdings Private Limited has been amalgamated with the Company with 
appointed date 01.04.2022. The Company has issued 73207 equity shares face value of Rs. 10 each, fully paid up, in lieu of 44100  
equity shares face value of Rs. 100 each, fully paid up to the shareholder of the M/s Pahwa Estates And Holdings Private Limited 
in the ratio of 1.66:1 i.e. for every one Equity Shares of M/s Pahwa Estates And Holdings Private Limited 1.66 Equity Shares of M/s 
Avon Cycles Limited. Further, as per this scheme, the Company (Avon Cycles Limited) has done the reduction of share capital by 
cancellation and extinguishment of 56000 equity shares of Rs. 10 each fully paid up agreegating to Rs. 5.60 Lakh.

As per second part of the scheme, Non Core Undertaking of the Company has been demerged into M/s Avon Energies And 
Investments Private Limited (AEIPL) with appointed date 01.04.2022. The Company has duly given effect of the scheme and 
accounted for necessary entries in the books of accounts of the Company in accordance with the applicable Indian Accounting 
Standards (IND-AS) and nothing is left  to report as deviation. Although necessary book entries have been passed in both 
companies but still in some cases certain income & expenditure have been received/ incurred by the transferor company and the 
said transactions have been given effect through book entries in both the companies in FY 2024-2025.

38 DIVIDENDS
Dividends paid during the year ended March 31, 2025 include an amount of Rs. 20 per equity share towards final dividend for 
the year ended March 31, 2024 and Interim Dividend of  Rs. 20 per equity share for the year ended March 31, 2025. The dividends 
declared by the Company are based on profits available for distribution as reported in the standalone financial statements of the 
Company. Accordingly, the retained earnings reported in these standalone financial statements may not be fully distributable. As 
at March 31, 2025, the income available for distribution were Rs. 4747.93 Lakh. Dividend, if approved by shareholders at Annual 
General Meeting, the dividend would result in a cash outflow of Rs. 174.09 Lac.

39 SEGMENTAL INFORMATION
The Company prepares the Standalone Financial Statements of the Company alongwith Consolidated Financial Statements. 
In accordance with IndAs 108, Operating Segments, the Company has disclosed the segment information in the consolidated 
financial statements.
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40 TAX BALANCES:

40.1 The following is analysis of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) presented in Balance Sheet:

Deferred Tax Liabilities (Net): Opening 
Balance

Recognised in 
Profit or Loss

Recognised 
in OCI

Closing Balance

Deferred Tax Assets:

Expenses deductible in Future Years               255.14             (113.37) -                  141.77 

Provision for Doubtful Debts/ Advances                  3.52               163.22 -                  166.74 

Losses allowable in future years                 79.06               (14.05) -                    65.01 

ROU Assets                 44.00               (14.44) -                    29.56 

Others                     -                   13.07                      -                      13.07 

              381.72                 34.43                      -                    416.15 

Deferred Tax Liabilities:

Property, Plant & Equipment, and Intangible Assets                 68.78                  9.84 -                    78.62 

Investment in Bonds, Mutual Funds and equity 
instruments

              471.80               335.41 -                  807.21 

ROU Assets                     -                       -   -                        -   

Others                     -                       -                        -                          -   

              540.58               345.25                      -                    885.83 

Net Deferred Tax Liability             (158.86)             (310.82)                      -                  (469.68)

40.2 Income Tax Recognised in Profit or Loss: (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

Particulars 31st March, 2025 31st March, 2025

Current Tax

In respect of current year            1,552.00  2,299.22 

Deferred Tax

In respect of Current Year               323.91 (103.53)

Total Income Tax Expense Recognised            1,875.91  2,195.69 

40.3 Income Tax recognised in Other Comprehensive Income (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

Particulars 31st March, 2025 31st March, 2024

Arising on Remeasurement of Defined benefit Obligation                 13.07   (7.35)

                13.07   (7.35)

41 EARNINGS PER EQUITY SHARES
Basic/Diluted EPS amounts are calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the company by 
weighted average number of Equity shares outstanding during the year.
The following reflects the income and share data used in the basic and diluted EPS computations:

Particulars (` in lakh)
31st March 2025

(` in lakh) 
31st March 2024

Profit/ (Loss) after Tax            4,760.92 8,238.76 

Less: Adjustment of Income Tax Earlier Years               (63.55) 80.89 

Profit afer adjustment of Income Tax Earlier Years (A)            4,697.37  8,319.65 

Weighted average number of equity shares (B)        8,70,494.00 8,70,494.00 

Earning per share : Basic/Diluted (A/B)`               539.62 955.74 

42 Interest paid  includes Rs. 77.34 Lakh for F/Y 2024-2025 and Rs. 99.10 lakh for F/Y 2023-2024 paid to Directors.
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43 Charity & Donation includes Rs. 0.25 lakh contributed to political parties during Financial year 2024-25, Rs. Nil during Financial 
Year 2023-24 , detail of which is as below: 

(` in lakh) (` in lakh)

Party Name 31st March, 2025 31st March, 2024

Bihar Pradesh Janta Dal                  0.25                      -   

                 0.25                      -   

44 Interest received of Rs. 1317.72 lakh (Previous Year Rs. 1096.28 lakh) includes Tax deducted at source of Rs. 61.80 Lakh (Previous 
Year Rs. 114.47 lakh).

45 Expenditure on insurance includes Rs. 13.61 Lakh (Previous year Rs. 44.98 lakh) being premiums paid under Keyman Insurance 
schemes to cover risks on life of Key Management personnel. Benefits to the Company under the said scheme depend on various 
factors including resignation/survival of the said personnel or premature surrender of the policy. Such benefits will be accounted 
for in the year, in which they become due.

46 Income -tax assessments of the Company have been completed upto the accounting year ended 31.03.2024 relevant to the 
assessment year 2024-2025.

47 In accordance with section 135 of Companies Act, 2013, the company is covered by the provision of said section:

(` in lakh) (` in lakh)

Particulars   2024-2025 2023-2024

i) The amount required to be spent under CSR Obligation 132.83 126.52

ii) The amount of expenditure incurred during the year 137.41 129.46

iii) Shortfall at the end of the year -4.58 -2.94

iv) Total of Previous Years Shortfall 0.00                      -   

v) Movement of Provision for unspent CSR:

Opening                     -                     3.54 

Provision created during the year                     -                        -   

Spent during the year                     -                     3.54 

Closing                     -                        -   

vi) Detail of nature of CSR Expenditure incurred during the year: (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

  Particulars   2024-2025 2023-2024

a) Animal Welfare                    5.08                   2.00 

b) Welfare of Armed Forces                    0.12                      -   

c) Education                   31.64  32.65 

d) Environment                   27.74     11.80 

e) Health                   69.63                 62.71 

f ) Hunger                    2.00                   0.50 

g) Sports                    1.20                 11.24 

h) Art & Culture                       -                     8.31 

i) Swachh Bharat                       -                     0.25 

  Total                 137.41               129.46 

48 In the opinion of the Directors, current assets, loans and advances have a value on realisation in the ordinary course of business 
atleast equal to the value at which they are stated in the Balance Sheet.

49 Previous year’s figures have been regrouped/ recasted/ rearranged/ reclassified where necessary to make them comparable.
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50 Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises

a) Disclosures required under Section 22 of the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act,2006

(` in lakh) (` in lakh)

 PARTICULARS  2024-2025 2023-2024

A) (i) Principal amount remaining unpaid at the end of accounting year  4,480.47               3,116.29 

(ii) Interest due on above                       -                          -   

B) The amount of interest paid by the Company in terms of section 16 of the MSMED, along 
with amount of payment made to the suppliers beyond the appointed date during the 
accounting year.

                     -   
 
 

                       -   
 
 

C) The amount of interest accrued and remaining unpaid at the end of the financial year.                      -                          -   

D) The amount of interest due and payable for the period of delay in making payment 
(which have been paid but beyond the due date during the year) but without adding 
interest specified under the MSMED

                     -                          -   

E) The amount of further interest remaining due and payable in succeeding years,until such 
interest is actually paid.

                     -                          -   

b) The above information has been compiled in respect of parties to the extent to which they could be identified as Micro, Small 
and Medium Enterprises on the basis of information available with the Company.

51 Government Grants:

(` in lakh)
2024-2025

(` in lakh)
2023-2024

At the Beginning 6.82 6.82

Provided during the year                     -                        -   

Received/ Adjusted during the year                     -                        -   

At the End of the year 6.82 6.82

52 Significant Accounting Judgements, estimates and assumptions:
The preparation of the Company’s standalone financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the accompanying disclosures, 
and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that 
require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or liabilities affected in future periods.

Judgements:
In the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies, management has made following judgements, which have the 
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the standalone financial statements:

Estimates & Assumptions
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimating uncertainty at the reporting date, that have 
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial 
year, are described below. The Company based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the standalone 
financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments, however, may change 
due to market changes or circumstances arising that are beyond the control of the Company. Such changes are reflected in the 
assumptions when they occur.

Defined Benefit Plans (gratuity benefits)
The cost of the defined benefit gratuity plan and other post-employment benefits and the present value of the gratuity obligation 
are determined using accturial valuations. An actuarial valuation involves making various assumptions that may differ from 
actual developments in the future. These include the determination of the discount rate, future salary increases and mortality 
rates. Due to the complexities involved in the valuation and its long-term nature, a defined benefit obligation is highly sensitive 
to changes in these assumptions. All assumptions are reviewed at each reporting date.
The parameter most subject to change is the discount rate. In determining the appropriate discount rate for plans operated in 
India, the management considers the interest rates of government bonds in currencies consistent with the currencies of the 
post-employment benefit obligation.
The mortality rate is based on publicly available mortality tables for the specific countries. Those mortality tables tend to 
change only at interval in response to demographic changes. Future salary increases and gratuity increases are based on 
expected future inflation rates. Further details about gratuity obligations are given in Note 60.
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Fair Value Measurement of Financial Instruments
When the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the balance sheet cannot be measured based on 
quoted prices in active markets, their fair value is measured using other valuation techniques. The inputs to these models are 
taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgement is required in establishing 
fair values. Judgements include considerations of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk and volatility. Changes in assumptions 
about these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments.

Impairment of Non- Financial Assets
Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the 
higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The fair value less costs of disposal calculation is based on 
available data from binding sales transactions, conducted at arm’s length, for similar assets or observable market prices less 
incremental costs for disposing of the asset. The value in use calculation is based on a DCF model.

53 Financial risk management objective and policies
The Company’s principal financial liabilities comprise loans and borrowings, trade and other payables. The main purpose of these 
financial liabilities is to finance the Company’s operations and to support its operations. The Company’s financial assets include 
loans, trade and other receivables, and cash & cash equivalents that derive directly from its operations.

a) Market Risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market
prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: interest rate risk, currency risk and other price risks. Financial instruments 
affected by market risk include loans and borrowings, deposits and payables/receivables in foreign currencies.

i) Interest Rate Risk:
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
market interest rates. The Company’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Company’s 
long term debt obligations with floating interest rates . The company is carrying its borrowings primarily at variable rates. For 
floating rates borrowings the analysis is prepared assuming the amount of the liability outstanding at the end of the reporting 
period was outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis point Increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk internally 
to Key management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates .

(` in lakh)
31st March, 2025

(` in lakh)
31st March, 2024

Variable Rate Borrowings            1,028.84                      -   

Fixed Rate Borrowings               352.13    728.67 

Interest Rate Senstivity
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates on that portion of loans and 
borrowings affected. With all other variable held ‘constant, the Company’s profit before tax is affected through the impact on 
floating rate borrowings, as follows:

Effect on Profit Before Tax

(` in lakh)
31st March, 2025 

(` in lakh)
31st March, 2024 

Increase by 50 Basis Points                  5.14                      -   

Decrease by 50 Basis Points                 (5.14)                      -   

b) Foreign Currency Risks
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of an exposure will fluctuate because of changes in 
international currencies as part of the business is transacted in foreign currencies and consequentaly the company is exposed 
to foreign exchange risk. The Company’s exposure in foreign currency is in loans, trade receivables and advances and trade 
payables.

i) Particulars of Unhedged Foreign Currency Exposure as at reporting date:

Particulars (USD in lakh)
 31st March 2025 

(USD in lakh)
 31st March 2024 

Trade Receivables                 15.40      16.57 

EEFC Balance                     -                        -   

Loan                     -                        -   

Trade Payables                     -                        -   

Foreign Currency Senstivity
The following table demonstrate the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in foreign currency exchange rates, with all 
other variables held constant. The impact on the Company’s profit before tax is due to changes in the fair value of monetary 
assets and liabilities.
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(` in lakh)
31st March, 2025 

(` in lakh)
31st March, 2024 

5% Increase 5% Decrease 5% Increase 5% Decrease

USD

Increase/ (Decrease) in Profit or Loss                 65.91               
(65.91)

  69.08                  (69.08)

ii) Foreign Currency Exposure (Forward Booking)
The foreign currency exposure of the Company as on reporting date is as under. The company does not use forward contracts 
for speculative purpose.

(USD in lakh)
 31st March 2025 

(USD in lakh)
 31st March 2024 

Forward Contracts against Exports                  2.00                   2.00 

Forward Contracts against Imports                     -                        -   

iii) Price Risk
The Company’s exposure price risk arises from investments held and classified in the balance sheet either as fair value through 
other comprehensive income or at fair value through profit or loss. To manage the price risk arising from investments, the 
Company diversifies its portfolio of assets.

B) Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk that counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract, leading to 
a financial loss. The Company is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities (primarily trade receivables)

Credit Risk Management
The Company assesses and manages credit risk based on internal credit rating system. Internal credit rating is performed for each 
class of financial instruments with different characteristics. . The Company assigns the following credit ratings to each class of 
financial assets based on the assumptions, inputs and factors specific to the class of financial assets.
(i) Lowcredit risk on reporting date
(ii) Moderate Credit Risk
The Company provides for expected credit loss based on the following:

Asset Group Basis of Categorisation Provision for expected credit loss

Low Credit Risk Cash and cash equivalents, 
other bank balances, loans, 
trade receivables and other 
financial assets

12 month expected credit loss

Moderate credit risk Trade receivables and other 
financial assets

Life time expected credit loss or 
12 month expected credit loss

Based on business environment in which the Company operates, a default on a financial asset is considered when the counter 
party fails to make payments within the agreed time period as per contract. Loss rates reflecting defaults are based on actual 
credit loss experience and considering differences between current and historical economic conditions.
Assets are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery, such as a debtor declaring bankruptcy or a litigation
decided against the Company. The Company continues to engage with parties whose balances are written off and attempts to 
enforce repayment. Recoveries made are recognised in statement of profit and loss.

Cash & cash equivalents and bank deposits
Credit risk related to cash and cash equivalents and bank deposits is managed by only accepting highly rated banks and 
diversifying bank deposits and accounts in different banks across the country.

Trade receivables
The Company closely monitors the credit-worthiness of the debtors through internal systems that are configured to define credit 
limits of customers, thereby, limiting the credit risk to pre-calculated amounts. The Company assesses increase in credit risk 
on an ongoing basis for amounts receivable that become past due and default is considered to have occurred when amounts 
receivable become one year past due.

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost
Other financial assets measured at amortized cost includes loans and advances to employees, security deposits and others. 
Credit risk related to these other financial assets is managed by monitoring the recoverability of such amounts continuously.

i) Trade Receivables
Customer credit risk is managed by each business location subject to the Company’s established policy, procedures and control 
relating to customer credit risk management. Credit quality of a customer is assessed and individual credit limits are defined in 
accordance with the assessment both in terms of number of days and amount.

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date on an individual basis for major clients. In addition, a large number 
of minor receivables are grouped into homogenous groups and assessed for impairment collectively. The maximum exposure 
to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of each class of financial assets disclosed in Notes. Trade receivables are 
unsecured but considered goods subject to provision made thereon.
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Trade Receivables (` in lakh)
31st March, 2025 

(` in lakh)
31st March, 2024 

Not Due            6,257.10    9,554.08 

Up to Six Months Past Due            6,622.95    504.10 

6 Months to 1 Year Past Due               343.00     310.68 

More Than 1 Year Past Due            1,090.88      1,143.25 

         14,313.93     11,512.11 

Provision for Doubtful Debts

Provision for Doubtful Debts -648.52  (450.82)

Total          13,665.41   11,061.29 

(` in lakh)
31st March, 2025 

(` in lakh)
31st March, 2024 

Reconciliation of Provision for Doubtful Debts

Balance at the Begining of the Year               450.82      321.64 

Add: Provision made during the year               197.70       129.18 

Less: Provision Written Back during the Year                     -       -   

Balance at the end of the Year               648.52     450.82 

(C) Liquidity risk
Liquidity Risk refers to the risk that the Company meet its financial obligations. The objective of liquidity risk management is to 
maintain sufficient liquidity and ensure that funds are available for use as per requirements.
The Company consistently generated sufficient cash flows from operations to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall 
due. The tables below provide details regarding contractual maturities of significant financial liabilities as at:

(` in lakh)
31st March, 2025 

(` in lakh)
31st March, 2024 

Floating rate

(a) Expiring within one year (Bank overdraft and other facilities)

Secured

- Working Capital Limits            1,028.84                      -   

(b) Expiring beyond one year (Bank loans) 

Secured

-Term loan from banks                     -                        -   

ii) Maturity Patterns of borrowings (` in lakh)

Less than 1Year 1 to 2 years 2 to 5 years More than 5 yrs

Year ended 31st March, 2025

Contractual Maturities of borrowings            1,028.84               352.13                      -                          -   

Contractual Maturities of trade payables            7,819.14                     -                        -                          -   

Contractual Maturities of other financial liabilities               515.80                 84.91   71.02                  676.26 

Total            9,363.78               437.04      71.02                  676.26 

Year ended 31st March, 2024

Contractual Maturities of borrowings                     -                 728.67                      -                          -   

Contractual Maturities of trade payables            6,861.90                     -                        -                          -   

Contractual Maturities of other financial liabilities               738.80               665.50  147.88                        -   

Total            7,600.70  1,394.17  147.88                        -   



81

54 Capital Management
For the purpose of the Company’s capital management, capital includes issued equity capital and all other equity reserves 
attributable to the equity holders of the Company. The primary objective of the Company’s capital management is to maximise 
the shareholder value.
The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments in light of changes in economic conditions and the 
requirements of the financial covenants. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the dividend 
payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, 
which is net debt divided by total capital plus net debt. The Company includes within net debt, interest bearing loans and 
borrowings, trade payables, less cash and cash equivalents.

(` in lakh)
31st March, 2025 

(` in lakh)
31st March, 2024 

Borrowings            1,380.97 728.67 

Trade Payables            7,819.14 6,861.90 

Less: Cash & Cash Equivalents  (18,627.20)  (22,844.96)

Net Debt           (9,427.09)   (15,254.39)

Equity          69,831.09 65,393.75 

Capital & Net Debt          60,404.00 50,139.35 

Gearing Ratio -15.61% -30.42%

In order to achieve this overall objective, the Group’s capital management, amongst other things, aims to ensure that it meets 
financial covenants attached to the interest-bearing loans and borrowings that define capital structure requirements. Breaches in 
meeting the financial covenants would permit the bank to immediately call loans and borrowings. There have been no breaches 
in the financial covenants of any interest- bearing loans and borrowing in the current period. No changes were made in the 
objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the year ended 31st March 2025.

55 Expenditure Incurred on Research & Development

(` in lakh)

Particulars 2024-2025 2023-2024

 -  Capital Expenditure                     -   2.40 

 -  Revenue Expenditure               164.50               158.20 

              164.50               160.60 

56 POST EMPLOYMENT OBLIGATIONS - GRATUITY
The Company provides for gratuity for employees as per the Payment of Gratuity Act, 1972. Employees who are in continuous 
service for a period of 5 years are eligible for gratuity. The amount of gratuity payable on retirement/termination is the 
employees last drawn basic salary per month computed proportionately for 15 days salary multiplied for the number of years 
of service. For the funded plan the Company makes contributions to LIC of India.

(` in lakh)

a) Changes in Defined Benefit Obligation 31st March 2025 31st March 2024

Gratuity Plan            1,253.94             1,103.55 

b) Changes in present value of defined obligation representing reconciliation of opening and closing balances thereof are as 
follows :

(` in lakh)

  For the year For the year

Changes in Defined Benefit Obligation ended on 31st ended on 31st 

  March 2025 March 2024

Present value obligation as at the start of the year            1,103.55             1,006.58 

Interest costs                 79.40                 75.15 

Current Service costs               114.02                 99.93 

Benefits paid               (97.68)                (59.57)

Re-measurement (or Actuarial) (gain) / loss arising from:                        -   

- change in financial assumptions                 53.51                 25.45 

- experience Variance                  1.15                (43.99)

Present value obligation as at the end of the year            1,253.94             1,103.55 
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c) Changes in the fair value of plan assets representing reconciliation of opening and closing balances thereof as follows :

(` in lakh)

Change in fair value of plan assets
 

For the year
ended on 31st 

March 2025

For the year
ended on 31st 

March 2024

Fair value of plan assets as at the start of the year            1,020.69               925.17 

Return on plan assets                 73.44                 69.07 

Actuarial gains/ (losses)                  2.73                   3.30 

Contributions by employer                 61.61                 82.73 

Benefits paid               (97.68)                (59.57)

Fair value of plan assets as at the end of the year            1,060.79             1,020.69 

d) Reconciliation of present value of defined benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets

(` in lakh)

Particulars
 
 

For the year
ended on 31st 

March 2025

For the year
ended on 31st 

March 2024

Present value obligation as at the end of the year            1,253.94             1,103.55 

Fair value of plan assets as at the end of the year            1,060.79             1,020.69 

Net asset/(obligation) recognized in balance sheet              (193.15)                (82.85)

e) The amounts recognised in the statement of profit and loss are as follows :

(` in lakh)

Particulars  For the year
ended on 31st 

March 2025

For the year
ended on 31st 

March 2024
Amount recognized in the statement of profit and loss 

Current service cost               114.02                 99.93 

Interest on obligation                  5.96                   6.08 

Total included in employee benefit expense               119.97               106.01 

f ) Amount recognised in the statement of Other Comprehensive Income

(` in lakh)

Particulars
 
 

For the year
ended on 31st 

March 2025

For the year
ended on 31st 

March 2024

Change in Financial Assumptions                 53.51                 25.45 

Change in Demographic Assumptions                        -   

Experience Variance i.e. Actual Experience vs Assumptions                  1.15                (43.99)

Actuarial Gain/(Loss) for the year                 (2.73)                 (3.30)

Components of defined benefit cost recognised in OCI                 51.93                (21.85)

g) Principal actuarial assumptions at the balance sheet date: (` in lakh)

Particulars  For the year
ended on 31st 

March 2025

For the year
ended on 31st 

March 2024
Accturial Assumptions 

Discount rate (per annum) 6.75% 7.45%

Salary escalation rate (per annum) 9.00% 9.00%

The discount rate indicated above reflects the estimated timing and currency of benefit payments. It is based on the yields/ 
rates available on applicable bonds as on the current valuation date.
The Salary growth rate indicated above is the Company’s best estimate of an increase in salary of employees in future years, 
determined considering the general trend in inflation, senority, promotions, past experience and other relevant factors such 
as demand and supply in employment market, etc.
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h) Demographic Assumptions:

The Principal Demographic Assumptions used in the valuation are shown in the table below: (` in lakh)

Particulars For the year
ended on 31st 

March 2025,

For the year
ended on 31st 

March 2024,
Demographic Assumptions 

Mortality Rate (% of IALM 2012-14) 100.00% 100.00%

Normal Retirement Age 58 Years 58 Years

Attrition/ Withdrawal rate, based on age: (per annum)    

Upto 30 Years 3.00% 3.00%

31 to 44 Years 2.00% 2.00%

Above 44 Years 1.00% 1.00%

Attrition rate indicated above represents Company’s best estimate of employee turnover in future (other than on account 
of retirement, death or disablement) determined considering various factors such as nature of business, retention policy, 
industry factors, past experience etc.

i) Senstivity Analysis:
Significant acturial assumptions for the determination of the defined benefit obligation are discount rate, expected salary 
increase and mortality. The senstivity analysis below have been determined based on reasonably possible changes of the 
assumptions occuring at the end of the reporting period, while holding all other assumptions constant. The result of senstivity 
analysis is given below:

(` in lakh)

Particulars 
 
 

For the year 
ended on 31st  

March 2025

For the year
ended on 31st 

March 2024

Defined Benefit Obligation (base)             1,253.94 1,103.55 

Particulars
 
 

(` in lakh)

For the year ended on
31st  March, 2025

For the year ended on
31st  March, 2024

  Decrease Increase Decrease Increase

Discount Rate (-/+1%)            1,389.36            1,140.87 1,217.10               1,008.33 

(% change compared to base due to senstivity) 10.80% -9.00% 10.29% -8.63%

Salary Growth Rate (-/+1%)            1,145.08            1,379.56 101.50               1,209.60 

(% change compared to base due to senstivity) -8.70% 10.00% -90.80% 9.61%

Attrition Rate (-/+ 50% of attrition rates)            1,271.85            1,238.01 1,115.50               1,092.91 

(% change compared to base due to senstivity) 1.40% -1.30% 1.08% -0.96%

Mortality Rate (-/+ 10% of mortality rates)            1,254.46            1,253.42 1,103.87               1,103.22 

(% change compared to base due to senstivity) 0.00% 0.00% 0.03% -0.03%

Please note that the sensitivity analysis presented above may not be representative of the actual change in the defined benefit 
obligation as it is unlikely that the change in assumptions would occur in isolation of the another as some of the assumptions 
may be correlated.

j) Expected Cash Flows over the next (valued on undiscounted basis): 

Particulars 

Expected Cash Flows over the next (valued on undiscounted basis) (` in lakh)

1 Year                278.12 

2 to 5 years                282.55 

6 to 10 years                360.38 

More than 10 years             2,083.50 
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57 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS - EARNED LEAVE PLAN

Assets and Liability (Balance Sheet Position)

Particulars (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

31st March, 2025 31st March, 2024

Present Value of obligation               369.55 262.48 

Fair Value of Plan Assets                     -                       -   

Surplus/(Deflicit)             (369.55) (262.48)

Effects of Asset Celling,if any                     -                       -   

Net Asset/(Liability)             (369.55)  (262.48)

Bifurcation of Present Value of obligation at the end of the year as per revised schedule III of the Companies Act 2013

Particulars (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

31st March, 2025 31st March, 2024

Currenr Liability(Short Term)                 82.10                 44.90 

Non-Currenr Liability(Long Term)               287.45               217.58 

Present Value of obligation as at the end               369.55               262.48 

Expenses Recognized in income Statement

Particulars (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

31st March, 2025 31st March, 2024

Present value of obligation as at the beginning               262.48               259.41 

Present value of obligation as at the end               369.55               262.48 

Benefit Payment                 32.82                 28.07 

Actual return on plan assets                     -                       -   

Transfer in/(out)                     -                       -   

Expenses Recognized in income statement               139.89                 31.15 

Financial Assumptions

The Principal financial assumptions used in valuation are shown in the below table :

Particulars (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

31st March, 2025 31st March, 2024

Discount rate (per annum) 6.75% 7.20%

Salary Growth rate(per annum) 9.00% 9.00%

The Discount Rate indicated above reflects the esteemed timing and currency of benefit Payments. it is based on the yields/
rate available on applicable bonds as on the current valuation date. The salary growth rate indicated above is the company’s 
best estimate of an increase in salary of the employees in future years , determined considering the general trend in inflation, 
seniority, promotions, past experience and other relevant factors such as demand ans supply in employment market etc.

Demographic Assumptions

The Principals demographics assumptions used in the valuation are shown in the table below :

Particulars As on

31st March, 2025 31st March, 2024

Mortality Rate 100% 100%

Normal retirement age 58 Years 58 Years

Attrition/withdrawl rate (Per annum)    

Upto 30 Years 3.00% 3.00%

31 - 44 Years 2.00% 2.00%

Above 44 Years 1.00% 1.00%

Rate of Leave Availment (per annum) 0.00% 0.00%

Rate of Leave Encashment during employment (per annum) 0.00% 0.00%
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Attrition rate indicated above represents the company’s best estimate of employee trunover in future (other than on account 
of retirement, death or disablement) determined considering various factors such as nature of bussiness ,retention policy,past 
experience etc.

Sensitivity Analysis

Significant acturial assumptions for the determination of the leave liability are discount rate,expected salary increase and 
mortality. The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based on reasonably possible changes of the assumptions 
occuring at the reporting period,while holding al other assumptions constant. The results of senstivity analysis is given below

Particulars 31st March, 2025 31st March, 2024

Present Value of obligation (Base)               369.55                   262 

Particulars
 
 

 (` in lakh)

For the year ended on For the year ended on

31st  March, 2025 31st  March, 2024

  Decrease Increase Decrease Increase

Discount Rate (-/+1%)               410.66               334.90  296.26                  234.58 

(% change compared to base due to senstivity) 11.10% -9.40% 12.87% -10.63%

Salary Growth Rate (-/+1%)               335.27               409.34 234.76                  295.32 

(% change compared to base due to senstivity) -9.30% 10.80% -10.56% 12.51%

Attrition Rate (-/+ 50% of attrition rates)               374.35               365.30  266.42                  259.05 

(% change compared to base due to senstivity) 1.30% -1.10% 1.50% -1.31%

Mortality Rate (-/+ 10% of mortality rates)               369.73               369.37 262.60                  262.36 

(% change compared to base due to senstivity) 0.00% 0.00% 0.05% -0.05%

Please note that the senstivity analysis presented above may not be representive of the actual Change in the present value of 
obligation as its is unlikely that the change in assumptions would occur in isolation of one another as some of the assumptions 
may be correlated. There is no change in the method of valtion for the prior period. for change in assumptions please refer to 
sector 4 above,where assumptions for prior period,if applicable,are given.

Maturity Profile of  Defined Benefit Obligation

Weighted average duration(based on discounted cashflows) 10 Years

Expected cash flows over the next (Valued on undiscounted basis Indian Rupees 
(INR)

1 year                 82.09 

2 to5 years                 41.46 

6 to 10 years                 66.48 

More than 10 years               693.52 
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b) Related Party Transactions :                                                                                                                                                                                                                         (` in lakh)

Transactions Subsidiaries Associates / Joint 
Ventures

Entities with Control or 
Joint Control by KMP

Key Management 
Personnel

Other Related Parties

  2024-2025 2023-2024 2024-2025 2023-2024 2024-2025 2023-2024 2024-2025 2023-2024 2024-2025 2023-2024

Rent Paid - - - - 54.90 37.61 - - - -

Remuneration Paid - - - - -   - 2,017.21 1,835.06 - -

Interest Paid - - - - -   - 58.76 48.48 18.59 50.62 

Interest Received 241.86 147.28 113.05 75.64 -   - - - - -

Rent Received - - - - 79.73 73.60 - - - -

Service Charges 
Received

- - - - 1.00 0.07 - - - -

Dividend Paid - - - - -   - 151.69 156.58  0.33   1.93 

Royalty - - - - -   31.99 - - - -

Food Bill - - - - 5.80 7.17 - - - -

Purchase 528.29 971.79 - - 3.72 - - - 3,604.58 5,083.15 

Sale 248.74 168.59 - - 1.39 1.93 - - 9.72 109.49 

Sale/ Trf.  of Fixed 
Assets

- - - - -   -   - - - -

Sitting Fees - - - - -   - 1.50 1.70 - -

Re-imbursement 
of expenses

181.33  65.21 144.83 71.95 9.23 45.54 - - - -

Loan Given 3,130.00 2,286.00 - 600.00 - - - - - -

Loan Received 
Back

841.86 1,650.72 - - - - - - - -

Legal & profession-
al Charges

- - - - -   - - - - -

Payment of Misc. 
Charges

- - - - - - - - - -

Purchase of Shares - - - - - - - - - -

Debit balances 
outstanding as at  
the closing

4,701.97 2,158.76 1,716.75 1,683.42 7.22 47.48 - - - -

Credit balances as 
at the closing

13.72 1.52 - - 1.71 4.16  59.92 53.29 319.39 165.62 

58 Related Party Transactions
a) List of Related Parties and Relationship Party

1 Parent
NIL

2 Subsidiaries
Avon Newage Cycles Pvt. Ltd.

3 Associates
Avon Infrabiz Pvt. Ltd.

4 Entities with Control or Joint Control by KMP
Avon Energies & Investments Pvt. Ltd.
Avon Fitness Machines Pvt. Ltd.
Hans Raj Pahwa & Bros.

5 Key Management personnel
Sh. Onkar Singh Pahwa
Sh. Rishi Pahwa
Sh. Mandeep Singh Pahwa
Mrs. Gurpreet Kaur
Sh. Anil Arora
Sh. B.S. Dhiman
Sh. Bhavdeep Sardana

6 Other Related Parties
Smt. Sarabjit Kaur Pahwa
Smt. Pallavi Pahwa
Smt. Jasmine Pahwa
Aditragh Enterprises
NRG Enterprises
Rolex Metals Pvt. Ltd.
Wheel Crafts
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59.  Fair Value Measurement

(a) Financial Instruments by Category 
For amortised cost instruments, Carrying values represents the best estimates of Fair Value

 
 
Particulars

(` in lakh)
 31st March 2025 

(` in lakh)
 31st March 2024 

FVTPL FVOCI Amortised 
Cost

FVTPL FVOCI Amortised 
Cost

Financial Assets            

Investments        12,181.46               -                     -            11,490.67                 -                      -   

Trade Receivables                   -                 -          13,665.41                     -                   -           11,061.29 

Other Financial Assets                   -                 -          11,097.26                     -                   -             9,572.96 

Cash & Cash Equivalents         9,775.27               -           8,851.93          12,377.60                 -           10,467.36 

Other Bank Balances                   -                 -           9,019.23                     -                   -             8,376.51 

Total  21,956.73               -   42,633.82 23,868.27                 -    39,478.12 

Financial Liabilities            

Borrowings                   -                 -           1,380.97                     -                   -               728.67 

Trade Payables                   -                 -           7,819.14                     -                   -             6,861.90 

Other Financial Liabilities                   -                 -           1,347.98                     -                   -             1,552.19 

Total                   -                 -       10,548.09                     -                   -    9,142.76 

(b) Fair value measurement hierarchy for assets and liabilities
The Company has classified its financial instruments into the three levels prescribed under the accounting standards. An explanation of 
each level follows underneath the table.

Financial assets and liabilities
measured at fair value-recurring fair 
value measurements

 (` in lakh) 
31st March 2025

(` in lakh)
31st March 2024 

Particulars Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial Assets            

Investments         7,866.01               -           4,315.45            7,192.94                 -             4,297.72 

Cash & Cash Equivalents         9,775.27               -                     -            12,377.60                 -                      -   

Total        17,641.28               -           4,315.45          19,570.54                 -             4,297.72 

Financial assets and liabilities 
measured at amortised cost for 
which fair values are disclosed

 (` in lakh) 
31st March 2025

(` in lakh)
31st March 2024 

Particulars Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial Assets            

Investments                   -                 -                     -                       -                   -                      -   

Trade Receivables                   -                 -          13,665.41                     -                   -           11,061.29 

Other Financial Assets                   -                 -          11,097.26                     -                   -             9,572.96 

Cash & Cash Equivalents                   -                 -           8,851.93                     -                   -           10,467.36 

Other Bank Balances                   -                 -           9,019.23                     -                   -             8,376.51 

Total                   -                 -   42,633.82                     -                   -   39,478.12 

Financial Liabilities            

Borrowings                   -                 -           1,380.97                     -                   -               728.67 

Trade Payables                   -                 -           7,819.14                     -                   -             6,861.90 

Other Financial Liabilities                   -                 -           1,347.98                     -                   -             1,552.19 

Total                   -                 -    10,548.09                     -                   -   9,142.76 
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c. Fair value of financial assets and liabilities measured at amortised cost

 
Particulars 

 

(` in lakh)
 31st March 2025 

(` in lakh)
 31st March 2024 

Carrying
Amount

Fair
Value

Carrying
Amount

Fair
Value

Financial Assets

Investments                -                     -                       -                   -   

Margin Money          132.33            132.33               668.57   668.57 

Employee Loans          236.94            236.94               153.23   153.23 

Other Financial Assets     42,264.55        42,264.55          38,656.32 38,656.32 

Total     42,633.82        42,633.82          39,478.12 39,478.12 

Financial Liabilities

Security Deposits          578.04            578.04               631.51    631.51 

Other Financial Liabilities       9,970.05         9,970.05            8,511.25    8,511.25 

Total     10,548.09        10,548.09            9,142.76    9,142.76 

The carrying amounts of trade receivables, trade payables, advances to employees, cash and cash equivalents and other bank balances 
are considered to be the same as their fair values, due to short term nature.
The fair values for FMP’s, Margin Money, Employee Loans and security deposits were calculated based on cash flows discounted using 
a current lending rate. They are classified as level 3 fair values in the fair value hierarchy due to the inclusion of unobservable inputs 
including counter party credit risk.

Fair Value Hierarchy:
Level 1: Level 1 hierarchy includes financial instruments measured using quoted prices. This includes listed equity instruments, mutual funds that have 
quoted price. The fair value of all equity instruments which are traded in the stock exchanges is valued using the closing price as at the reporting period. 
The mutual funds are valued using the closing NAV.
Level 2 : Value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined using valuation techniques which maximise the use of 
observable market data and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, 
the instrument is included in Level 2.
Level 3 : If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included in level 3. This is the case for unlisted 
equity securities, contingent consideration and indemnification asset included in level 3.
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xi) Ratios

Sr. 
No.

Ratio Numerator Denominator Current year Previous year Variation

1 Current ratio (in times) Total current assets Total current liabilities        6.68 6.16 8.50%

2 Debt-Equity ratio (in times) Debt consists of 
borrowings and lease 
liabilities.

Total equity       0.02  0.01 54.56%

3 Debt service coverage ratio 
(in times)

Earning for Debt Service 
= Net Profit after taxes 
+ Non-cash operating 
expenses + Interest 
+ Other non-cash 
adjustments

Debt service = Interest 
and lease payments + 
Principal repayments

  10.61 13.75 -22.87%

4 Return on equity ratio (in %) Profit for the year less 
Preference dividend (if 
any)

Average total equity 7.04% 13.40% -47.46%

5 Inventory Turnover Ratio Sales Average Inventory   12.87  16.17 -20.44%

6 Trade receivables turnover 
ratio (in times)

Sales Average trade 
receivables

    7.15 10.80 -33.79%

7 Trade payables turnover 
ratio (in times)

Cost of Material 
Consumed + Purchase 
of Stock -in - trade + 
Change in Inventories of 
Raw Material & Stores

Average trade 
payables

   9.28  12.06 -23.04%

60 Other Statutory Information:

i) The Company has disclosed investment property at Cost.

ii) The Company has not revalued  its Property, Plant and Equipment (including Right of Use Assets) during the year.

iii) The Company has not revalued its intangible Assets during the year.

iv) The Company has made Loans and advances to following related parties (as defined under Companies Act) that are repayable 
on demand:

As at 31.03.2025 As at 31.03.2024

  Type of Borrower
 

Amount
Outstanding

(` in lakh)

%age to Total 
 Loans & Advances

 

Amount
Outstanding

(` in lakh)

%age to Total 
Loans & 

Advances
 

a) To Subsidiaries 4688.00 139.35%             2,158.00 31.20%

b) To Associates 1716.75 51.03%             1,683.08 24.33%

c) To other Related Parties 0.00 0.00%                      -   0.00%

  

v) There are no intangible assets under development.

vi) There are no proceedings initiated or pending against the Company for holding any benami property under the Benami 
Transactions (Prohibition) Act, 1988.

vii) The quarterly returns or statements of Current Assets filed by the Company with banks or Financial Institutions are in agreement 
with books of accounts.

viii) The Company is not declared wilfull defaulter by Banks, Financial Institutions or any other lender.

ix) The Company has not done any transactions directly with struck off Companies u/s 248 of Companies Act, 2013 or u/s 560 of 
Companies Act, 1956.

x) No Registration of Charge is pending with ROC. Following satisfaction of charge is pending with ROC:

Sr 
No.

Name of Financial Institution Amount Reason

1 Industrial Finance Corporation of 
India

              270.00 It is historic in nature and it involves practical challenge in  
obtaining NOC from them  despite repayment of the loan. Charge 
will be satisfied as and when it receives NOC  from the charge 
holder. 
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8 Net capital turnover ratio (in 
times)

Sales Average working 
capital (i.e. Total 
current assets less 
Total current liabilities)

 1.54 2.23 -31.06%

9 Net profit ratio (in %) Profit for the year Sales 7.30% 9.38% -22.15%

10 Return on capital employed 
(in %)

Profit before tax and 
finance costs

Capital employed = 
Net worth + Lease 
liabilities + Deferred 
tax liabilities + Total 
Debt

9.47% 16.09% -41.16%

11 Return on investment (in %) Income generated from 
invested funds

Average invested 
funds in treasury 
investments

8.05% 8.24% -2.35%

Reasons for variation in excess of 25%:

1. Debt Equity Ratio: Increase is due to increase in debt of the Company.

2. Return on Equity: Return on equity has decreased mainly due to decrease in profit of company.

3. Trade Receivable Ratio: Reduced due to decrease in turnover and increase in debtors outstanding.

4. Net Capital Turnover Ratio: Reduced due to reduced institutional turnover of company.

5. Return on Capital Employed: Reduced due to lesser profits as compared to previous year.

xii) The Company has not advanced or loaned or invested funds to any other persons or entities, including foreign entities 
(Intermediaries) with the understanding that the

Intermediary shall:

(a) Directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the 
company (Ultimate Beneficiaries), or,

(b) Provide any guarantee, security or the like to or on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.

xiii) The Company has not received any fund from any persons or entities, including foreign entities (Funding Party) with the 
understanding (whether recorded in writing or

otherwise) that the Company shall:

(a) Directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the 
Funding Party (Ultimate Beneficiaries), or,

(b) Provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.

61 The figures have been rounded off to the nearest rupee lakh upto two decimal point.

As per our report of even date

For H.K. Chitkara & Co.	 For and on behalf of the Board	 For and on behalf of the Board
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No.001571N

Sd/-	 Sd/-	 Sd/-
(Sameer Chitkara)	 (Rishi Pahwa)	 (Mandeep Singh Pahwa)
Partner	 Managing Director	 Jt. Managing Director
M.No. 094353	 DIN: 00286399	 DIN: 00248245
UDIN: 25094353BMJGBG2326
Place: Ludhiana
Dated: 25.09.2025
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To The Members of Avon Cycles Limited

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Ind AS Financial Statements

Opinion
We have audited the accompanying Consolidated financial statements of M/s. Avon Cycles Limited 
(hereinafter referred to as “the Holding Company”) and its subsidiaries (Holding Company and its 
subsidiaries together referred to as “the Group”) which comprise the Consolidated Balance Sheet as 
at 31st March, 2025, the Consolidated Statement of Profit & Loss (including OCI), the Consolidated 
statement of changes in equity and the Consolidated statement of Cash Flow for the year then ended 
and summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information comprising 
Consolidated Notes to Accounts.                  

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, and 
based on the consideration of the reports of other auditors on separate financial statements of such 
associates and subsidiaries as were audited by other auditors, the aforesaid Consolidated financial 
statements give the information required by the Companies Act, 2013 (‘Act’) in the manner so required 
and give a true and fair view in conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted in India, 
of the consolidated state of affairs of the Company as at March 31, 2023, its consolidated profit & loss 
and other comprehensive income, consolidated changes in equity and consolidated Cash Flows for the 
year ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards on auditing (SAs) specified under section 
143 (10) of the Companies Act, 2013. Our responsibilities under those Standards are further described 
in the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our 
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the code of ethics issued by the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants of India together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit 
of the Consolidated financial statements under the provisions of the Act and the rules thereunder, and 
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the code 
of ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained along with the consideration of audit 
reports of other auditors referred to in sub-paragraph (a) of the “Other Matters” paragraph below, is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on the consolidated financial statements.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in 
our audit of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31st March 2025. These matters 
were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in 
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Reporting of key audit matters as per SA 701, Key Audit Matters are not applicable to the Company as 
it is an unlisted company.

Information Other than Consolidated Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report Thereon
The Holding Company’s Management and Board of Directors are responsible for the other information. 
The other information comprises Holding Company’s Board’s Report, Report on Corporate Governance 
and Business Responsibility report but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s 
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do 
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of Consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information and in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially consistent with 
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the Consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained during the course of our audit or 
otherwise appears to me materially misstated. If, based on the work we performed, we conclude that 
there is material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have 
nothing to report in this regard. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Ind AS Consolidated Financial Statements
The Holding Company’s Board of Directors and Management are responsible for the matters stated in 
section 134 (5) of the Act with respect to the preparation of these Consolidated financial statements 
that give a true and fair view of the Consolidated financial position and financial performance of the 
Company in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in India, including the 
accounting standards specified under section 133 of the Act.

This responsibility also includes maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with 
the provisions of the Act for safeguarding of the assets of the Company and for preventing and 
detecting frauds and other irregularities; selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; 
making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and design, implementation and 
maintenance of adequate internal financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring the 
accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation 
of the Consolidated financial statement that give a true and fair view and are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the Consolidated financial statements, management and Board of Directors of entities 
included in the group are responsible for assessing the ability of each entity to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis 
of accounting unless management and board of directors either intends to liquidate the Company or to 
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The respective Board of Directors of the entities included in the Group are responsible for overseeing 
the financial reporting process of each entity.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Consolidated Financial Statements
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our 
audit. We have taken into account the provisions of the Act, the accounting standards and the matters 
which are required to be included in the audit report under the provisions of the Act and the Rules 
made there under. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing specified 
u/s 143(10) of the Act. Those Standards require that we comply with ethical requirement and plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements 
are free from material misstatements.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud & error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control 
relevant to the Company’s preparation and fair presentation of the Consolidated financial statements 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of the accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion.

Opinion
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 



93

report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these Consolidated financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the Consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk 
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal financial controls relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. Under section 143(3)(i) of the Act, we are also 
responsible for expressing our opinion on whether the Company has adequate internal financial 
controls system in place and the operating effectiveness of such controls.

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management and Board of Directors of Holding Company.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s and Board of Directors of Holding Company 
use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether 
a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the Consolidated 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the Consolidated financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•	 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of such entities 
or business activities within the Group and its associates to express an opinion on Consolidated 
Financial Statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the 
audit of financial information of such entities included in the consolidated financial statements 
of which we are the independent auditors. For other entities included in consolidated financial 
statements, which have been audited by other auditors, such auditors remain responsible for the 
direction, supervision and performance of audits carried on by them. We remain solely responsible 
for our audit opinion. Our responsibilities in this regard are further described in paragraph (a) of 
section titled ‘Other Matters’ in this audit report. We believe that the audit evidence obtained by us 
along with consideration of audit reports of other auditors referred to in sub-paragraph (a) of other 
matters paragraph below, is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on 
the consolidated financial statements.

We communicate with those charged with governance of the Holding Company and such other entities 
included in consolidated financial statements of which we are the independent auditor regarding, 
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including 
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and 
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other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, 
related safeguards. From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine 
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the Consolidated financial statements for 
the year ended 31st March 2023. and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in 
our auditor’s report as applicable unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter 
or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in 
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh 
the public interest benefits of such communication.

Other Matters
a)	 We did not audit the financial statements/ financial information of subsidiary company whose 

financial statements/ financial information reflect total assets (before consolidation adjustments) 
of Rs. 11,183.13 Lakh as at 31st March 2025, total revenues (before consolidation adjustments) 
of Rs. 6,833.76 Lakh and total net loss after tax (before consolidation adjustments) of Rs. 353.30 
Lakh, Other Comprehensive Income (before consolidation adjustments) of Rs. 2.43 Lakh and net 
cash outflow (before consolidation adjustments) amounting to Rs. 33.15 Lakh for the year ended 
as on that date, as considered in consolidated financial statements, whose reports have been 
furnished to us by the management. Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, in 
so far it relates to the amounts and disclosures included in respect of these subsidiaries and 
associate, and our report in terms of  sub-section (3) of section 143 of the Act, in so far as it relates 
to the aforesaid subsidiary is solely based on the audit reports of other auditors.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, and our report on the Other Legal and Regulatory 
requirements below, is not modified in respect of the above matters with respect to our reliance on 
work done and the reports of other auditors.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
1.	 As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, based on our audit and on consideration of reports 

of other auditors on separate financial statements of such subsidiaries and associates as were 
audited by other auditors, we report, to the extent applicable, that:

	 (a)	 We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of 
our knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit of the aforesaid 
consolidated financial statements.

	 (b)	 In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been kept so far as it 
appears from our examination of those books and proper returns adequate for the purposes 
of our audit have been received from the branches not visited by us.

	 (c)	 The Consolidated Balance Sheet, the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss, the 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity and the Consolidated Statement of Cash 
Flows dealt with by this Report are in agreement with the books of account and with the 
returns received from branches not visited by us.

	 (d)	 In our opinion, the aforesaid consolidated financial statements comply with the Indian 
Accounting Standards prescribed under Section 133 of the Act.

	 (e)	 On the basis of the written representations received from the directors of Holding Company 
as on 31 March 2025 taken on record by the Board of Directors of Holding Company and 
reports of the statutory auditors of its subsidiary company incorporated in India, none of 
the directors of the Group’s companies incorporated in India is disqualified as on 31 March 
2025 from being appointed as a director in terms of Section 164(2) of the Act.

	 (f )	 With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls with reference to Consolidated 
financial statements of the Holding Company and its Subsidiary Companies incorporated 
in India and the operating effectiveness of such controls, refer to our separate Report in 
“Annexure A”.
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2.	 With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance with Rule 
11 of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2021, as amended, in our opinion and to the 
best of our information and according to the explanations given to  us:

	 i.	 The Group has disclosed the impact of pending litigations on its financial position in its Ind 
AS Consolidated financial statements - Refer Note 36 to the Ind AS Consolidated financial 
statements;

	 ii.	 The Company has made provision in its consolidated financial statements as required 
under the applicable law or accounting standards for material foreseeable losses on long 
term contracts.

	 iii.	 There were no amounts which were required to be transferred to the Investor Education 
and Protection Fund by the Company.

	 iv.	 a) 	 The management of holding company and as per reports of the statutory auditors of 
its subsidiary company and associate company incorporated in India has represented 
that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, no funds have been advanced or loaned 
or invested (either from borrowed funds or share premium or any other sources or 
kind of funds) by the Company to or in any other person(s) or entity(ies), including 
foreign entities (“Intermediaries”), with the understanding, whether recorded in 
writing or otherwise, that the Intermediary shall, whether, directly or indirectly lend 
or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on 
behalf of the Company (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee, security 
or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.

		  b) 	 The management of holding company and as per reports of the statutory auditors 
of its subsidiary company incorporated in India has represented that, to the best 
of its knowledge and belief, no funds have been received by the Company from 
any person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign entities (“Funding Parties”), with the 
understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Company shall, 
whether, directly or indirectly, lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in 
any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Funding Party (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) 
or provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries; 
and

		  c) 	 Based on such audit procedures that were considered reasonable and appropriate in 
the circumstances, nothing has come to our notice that has caused us to believe that 
the representations under sub-clause (a) and (b) contain any material misstatement.

3.	 With respect to the matter to be included in the Auditor’s report under section 197(16) of the Act:
	 In our opinion and according to the information and explanation given to us and based on the 

reports of the statutory auditors of such subsidiaries and associate companies incorporated 
in India and which were not audited by us, the remuneration paid during the current year by 
the Holding Company and its Subsidiaries which are incorporated in India to its directors is in 
accordance with the provisions of section 197 of the Act. The remuneration paid to any director 
by the Holding Company and its subsidiaries which are incorporated in India, is not in excess 
of the limit laid down under section 197 of the Act. The Ministry of Corporate Affairs has not 
prescribed other details under section 197(16) of the Act which are required to be commented 
upon by us.

Place : Ludhiana		                      For H.K. Chitkara & Co.
Date: 25.09.2025		                    Chartered Accountants

Firm Registration No.001571N
Sd/-

Sameer Chitkara
Partner

Membership No. 094353
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Annexure A to the Independent Auditor’s Report
(Referred to in paragraph 2(f ) under ‘Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements’ section of 
our report of even date)

Report on the Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting under Clause (i) of Sub-section 
3 of Section 143 of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”)
We have audited the internal financial controls over financial reporting of Avon Cycles Limited (“the 
Company”) as of 31st March 2025 in conjunction with our audit of the Ind AS financial statements of the 
Company for the year ended on that date.

Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls
The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial controls 
based on the internal control over financial reporting criteria established by the Company considering 
the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial 
Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (“ICAI”). 
These responsibilities include the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal 
financial controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of its 
business, including adherence to the Company’s policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention 
and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, and the 
timely preparation of reliable financial information, as required under the Act.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls with reference to 
consolidated financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted our audit in accordance with the 
Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting (the “Guidance Note”) 
and the Standards on Auditing, issued by ICAI and deemed to be prescribed under Section 143(10) of 
the Act, to the extent applicable to an audit of internal financial controls with reference to consolidated 
financial statements. Those Standards and the Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether adequate 
internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements were established and 
maintained and if such controls operated effectively in all material respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal 
financial control system over financial reporting of consolidated financial statements and their operating 
effectiveness. Our audit of internal financial controls over financial reporting of consolidated financial 
statements included obtaining an understanding of internal financial controls over financial reporting 
of consolidated financial statements, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing 
and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. 
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the Consolidated Ind AS financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls system over financial reporting of 
consolidated financial statements.

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting
A company’s internal financial control over financial reporting of consolidated financial statements 
is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting 
and the preparation of consolidated financial statements for external purposes in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal financial control over financial 
reporting of consolidated financial statements includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain 
to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions 
and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are 
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recorded as necessary to permit preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being 
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) 
provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, 
use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the consolidated financial 
statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting
Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls over financial reporting, including the 
possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to 
error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of the internal financial 
controls over financial reporting of consolidated financial statements to future periods are subject to 
the risk that the internal financial control over financial reporting of consolidated financial statements 
may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the 
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Opinion
In Conjunction with our audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements of Avon Cycles Ltd. (hereinafter 
referred to as “the Holding Company”) as of and for the year ended 31 March 2025, we have audited the 
internal financial controls with reference to Consolidated financial statements of the Holding Company 
and such companies incorporated in India under Companies Act, 2013, which are its subsidiary 
companies, as of that date.

In our opinion, the Holding Company and such companies incorporated in India which are its subsidiaries 
companies, have, in all material respects, an adequate internal financial controls system over financial 
reporting and such internal financial controls over financial reporting were operating effectively as at 31 
March 2025, based on the internal control with reference to consolidated financial statements criteria 
established by such Companies considering the essential components of internal control stated in the 
Guidance Note issued by the ICAI.

Place : Ludhiana		                      For H.K. Chitkara & Co.
Date: 25.09.2025		                    Chartered Accountants

Firm Registration No.001571N
Sd/-

Sameer Chitkara
Partner

Membership No. 094353
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Avon Cycles Limited, Ludhiana
Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 31.03.2025

(` in lakh)

 
  

Particulars Note
 

 As at 
 31.03.2025 

 As at 
 31.03.2024 

Assets

Non-Current Assets

a) Property Plant & Equipment 2            10,507.56                 9,240.86 

b) Right-of-Use Asset 3                 283.66                    313.39 

c) Investment Properties 2.1                   69.31                      69.32 

d) Capital Work in Progress 2.4                 878.38                 1,626.36 

e) Other Intangible Assets 2.3                   80.60                      70.99 

f ) Financial Assets:

i) Investments 4                 642.25                    588.48 

ii) Loans & Advances 4.1                 165.19                    242.44 

iii) Other Financial Assets 5                 731.41                    764.66 

g) Other Non Current Assets 6                 551.00                    398.90 

Total Non- Current Assets            13,909.36   13,315.40 

Current Assets

a) Inventories 7            10,222.17                 7,327.25 

b) Financial Assets:

i) Investments 8              7,390.10                 6,753.05 

ii) Trade Receivables 9            15,019.05  11,790.84 

iii) Cash & Cash Equivalents 10            18,724.77 22,975.68 

iv) Other Balances with Banks 11              9,019.23                 8,376.51 

v) Loans & Advances 12              5,901.03                 5,925.77 

vi) Other Financial Assets 13                 171.55                    695.18 

c) Current Tax Assets                 382.47                    304.97 

d) Other Current Assets 14              3,749.99                 3,282.33 

e) Assets held for Sale 2.2                     9.86                      62.27 

Total Current Assets            70,590.22 67,493.86 

Total Assets            84,499.58  80,809.26 

Equity And Liabilities

Equity

a) Equity Share Capital 15                   87.05                      87.05 

b) Other Equity 16            68,712.92  64,627.18 

Total Equity            68,799.97  64,714.23 

Liabilities

Non-Current Liabilities

a) Financial Liabilities:

i) Borrowings 17              1,742.32                 2,529.29 

ii) Lease Liability 18                 155.92                    181.88 

iii) Other Financial Liabilities 19                 638.07                    664.97 

b) Provisions                         -                            -   

c) Deferred Tax Liability (net)                 327.55                      72.77 

d) Other Non- Current Liabilities 20                 501.18                    316.76 

Total Non- Current Liabilities              3,365.04                 3,765.67 
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Current Liabilities

a) Financial Liabilities:

i) Borrowings 21              2,362.42                 1,102.12 

ii) Lease Liability 22                   44.62                      47.68 

iii) Trade Payables

(a) total outstanding dues of micro and small enterprises 23              4,662.35                 3,410.73 

(b) total outstanding dues of trade payable other than micro 
and small enterprises

23              3,593.02                 3,962.15 

iv) Other Financial Liabilities 24                 421.89                    563.30 

b) Provisions 25                         -                            -   

c) Current Tax Provisions                         -                            -   

d) Other current Liabilities 26              1,250.27                 3,243.39 

Total Current Liabilities            12,334.57     12,329.36 

Total Equity & Liabilities            84,499.58  80,809.26 

Notes on Financial Statements 1-63

In terms of our report attached

For H.K. Chitkara & Co.	 For and on behalf of the Board	 For and on behalf of the Board
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No.001571N

Sd/-	 Sd/-	 Sd/-
(Sameer Chitkara)	 (Rishi Pahwa)	 (Mandeep Singh Pahwa)
Partner	 Managing Director	 Jt. Managing Director
M.No. 094353	 DIN: 00286399	 DIN: 00248245
UDIN: 25094353BMJGCM3331
Place: Ludhiana
Dated: 25.09.2025	                                       	
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Avon Cycles Limited 
Consolidated Statement of Profit & Loss Account for the period ended 31.03.2025

 (` in lakh)

                       Particulars
 

Note
 

   Year Ended 
 31.03.2025 

   Year Ended 
 31.03.2024 

Income

a) Revenue from Operations 27            94,449.86  1,15,966.38 

b) Other Income 28              3,209.65                 3,193.44 

Total Income            97,659.51  1,19,159.82 

Expenses

a) Cost of Materials Consumed 29            62,706.96 73,575.70 

b) Purchases of Stock-in-trade 30              4,071.23                 3,945.33 

c) Change in Inventories of Finished Goods, Stock-in-trade 
and Work-in-Progress

31            (2,287.21)                 2,271.31 

d) Employee Benefits Expense 32              7,106.76                 6,300.43 

e) Finance Costs 33                 414.91                    561.45 

f ) Depreciation & Amortization Expense 2.5              1,269.23                 1,379.46 

g) Other Expenses 34            18,012.39 20,726.96 

Total Expenses            91,294.27  1,08,760.64 

Profit/(loss) Before Tax & Exceptional Items              6,365.24  10,399.18 

Share of Profit/(Loss) of Associates & Joint Ventures                         -                            -   

Profit Before Tax & Exceptional Items                6,365.24  10,399.18 

Exceptional Items:                         -   

CSR Expenditure u/s 135 of Companies Act, 2013                 137.41                    129.32 

Profit/(Loss) Before Tax              6,227.83  10,269.86 

Tax Expenses/(Credit) (Net)

Current Tax              1,552.00                 2,299.22 

Deferred Tax                 268.22                  (121.72)

Profit/(Loss) for the year              4,407.61                 8,092.36 

Other Comprehensive Income/(Loss):

Return on plan assets, excluding amount recognised in 
net interest expense

                        -                            -   

Re-measurement of post-employment benefit Obligations                 (49.86)                      29.52 

Income Tax Relating to these items                   13.43                      (7.35)

Other Comprehensive Income/(Loss), Net of Tax                 (36.43)                      22.17 

Total Comprehensive Income/(Loss)              4,371.18                 8,114.53 

Net Profit Attributable to:

a) Owners to Company              4,407.61                 8,092.36 

b) Non - Controlling Interest                         -                            -   

Other Comprehensive Income Attributable to:

a) Owners to Company                 (36.43)                      22.17 

b) Non - Controlling Interest                         -                            -   

Total Comprehensive Income Attributable to:

a) Owners to Company              4,371.18                 8,114.53 

b) Non - Controlling Interest                         -                            -   
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Earnings/Loss) per equity share of face value of  ` 10 each (EPS)

(i) Basic (in `)                 499.12                    942.12 

(ii) Diluted (in `)                 499.12                    942.12 

Notes on Financial Statements 1-63

In terms of our report attached

For H.K. Chitkara & Co.	 For and on behalf of the Board	 For and on behalf of the Board
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No.001571N

Sd/-	 Sd/-	 Sd/-
(Sameer Chitkara)	 (Rishi Pahwa)	 (Mandeep Singh Pahwa)
Partner	 Managing Director	 Jt. Managing Director
M.No. 094353	 DIN: 00286399	 DIN: 00248245
UDIN: 25094353BMJGCM3331
Place: Ludhiana
Dated: 25.09.2025	                                       	
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Avon Cycles Limited 
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement for the period ended 31.03.2025

(` in lakh)

Particulars 2024-2025 2023-2024

A. Cash Flow From Operating Activities 

Net profit/(loss) before tax            6,227.83        10,269.86 

Adjustments for :        

Interest expenses                  341.27           441.19  

Depreciation and Amortization on PPE               1,269.23        1,379.46  

Profit/ Loss on Sales/ Fair Valuation of Investment             (1,635.98)       (1,898.47)  

Profit on Sales of Fixed Assets                  (50.98)            (21.13)  

Interest Received             (1,090.64)          (996.22)  

Other Non-Operating Income                         -              (31.99)  

Other Comprehensive Income                  (36.43)             22.17  

Prior Period Adjustment                         -                     -    

Rent                (212.48)        (1,416.01)        (204.91)       (1,309.91)

Cash Flow from Operating activities before changes in 
following Assets & Liabilities:

           4,811.82          8,959.95 

Trade Receivables             (3,228.21)       (2,071.57)  

Inventories             (2,894.92)        2,252.97  

Loan & Advances                  101.99       (1,820.80)  

Other Financial Assets                  556.88        3,174.74  

Other Assets (excluding Advance Tax)                (419.54)       (1,124.47)  

Trade Payables                  882.49           649.31  

Other Financial Liabilities                (197.32)          (198.57)  

Provisions (Excluding Provision of Income Tax)                         -         (1,580.59)  

Other Liabilities             (1,553.91)            (1,848.12)       

Inc/(Dec) in Operating Assets due to De-merger                         -   (6,752.54)                 -   (2,567.11)

Cash generations from/(used in) operations   (1,940.72)   6,392.85 

Income Taxes Paid (Net)   (2,005.45)   (686.10)

Net Cash from/(used in) operating activities (A)   (3,946.17)   5,706.75 

B. Cash Flow From Investing Activities 

Purchase of Fixed Assets             (1,754.62)       (1,019.69)  

Purchase/ (Sale) of Investment                (690.82)           119.84  

Sale of Fixed Assets                    60.46             60.46  

Interest Received               1,090.64           996.22  

Profit/Loss on Sales of Investment               1,635.98        1,898.47  

Other Non-Operating Income                         -               31.99  

Rent Received                  212.48           204.91         

Inc/(Dec) in Investing Assets due to De-merger                         -   554.11                 -   2,292.20

Net Cash From/(used in) Investing Activities (B)   554.11   2,292.20 

C. Cash Flow From Financing Activities 

Interest Paid                (341.27)          (441.19)  

Dividend Paid                (348.20)          (348.20)  

Change in Equity due to Amalgamation (Refer Note No.)                         -                     -    

Proceeds/(Repayments) of/from loan funds                  473.33          (730.85)  
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Inc/(Dec) in Financing Assets due to De-merger                         -                  (216)                 -         (1,520.24)

Net Cash From/(used in) from Financing Activities  (C)                  (216)         (1,520.24)

Net Increase/(Decrease in Cash & Cash Equivalents               (3,608)          6,478.71 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year          31,352.20        24,873.49 

Cash outflow as part of De-Merger (Refer Note No.38)                      -                       -   

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year          27,744.00        31,352.20 

Note: The above Cash Flow statement has been prepared under Indirect Method as set out in Ind AS - 7 “Statement of cash 
flows”.

In terms of our report attached

For H.K. Chitkara & Co.	 For and on behalf of the Board	 For and on behalf of the Board
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No.001571N

Sd/-	 Sd/-	 Sd/-
(Sameer Chitkara)	 (Rishi Pahwa)	 (Mandeep Singh Pahwa)
Partner	 Managing Director	 Jt. Managing Director
M.No. 094353	 DIN: 00286399	 DIN: 00248245
UDIN: 25094353BMJGCM3331
Place: Ludhiana
Dated: 25.09.2025
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Avon Cycles Limited 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

a) EQUITY SHARE CAPITAL

For year ended 31st March, 2025 (` in lakh)

Particulars Amount

Balance as on April 01, 2024            87.05 

Proceeds from Issue of Shares                 -   

Prior Period Errors                 -   

Changes during the year                 -   

Balances as on March 31, 2025            87.05 

For year ended 31st March, 2024 (` in Lakh)

Particulars Amount

Balance as on April 01, 2023            87.05 

Proceeds from Issue of Shares                 -   

Prior Period Errors                 -   

Changes during the year                 -   

Balances as on March 31, 2024            87.05 

b) OTHER EQUITY (` in lakh)

Particulars Retained 
Earnings

General 
Reserve

Capital 
Reserve

Capital 
Redemption   

Reserve

Total

Balance as on April 01, 2024 47,747.25 16,838.33 36.48 5.12 64627.18

Profit for the year 4,407.61 - - - 4407.61

Other Comprehensive Income/ (Loss) for the year (36.43) - - - -36.43

Total Comprehensive Income for the year 4,371.18 - - - 4371.18

Transferred to General Reserve (500.00) - - -500.00

Transferred from General Reserve - 500.00 - - 500.00

Transfer From Retained Earnings - - - - 0.00

Dividend (348.20) - - - -348.20

Tax adjustment of earlier years 62.76 - - - 62.76

Balances as on March 31, 2024 51,332.99 17,338.33 36.48 5.12 68712.92
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c) OTHER EQUITY

Particulars Retained 
Earnings

General 
Reserve

Capital 
Reserve

Capital 
Redemption 

Reserve

Total

Balance as on April 01, 2023 40,589.67 16,338.33 36.48 5.12 56969.60

Profit for the year 8,092.36 - - - 8092.36

Other Comprehensive Income/ (Loss) for the year 22.17 - - - 22.17

Total Comprehensive Income for the year 8,114.53 - - - 8,114.53 

Transferred to General Reserve (500.00) - - - (500.00)

Transferred from General Reserve - - - - -

Transfer From Retained Earnings - 500.00 - - 500.00 

Dividend (348.20) - - - (348.20)

Prior Period Adjustments - - - - -

Tax adjustment of earlier years (108.75) - - (108.75)

Balances as on March 31, 2024 47747.25 16838.33 36.48 5.12 64627.18

As per our report of even date

For H.K. Chitkara & Co.	 For and on behalf of the Board	 For and on behalf of the Board
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No.001571N

Sd/-	 Sd/-	 Sd/-
(Sameer Chitkara)	 (Rishi Pahwa)	 (Mandeep Singh Pahwa)
Partner	 Managing Director	 Jt. Managing Director
M.No. 094353	 DIN: 00286399	 DIN: 00248245
UDIN: 25094353BMJGCM3331
Place: Ludhiana
Dated: 25.09.2025



106

Avon Cycles Limited
Notes on Consolidated Financial Statements for the period ended March 31, 2025

BACKGROUND		  								      
Avon Cycles Ltd. is a closely held company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in India. The 
registered address of the Company is located at G.T Road, Dhandari Kalan, Ludhiana - 141003.The 
Company is engaged  in diversified businesses primarily dealing in manufacturing of Bicycle & Cycle 
Parts, E-Bikes and E-Rickshaws.	 		

1 )   MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION		  			 

a)	 Basis of Preparation:		 								      
	 i) Compliance with IndAs:		  								      

	 The Consolidated Financial Statements comply in all material aspects with Indian Accounting 
Standards (Ind AS) notified under Section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013 (the Act) [Companies 
(Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015] as amended thereafter and other relevant provisions 
of the Act.

	 ii) Historical Cost Convention:		  							       	
The Consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for 
the following:

	 a) 	 certain financial assets and liabilities (including derivative instruments) and contingent 
consideration that is measured at fair value;

	 b) 	 defined benefit plans - plan assets measured at fair value.	 		

b)	 Foreign currency translation:		  							     
	 i) Functional and presentation currency:		  							     

Items included in the Consolidated financial statements of Company are measured using the 
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional 
currency’). The Consolidated Financial Statements are presented in Indian rupee (INR), which is 
Company’s functional and presentation currency.	 		

	 (ii) Transactions and Balances:
	 Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates 

at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement 
of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies at year end exchange rates are generally recognized in profit or loss. All other 
foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the statement of profit and loss on a net basis 
within other gains/(losses).	 		

c)	 Revenue Recognition:
	 Ind As 115 was issued on 28th March 2018 and supersedes Ind As 11 Construction Contracts 

and Ind As 18 Revenue and it applies, with limited exceptions, to all revenue arising from from 
contracts with its customers. Ind As 115 establishes a five step model to account for revenue 
arising from contracts with customers and requires that revenue be recognized at an amount that 
reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring 
goods or services to a customer. Ind As 115requires entities to exercise judgement, taking into 
consideration all of the relevant facts and circumstances when applying each step ofthe model 
to the contract with their customers. The standard also specifies the accounting for incremental 
costs of obtaining a contract and the costs directly related to fulfilling a contract. In addition, 
the standard requires extensive disclosures. The Company adopted Ind As 115 using modified 
retrospective method of adoption with the date of initial application of 1st April, 2018. Under 
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thismethod, the standard can be applied either to all contracts at the date of initial application 
or to only contracts that are not completed atthis date. The Company elected to apply standard 
to contracts that are not completed at the date of initial application. 	 		

	 Recognizing revenue from major business activities		  					   
	 Sale of Goods:	 	 								      
	 Timing of recognition: The Company manufactures and sells Bicycle, Bicycle Parts, Ebikes, 

E-Rickshaws and Power. Sales are recognized when products are delivered to the dealer, 
the dealer has full discretion over the channel and price to sell the products, and there is no 
unfulfilled obligation that could affect dealer’s acceptance of the products. Delivery occurs when 
the products have been shipped to the specified location, the risks of obsolescence and loss 
have been transferred to the dealer, and either the wholesaler has accepted the products in 
accordance with the sales contract, the acceptance provisions have lapsed, or the company has 
objective evidence that all criteria for acceptance have been satisfied.	 		

	 Measurement of revenue: The products are sold with volume discounts and customers have a 
right to return faulty products in the wholesale market. Revenue from sales is based on the price 
specified in the sales contracts, net of the estimated volume discounts and returns at the time of 
sale. Accumulated experience is used to estimate and provide for the discounts and returns. The 
volume discounts are assessed based on anticipated annual purchases. No element of financing 
is deemed present as the sales are made with a credit term of 60 days, which is consistent with 
market practice. Export sales are accounted for on the basis of Let Export date. Export incentives 
are accounted for on accrual basis. Revenue related to service coupons is deferred and is 
recognized whenever claimed by the dealer.	 		

	 Interest income is recognized on time basis. Royalty income is recognized on accrual basis.

d)	 Government Grants:		 								      
	 Grants from the government are recognized at their fair value when there is a reasonable assurance 

that the grant will be received and the company will comply with all attached conditions. 
Government grant relating to income are deferred and recognized in the profit or loss over 
the period necessary to match them with the costs that they are intended to compensate and 
presented within other income. Government grants relating to purchase of property, plant and 
equipment are included in non-current liabilities as deferred income and are credited to profit or 
loss over the expected lives of the related assets and presented within other income.

e)	 Income Tax:		  								      

i)	 Current Tax:		  								      
	 The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from ‘profit 

before tax’ as reported in the statement of profit and loss because of items of income or expense 
that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. 
The Company’s current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the end of the reporting period. Current income tax assets/liabilities for current year 
is recognized at the amount expected to be paid to and/or recoverable from the tax authorities

ii)	 Deferred Tax:		 								      
	 The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable 

income based on the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in 
deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences to unused tax losses.  
Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the Consolidated 
financial statements. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been 
enacted or substantially enacted by by the end of the reporting period and are expected to apply 
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when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.  
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences and unused 
tax losses only if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise 
those temporary differences and losses. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when 
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and when 
the deferred tax balances relate to same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax 
liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends 
either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  
Current and deferred tax is recognised in the Statement of profit and loss, except to the extent 
that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In that 
case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

iii)	 Appendix C to Ind AS 12 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatment		  		  T h e 
appendix addresses the accounting for income taxes when tax treatments involve uncertainty 
that affects the application of Ind AS 12 Income Taxes. It does not apply to taxes or levies outside 
the scope of Ind AS 12, nor does it specifically include requirements relating to interest and 
penalties associated with uncertain tax treatments. The Appendix specifically addresses the 
following: 

	 1. 	 Whether an entity considers uncertain tax treatments separately. 

	 2. 	 The assumptions an entity makes about the examination of tax treatments by taxation 
authorities. 

	 3. 	 How an entity determines taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax 
credits and tax rates. 

	 4. 	 How an entity considers changes in facts and circumstances.  

	 The Company determines whether to consider each uncertain tax treatment separately or 
together with one or more other uncertain tax treatments and uses the approach that better 
predicts the resolution of the uncertainty. The Company applies significant judgement in 
identifying uncertainties over income tax treatments.

f)	 Leases:		  								      

	 As a lessee
	 The Company’s lease asset classes primarily consist of leases for land and buildings. The Company 

assesses whether a contract contains a lease, at inception of a contract. A contract is, or contains, 
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of 
time in exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the 
use of an identified asset, the Company assesses whether: (i) the contract involves the use of an 
identified asset (ii) the Company has substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the asset 
through the period of the lease and (iii) the Company has the right to direct the use of the asset.  
At the date of commencement of the lease, the Company recognizes a right-of-use asset (“ROU”) 
and a corresponding lease liability for all lease arrangements in which it is a lessee, except for 
leases with a term of twelve months or less (short-term leases) and low value leases. For these 
short-term and low value leases, the Company recognizes the lease payments as an operating 
expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. 

	 Certain lease arrangements includes the options to extend or terminate the lease before the end 
of the lease term. ROU assets and lease liabilities includes these options when it is reasonably 
certain that they will be exercised. 

	 The right-of-use assets are initially recognized at cost, which comprises the initial amount of 
the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or prior to the commencement date 
of the lease plus any initial direct costs less any lease incentives and an estimate of costs to 
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be incurred by the lessee in dismantling and removing the underlying asset or restoring the 
underlying asset or site on which it is located. They are subsequently measured at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Right-of-use assets are depreciated from the 
commencement date on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and useful life 
of the underlying asset. Right of use assets are evaluated for recoverability whenever events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable. For 
the purpose of impairment testing, the recoverable amount (i.e. the higher of the fair value less 
cost to sell and the value-in-use) is determined on an individual asset basis unless the asset 
does not generate cash flows that are largely independent of those from other assets. In such 
cases, the recoverable amount is determined for the Cash Generating Unit (CGU) to which the 
asset belongs. The lease liability is initially measured at amortized cost at the present value of 
the future lease payments. The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in 
the lease or, if not readily determinable, using the incremental borrowing rates in the country 
of domicile of these leases. Lease liabilities are remeasured with a corresponding adjustment to 
the related right of use asset if the Company changes its assessment if whether it will exercise an 
extension or a termination option. Lease liability and ROU asset have been separately presented 
in the Balance Sheet and lease payments have been classified as financing cash flows.

	 As a lessor	 		
	 Leases for which the Company is a lessor is classified as a finance or operating lease. Whenever 

the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee, 
the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases. For 
operating leases, rental income is recognized on a straight line basis over the term of the relevant 
lease. 	 		

g)	 Impairment of Assets:		  								      
	 Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation 

and are tested annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that they might be impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment whenever events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An 
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds 
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs 
of disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped 
at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely 
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units). 
Non- financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible 
reversal of the impairment at the end of each reporting period.	 		

h)	 Cash and Cash Equivalents		  								      
	 For the purpose of presentation in the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents 

includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly 
liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to 
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and 
bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities in the balance 
sheet.	 		

i)	 Inventories:		  								      
	 Raw materials and stores, work in progress, traded and finished goods	 	 		

	Raw materials and stores, work in progress, traded and finished goods are stated at the lower of 
cost and net realisable value. Cost of raw materials and traded goods comprises cost of purchases. 
Cost of work-in- progress and finished goods comprises direct materials, direct labour and an 
appropriate proportion of variable and fixed overhead expenditure, the latter being allocated on 
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the basis of normal operating capacity. Cost of inventories also include all other costs incurred in 
bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. Cost includes the reclassification 
from equity of any gains or losses on qualifying cash flow hedges relating to purchases of raw 
material but excludes borrowing costs. Costs are assigned to individual items of inventory on the 
basis of weighted average basis. Costs of purchased inventory are determined after deducting 
rebates and discounts. . Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course 
of business less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make 
the sale.	 		

j)	 Non-current assets held for sale
	 Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered 

principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use and a sale is considered 
highly probable. They are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less 
costs to sell, except for assets such as deferred tax assets, assets arising from employee benefits, 
financial assets and contractual rights under insurance contracts, which are specifically exempt 
from this requirement.

	 An impairment loss is recognised for any initial or subsequent write-down of the asset to fair 
value less costs to sell. A gain is recognised for any subsequent increases in fair value less costs to 
sell of an asset (or disposal group), but not in excess of any cumulative impairment loss previously 
recognised. A gain or loss not previously recognised by the date of the sale of the non-current 
asset is recognised at the date of de-recognition.  

	 Non-current assets classified as held for sale and the assets of a disposal group classified as held 
for sale are presented separately from the other assets in the balance sheet. The liabilities of a 
disposal group classified as held for sale are presented separately from other liabilities in the 
balance sheet. 	 		

k)	 Property, Plant and Equipment:		  			 
	 Freehold land is carried at historical cost. All other items of property, plant and equipment are 

stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly 
attributable to the acquisition of the items.   

	 Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, 
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item 
will flow to the group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount 
of any component accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised when replaced. All other 
repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the reporting period in which they 
are incurred.  

	 Depreciation methods, estimated useful lives and residual value:  
	 Depreciation is calculated using the Written Down Value method to allocate their cost, net of their 

residual values, over their estimated useful lives which is in conformity with the requirements of 
the Companies Act, 2013. Depreciation is not recorded on Work - in- Progress until construction 
and installation is complete and asset is ready for its intended use. 	 		
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	 The property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases is depreciated over the asset’s 
useful life or over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term if there is no reasonable 
certainty that the Company will obtain ownership at the end of the lease term. An asset’s carrying 
amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is 
greater than its estimated recoverable amount. 

	 Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. 
These are included in profit or loss within other gains/(losses).

l)	 Investment Properties:		  								      
	 Property that is held for long-term rental yields or for capital appreciation or both, and that is not 

classified as owner occupied property, is classified as investment property. Investment property is 
measured initially at its cost, including related transaction costs and where applicable borrowing 
costs. Subsequent expenditure is capitalised to the asset’s carrying amount only when it is 
probable that future economic benefits associated with the expenditure will flow to the group 
and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance costs are 
expensed when incurred. When part of an investment property is replaced, the carrying amount 
of the replaced part is derecognised.  Investment properties are depreciated using the written 
down value method over their estimated useful lives. Investment properties generally have a 
useful life of 30-60 years. The useful life has been determined based on technical evaluation 
performed by the management’s expert. 	 		

m)	 Intangible Assets:		  								      
	 Computer Softwares: Costs associated with maintaining software programmes are recognised 

as an expense as incurred. Development costs that are directly attributable to the design and 
testing of identifiable and unique software products controlled by the Company are recognised 
as intangible assets when the following criteria are met:

	 - It is technically feasible to complete the software so that it will be available for use.

	 - Management intends to complete the software and use it. 

	 - There is an ability to use the software. 

	 - It can be demonstrated how the software will generate probable future economic benefits.

	 - Adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use the 
software are available, and 

	 -  The expenditure attributable to the software during its development can be reliably easured.  	
		

The estimated useful lives are as follows:
Type of Asset Useful Lives
Factory Buildings 30 Years
Other Buildings - RCC Structure 60Years
Other Buildings - Non RCC Structure 30 Years
Leasehold Improvements Lease Term
Plant & Equipment 15 Years
Furniture & Fixtures 10 Years
Office Equipment 10/ 5 Years
Computer Equipment 6 / 3 years
Vehicles 8 Years
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	 Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as part of the software include employee costs and 
an appropriate portion of relevant overheads.    	 		

	 Trade Marks: Trade marks are recognised as an asset as and when expense is incurred. 

		 Capitalised development costs are recorded as intangible assets and amortised from the point 
at which the asset is available for use. Intangible Assets are depreciated using the Written Down 
Value method to allocate their cost, net of their residual values, over their estimated useful lives 
which is in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act, 2013. 	 		

n)	 Trade and other payables		  								      
	 These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the group prior to the end 

of financial year which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 45-60 
days of recognition. Trade and other payables are presented as current liabilities unless payment 
is not due within 12 months after the reporting period. 	 		

o)	 Borrowings		  								      
	 Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings 

are subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of 
transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period 
of the borrowings using the effective interest method. Fees paid on the establishment of loan 
facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that 
some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw down 
occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be 
drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity services and amortised over the 
period of the facility to which it relates.  	 		

	 Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the company has an unconditional right to 
defer material provision of a long-term loan arrangement on or before the end of the reporting 
period with settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. Where 
there is a breach of a the effect that the liability becomes payable on demand on the reporting 
date, the entity does not classify the liability as current, if the lender agreed, after the reporting 
period and before the approval of the Consolidated financial statements for issue, not to demand 
payment as a consequence of the breach.	 		

p)	 Borrowing costs		  								      
	 General and specific borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction 

or production of a qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of time that is required to 
complete and prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. Qualifying assets are assets that 
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale. 

	 Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their 
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

	 Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.	

q)	 Provisions and Contingent Liabilities:
	 Provisions are recognised when the company has a present legal or constructive obligation as 

a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the 
obligation and the amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions are measured at the present 
value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation 
at the end of the reporting period. Contingent Liabilities are disclosed in respect of possible 
obligations that arise from past events but their existence will be confirmed by the occurrence 
or non occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the 
Company or where any present obligation cannot be measured in terms of future outflow of 
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resources orwhere a reliable estimate of the obligation cannot be made. Contingent assets are 
neither recognised nor disclosed in Financial Statements. Provisions are measured at the present 
value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation 
at the end of the reporting period. Contingent Liabilities are disclosed in respect of possible 
obligations that arise from past events but their existence will be confirmed by the occurrence 
or non occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the 
Company or where any present obligation cannot be measured in terms of future outflow of 
resources or where a reliable estimate of the obligation cannot be made. Contingent assets are 
neither recognised nor disclosed in Financial Statements. 	 		

r)	 Employee benefits		  								      

(i)	 Short-term obligations		  								      
	 Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits that are expected to be 

settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the 
related service are recognised in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting 
period and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. The 
liabilities are presented as current employee benefit obligations in the balance sheet.

(ii)	 Other long-term employee benefit obligations		  			 
	 The liabilities, if any, which needs to be settled after 12 months from the end of the period 

in which the employees render the related services are are measured as the present value of 
expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the 
end of reporting period using the projected unit credit method. 	 		

(iii)	 Post-employment obligations
	 The group operates the following post-employment schemes:

	 a) defined benefit plans such as gratuity, pension, post-employment medical plans; and

	 b) defined contribution plans such as provident fund.

	 Gratuity obligations		 								      
	 The liability or asset recognised in the balance sheet in respect of defined benefit gratuity plans is 

the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period less the fair 
value of plan assets. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by actuaries using the 
projected unit credit method. The present value of the defined benefit obligation denominated 
in INR is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows by reference to market 
yields at the end of the reporting period on government bonds that have terms approximating 
to the terms of the related obligation.

	 The present value of the defined benefit obligation denominated in INR is determined by 
discounting the estimated future cash outflows by reference to market yields at the end of the 
reporting period on government bonds that have terms approximating to the terms of the 
related obligation.

	 The net interest cost is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net balance of the defined 
benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets. This cost is included in employee benefit 
expense in the statement of profit and loss. 

	 Remeasurement gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial 
assumptions are recognised in the period in which they occur, directly in other comprehensive 
income. They are included in retained earnings in the statement of changes in equity and in the 
balance sheet.	

	 Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation resulting from plan amendments 
or curtailments are recognised immediately in profit or loss as past service cost. 			
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	 Defined contribution plans		 								      
	 The group pays provident fund contributions to publicly administered provident funds as per 

local regulations. The group has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been 
paid. The contributions are accounted for as defined contribution plans and the contributions 
are recognised as employee benefit expense when they are due.	 		

(iv)	 Bonus plans		  								      
	 The group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses. The group recognises a provision 

where contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that has created a constructive 
obligation.	 		

s)	 Financial Assets:		  								      

(i)	 Classification:		  								      
	 The company classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories :-	

	 a) 	 Those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through other comprehensive 
income or through Statement of profit and loss), and			 

	 b) 	 Those measured at amortised cost.

	 c) 	 Investments in Subsidiaries are measured at Cost less impairment loss, if any.

	 d) 	 Investments in Associates are measured at Cost less impairment loss, if any.

	 The classification depends on the company’s business model for managing the financial assets 
and the contractual terms of cash flows.

	 For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or other 
comprehensive income. For investments in debt instruments, this will depend on the business 
model in which the investment is held. For investments in equity instruments, this will depend 
on whether the company has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to 
account for the equity investment at the fair value through other comprehensive income. 

(ii)	 Measurement:		  								      
	 At initial recognition, the company measures a financial asset at its fair value plus transaction 

cost that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. In the case of a financial 
asset at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs of financial assets are expensed in the 
Statement of profit and loss. The company subsequently measures all equity investments at fair 
value. Where the company’s management has elected to present fair value gains and losses on 
equity investments in OCI, there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and losses 
to profit or loss. Investments in Subsidiaries and Associates is measured at Cost less impairment 
loss, if any. 

(iii)	 Impairment of Financial Assets:
	 Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds its 

recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less cost of disposal and its value in use. 
The company assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit losses associated with its 
assets carried at amortised cost and FVTOCI debt instruments. The impairment methodology 
applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk. For trade 
receivables only, the company applies the simplified approach permitted by Ind AS 109 Financial 
Instruments, which requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of 
the receivables. 

(iv)	 Derecognition of Financial Asset:	 	 						    
	 A Financial Asset is derecognised only when:		  						    
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	a) The Company has transferrred the rights to receive the cash flows from the financial assets, 
or,	 		

	 b) Retains the contractual rights to receive the cash flows of the financial asset, but assumes 
contractual obligation to pay the cash flows to one or more receipent.	 		

(v)	 Income Recognition:		 								      
	 Interest Income: Interest income from debt instruments is recognised using the effective 

interest rate method. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to the gross carrying amount of a 
financial asset. When calculating the effective interest rate, the group estimates the expected 
cash flows by considering all the contractual terms of the financial instrument (for example, 
prepayment, extension, call and similar options) but does not consider the expected credit losses.  
Dividends: Dividends are recognised in profit or loss only when the right to receive payment is 
established, it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to 
the group, and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably. 	 		

t)	 Impairment of Non Financial Assets:	
	 Assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 

carrying amount may not be recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is higher of an asset’s 
fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets 
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which 
are largely independent of the cash inflows from assets or group of assets (cash-generating 
units). Non-Financial assets suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the 
impairment at the end of each reporting period. 	 		

u)	 Offsetting Financial Instruments
	 Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the balance sheet 

where there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an 
intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The 
legally enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and must be enforceable in 
the normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the group 
or the counterparty. 	 		

v)	 Derivatives that are not designated as hedges:	
	 The Company enters into certain derivative/ forward contracts to hedge foreign currency risks 

which are not designated as hedges. Such contratcs are accounted for at fair value through profit 
or loss.	 		

w)	 Estimates & Judgements:		  								      
	 The preparation of Consolidated financial statements requires the use of accounting estimates 

which, by definition, will seldom equal the actual results. Management has made judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and reported 
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.	 		

	 The areas involving critical estimates or judgements are:

	 i) Estimation of current tax expense and payable.		  		

	 ii) Designation of financial assets /liabilities through FVTPL. 		  	

	 iii) Estimation of defined benefit obligation.

	 iv) Recognition of deferred tax assets for carried forward tax losses.		  		

	 Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated. They are based on historical experience 
and other factors, , including expectations of future events that may have a financial impact on 
Group and that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.	 		
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x)	 Applicability of New and Revised Ind As:
	 Ministry of corporate affairs (MCA) notifies new standards or amendments to the existing 

standards under Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules as issued from time to time. 
MCA has not notified any new standards or amendment to the existing standards applicable to 
the Group as at March 31, 2024. In the current year, the Group has applied the below amendments 
to Ind ASs that are effective for an annual period that begins on or after 1 April 2023.

	 (i) 	 The Group has adopted the amendments to Ind AS 1 - Presentation of Financial Statements 
for the first time in the current year. The amendments change the requirements in Ind AS 
1 with regard to disclosure of accounting policies. The amendments replace all instances 
of the term ‘significant accounting policies’ with ‘material accounting policy information’. 
Accounting policy information is material if, when considered together with other 
information included in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be expected 
to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial statements 
make on the basis of those financial statements. The supporting paragraphs in Ind AS 1 
are also amended to clarify that accounting policy information that relates to immaterial 
transactions, other events or conditions is immaterial and need not be disclosed. Accounting 
policy information may be material because of the nature of the related transactions, other 
events or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial. However, not all accounting policy 
information relating to material transactions, other events or conditions is itself material.

	 (ii) 	 The Group has adopted the amendments to Ind AS 8 - Accounting Policies, Changes in 
Accounting Estimates and Errors - Definition of Accounting Estimates for the first time 
in the current year. The amendments replace the definition of a change in accounting 
estimates with a definition of accounting estimates. Under the new definition, accounting 
estimates are “monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject to measurement 
uncertainty”. The definition of a change in accounting estimates was deleted.	 	
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Notes forming part of the Financial Statements 

2. PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT AS ON 31.03.2025                                                                                                                                                                           (` in lakh)

DESCRIPTION GROSS BLOCK DEPRECIATION  NET CARRYING 
AMOUNT

   As on 
31.03.2024

Additions/ 
Trfd./ 

Adjustment

 Sale/Trfd. / 
Adjustment

Total as on  
31.03.2025

Upto  
31.03.2024

For the   
Year

Sale/  
Trfd.

Upto     
31.03.2025

As on 
31.03.2025

As on 
31.03.2024

Own Assets:                    

Freehold Land 1,115.49 - - 1,115.49 - - - - 1,115.49 1,115.49 

Factory Buildings 7,442.59 1,184.27 - 8,626.86 3,047.25 452.49 - 3,499.74 5,127.12 4,395.34 

Other Buildings 1,039.91 - - 1,039.91 215.27 63.59 - 278.86 761.05 824.65 

Plant & Machinery 5,643.69 759.16 17.30 6,385.55 3,499.23 402.34 12.78 3,888.79 2,496.76 2,144.46 

Furniture and 
Fixtures 

620.90 59.59 21.90 658.59 394.80 62.31 10.09 447.02 211.58 226.11 

Office Equipment 447.21 112.24 - 559.45 339.86 39.44 - 379.30 180.15 107.35 

Computer 
Equipment 

302.67 11.10 - 313.77 253.86 21.53 - 275.39 38.37 48.80 

Vehicles 855.50 424.96 178.14 1,102.32 476.82 162.46 114.02 525.26 577.06 378.68 

Total 17,467.95 2,551.32 217.35 19,801.92 8,227.08 1,204.16 136.89 9,294.36 10,507.56 9,240.86 

Note: 1. Freehold Land includes Land of value Rs. 6.40 Lakh and Factory Building includes Factory Building of value Rs. 2923.29 Lakh hypothicated to 
Banks on Pari - Passu Charge Basis. 
2. All title deeds of Immoveable property are in the name of the Company.

 2. PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT AS ON 31.03.2024                                                                                                                                                                          (` in lakh)

DESCRIPTION GROSS BLOCK DEPRECIATION  NET CARRYING 
AMOUNT

   As on 
31.03.2023

Additions/ 
Trfd./ 

Adjustment

 Sale/Trfd. / 
Adjustment

Total as on  
31.03.2024

Upto  
31.03.2023

For the   
Year

Sale/  
Trfd.

Upto     
31.03.2024

As on 
31.03.2024

As on 
31.03.2023

 Own Assets:                    

 Freehold Land 1,115.49 - - 1,115.49 - - - - 1,115.49 1,115.49 

 Factory Buildings 7,187.00 255.59 - 7,442.59 2,574.72 472.53 - 3,047.25 4,395.34 4,612.28 

 Other Buildings 1,039.91 - - 1,039.91 145.29 69.98 - 215.27 824.65 894.62 

 Plant & 
Machinery 

5,538.85 119.16 14.32 5,643.69 3,051.85 461.59 14.21 3,499.23 2,144.46 2,487.00 

 Furniture and 
Fixtures 

612.53 8.37 - 620.90 316.72 78.08 -  394.80 226.11 295.81 

 Office Equipment 424.13 29.82 6.75 447.21 312.38 32.62 5.14 339.86 107.35 111.75 

 Computer 
Equipment 

294.09 9.09 0.52 302.67 216.80 37.55 0.49 253.86 48.80 77.29 

 Vehicles 884.16 83.49 112.15 855.50 387.63 163.75 74.56 476.82 378.68 496.53 

 Total 17,096.16 505.51 133.73 17,467.95 7,005.39 1,316.09 94.39 8,227.08 9,240.86 10,090.77 
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 2.1 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AS ON 31.03.2025                                                                                                                                                                                     (` in lakh)

DESCRIPTION GROSS BLOCK DEPRECIATION  NET CARRYING 
AMOUNT

   As on 
31.03.2024

Additions/ 
Trfd./ 

Adjustment

 Sale/Trfd. / 
Adjustment

Total as on  
31.03.2025

Upto  
31.03.2024

For the   
Year

Sale/  
Trfd.

Upto     
31.03.2025

As on 
31.03.2025

As on 
31.03.2024

 Freehold Land 69.31 - - 69.31 - - - - 69.31 69.31 

  Buildings - - - - - - - - - -

 Total 69.31 - - 69.31 - - - - 69.31 69.31 

Note: All title deeds of Immoveable property are in the name of the Company.

 2.1 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AS ON 31.03.2024                                                                                                                                                                                      (` in lakh)

DESCRIPTION GROSS BLOCK DEPRECIATION  NET CARRYING 
AMOUNT

   As on 
31.03.2023

Additions/ 
Trfd./ 

Adjustment

 Sale/Trfd. / 
Adjustment

Total as on  
31.03.2024

Upto  
31.03.2023

For the   
Year

Sale/  
Trfd.

Upto     
31.03.2024

As on 
31.03.2024

As on 
31.03.2023

 Freehold Land 69.31 - -  69.31 - - - - 69.31 69.31 

  Buildings - - - - - - - - - -

 Total 69.31 - - 69.31 - - - - 69.31 69.31 

 2.2 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE AS ON 31.03.2025                                                                                                                                                   (` in lakh)

DESCRIPTION GROSS BLOCK DEPRECIATION  NET CARRYING 
AMOUNT

   As on 
31.03.2024

Additions/ 
Trfd./ 

Adjustment

 Sale/Trfd. / 
Adjustment

Total as on  
31.03.2025

Upto  
31.03.2024

For the   
Year

Sale/  
Trfd.

Upto     
31.03.2025

As on 
31.03.2025

As on 
31.03.2024

 Freehold Land 55.80 - 52.41   3.39 - - - - 3.39 55.80 

 Building 6.47 - - 6.47 - - - - 6.47 6.47 

 Total 62.27 - 52.41 9.86 - - - - 9.86  62.27 

Note: 1. The Company intends to sale parcel of freehold land and building. No impairment loss was recognised in classification of land and building as 
held for sale as at March 31, 2025. Such assets are generally measured at the lower of their carrying value or fair value less costs to sell. Once classified as 
held for sale, property, plant & equipment are no longer depreciated. The company has stated such assets at carrying value.
2. All title deeds of Immoveable property are in the name of the Company.

 2.2 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE AS ON 31.03.2024                                                                                                                                                  (` in lakh)

DESCRIPTION GROSS BLOCK DEPRECIATION  NET CARRYING 
AMOUNT

   As on 
31.03.2023

Additions/ 
Trfd./ 

Adjustment

 Sale/Trfd. / 
Adjustment

Total as on  
31.03.2024

Upto  
31.03.2023

For the   
Year

Sale/  
Trfd.

Upto     
31.03.2024

As on 
31.03.2024

As on 
31.03.2023

 Freehold Land 55.80 - - 55.80 - - - - 55.80 55.80 

 Building 6.47 - - 6.47 - - - - 6.47 6.47 

 Total 62.27 - - 62.27 - - - - 62.27 62.27 

 2.3 INTANGIBLE ASSETS AS ON 31.03.2025                                                                                                                                                                                                  (` in lakh)

DESCRIPTION GROSS BLOCK DEPRECIATION  NET CARRYING 
AMOUNT

   As on 
31.03.2024

Additions/ 
Trfd./ 

Adjustment

 Sale/Trfd. / 
Adjustment

Total as on  
31.03.2025

Upto  
31.03.2024

For the   
Year

Sale/  
Trfd.

Upto     
31.03.2025

As on 
31.03.2025

As on 
31.03.2024

 Softwares 445.21 24.01   469.22 382.27  12.41   394.68 74.54 62.94 

 Trade marks 30.16 0.24   30.40 22.12 2.22   24.34 6.06 8.05 

 Total 475.37 24.25 - 499.62 404.38 14.63 - 419.01 80.60 70.99 
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 2.3 INTANGIBLE ASSETS AS ON 31.03.2024                                                                                                                                                                                                  (` in lakh)

DESCRIPTION GROSS BLOCK DEPRECIATION  NET CARRYING 
AMOUNT

   As on 
31.03.2023

Additions/ 
Trfd./ 

Adjustment

 Sale/Trfd. / 
Adjustment

Total as on  
31.03.2024

Upto  
31.03.2023

For the   
Year

Sale/  
Trfd.

Upto     
31.03.2024

As on 
31.03.2024

As on 
31.03.2023

 Softwares 443.85 1.36 -  445.21 365.37 16.90 - 382.27 62.94 78.48 

 Trade marks 29.72 0.44 - 30.16 19.28 2.84 - 22.12 8.05 10.44 

 Total 473.57 1.80 - 475.37 384.65 19.73 - 404.38 70.99 88.92 

 2.5 Depreciation & Amortisation Expense: (` in lakh)

 Particulars    For the year Ended 
 31.03.2025

 For the year Ended 
 31.03.2024 

 Depreciation on Property, Plant & Equipment          1,204.16            1,316.14 

 Add: Depreciation on Investment Properties                    -                         -   

 Add: Amortisation on Intangible Assets               14.63                 19.73 

 Add: Depreciation on Right of Use Assets               50.44                 43.59 

 Depreciation charged to Profit & Loss          1,269.24            1,379.46 

 2.4 CAPITAL - WORK - IN- PROGRESS: 

 Ageing as on 31st March, 2025 (` in lakh)

   Amount in Capital WIP for a period of: 

   Less Than 1 Year  1-2 years  2-3 years  More than 3 Years  Total 

 Projects in Progress           696.22             182.15              -                         -            878.38 

 Projects Temporarily Suspended                   -                      -                -                         -                   -   

 Total           696.22             182.15              -                         -            878.38 

 Ageing as on 31st March, 2024 (` in lakh)

   Amount in Capital WIP for a period of: 

   Less Than 1 Year  1-2 years  2-3 years  More than 3 Years  Total 

 Projects in Progress           629.20        997.16                       -         1,626.36 

 Projects Temporarily Suspended                   -                      -                -                         -                   -   

 Total           629.20                    -        997.16                       -         1,626.36 
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The aggregate depreciation expense on ROU assets is included under depreciation and amortization expense in the statement 
of Profit & Loss.

The following is the break up of current and non current Lease Liabilities as on March 31, 2025:

(` in lakh) (` in lakh)

As at As at 

Particulars 31st March, 2025 31st March, 2024

Non - Current Lease Liabilities                  155.92           181.88 

Current Lease Liabilities                    44.62             47.68 

Total Lease Liabilities                  200.54           229.56 

Following is movement in Lease Liabilities during year ended March 31, 2025:

(` in lakh) (` in lakh)

As at As at

Particulars 31st March, 2025 31st March, 2024

Balance in Beginning                  229.56           269.05 

Adjustments in Opening Balance (Due to De-Merger)                          -                     -   

Addition during the year                    20.70                   -   

Finance Cost accrued during the period                    23.71                   -   

Payment of Lease Liabilities                    73.42             39.49 

Balance at the End                  200.55           229.56 

3 ROU Asset and Lease Liabilities:

The Group has lease contracts for various Lands and buildings which have lease term ranging from 3 years to 30 years. On 
transition the Group has recognised right of use assets for leases of all assets, other than low value items or which are short 
term in nature. Lease liabilities were recognised for all such right of use assets equivalent to the amount of discounted value of 
all future lease payments
Following are the changes in the carrying value of right of use (ROU) assets for the period ended March 31, 2025:

(` in lakh)

Land
 

Building
 

Total As at
31st March, 2025

Balance as on April 01, 2024         140.58     172.81               313.39 

Adjustments in Opening Balance (Due to De-Merger)                 -      -                        -   

Addition                 -   20.70                 20.70 

Deletion                 -         -                        -   

Depreciation             1.99      48.44                 50.43 

Balance as on March 31, 2025         138.59  145.07               283.66 

Following are the changes in the carrying value of right of use (ROU) assets for the year ended March 31, 2024:

(` in lakh)

Land
 

Building
 

Total As at
31st March, 2024

Balance as on April 01, 2023         142.58  214.41               356.98 

Adjustments in Opening Balance                 -               -                        -   

Addition                 -           -                        -   

Deletion             1.99        -                     1.99 

Depreciation                 -    41.60                 41.60 

Balance as on March 31, 2024         140.58    172.81               313.39 
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The table below provide details regarding the contractual maturities of lease liabilities as at March 31, 2023 on an 
undiscounted basis:

(` in lakh) (` in lakh) 

As at As at

Particulars 31st March, 2025 31st March, 2024

Less than One Year                    44.62             69.42 

One to Five Years                  155.92           232.85 

More than Five years                          -                     -   

Total                  200.54           302.26 

The following are the amounts recognised in the statement of Profit and Loss:

(` in lakh) (` in lakh) 

As at As at

Particulars 2024-2025 2023-2024

Depreciation Expense on Right to Use Asset                    50.44             43.59 

Interest Expense on Lease Liabilities                    23.71             25.44 

Expense relating to Low Value and Short Term Leases (included in other Expenses)                          -                 0.87 

Total Amount recognised in profit and Loss account                    74.15             69.90 

4 NON- CURRENT INVESTMENTS (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

Non -current investments consist of the following : As at  As at  

31st March, 2025 31st March, 2024

INVESTMENTS CARRIED AT FVTPL

INVESTMENTS UNQUOTED  Units/Shares  Units/Shares 

(i) Investment in other equity/preference shares:

a) Fully Paid up shares:

 Nimbua Greenfield (Punjab) Ltd of Rs.10 each         84,375  166.31               84,375           148.58 

     166.31           148.58 

(ii) Investment in Mutual Funds (Unquoted)

 HDFC Banking and PSU Debt Fund - Reg Plan - Growth    16,04,353  361.21          16,04,353           334.17 

 HDFC Banking and PSU Debt Fund - Direct Growth 
Option 

     4,89,881  114.73            4,89,881           105.73 

475.94           439.89 

INVESTMENTS CARRIED AT AMORTISED COST:

TOTAL NON-CURRENT INVESTMENTS 642.25           588.48 

Note: The Market Value of Quoted Investments is equal to the carrying value.

4.1 LONG TERM LOANS & ADVANCES (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

Long term loan and advances consist of the following :-  As at   As at  

31st March, 2025 31st March, 2024

a) Unsecured, considered good

Other Loans & Advances                  165.19           242.44 

                 165.19           242.44 

Other Loans & Advances includes:

-Long Term Loans & Advances                  165.19                   -   
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5 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (NON- CURRENT) (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

Other Financial assets consist of the following :-  As at   As at  

31st March, 2025 31st March, 2024

(i) Security deposits                  200.22           203.86 

(ii) Bank Deposits with more than 12 months maturity                  531.19           560.81 

(iii)  Other Financial Assets                          -                     -   

                 731.41           764.66 

6 OTHER NON CURRENT ASSETS (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

Other non current assets consist of the following :-  As at   As at  

31st March, 2025 31st March, 2024

(i) Advance tax (including refunds receivable)                  508.74           338.25 

(ii) Advances to Related Parties                          -                     -   

(iii) Other non-current assets                    42.26             60.65 

                 551.00           398.90 

Other Loans & Advances Consists of:

- Deferred Revenue Expenditure                      6.82             11.42 

- Prepaid Expenses                          -                 1.47 

-Preliminary expenses                      0.05               0.00 

-Pre Operative expenses                      9.95             23.86 

7 INVENTORIES (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

Inventories consist of the following :  As at  
31st March, 2025

 As at  
31st March, 2024

Raw Materials               1,530.32           819.99 

Work-in-progress                  412.40           337.75 

Finished Goods               7,559.78        5,399.55 

Stores & Spares                  358.73           338.07 

Packing Material                    27.16             17.54 

Stock in trade                  287.76           414.35 

Stock in Trasit                    46.02                   -   

            10,222.17        7,327.25 

8 CURRENT INVESTMENTS

Current investments consist of the following : (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

 As at   As at  

31st March, 2025 31st March, 2024

INVESTMENTS CARRIED AT FVTPL

i) Investment in mutual funds (unquoted)  Units/
Shares 

 Units/
Shares 

ICICI Pru Short Term Fund - Direct Plan - Growth 3,72,070 238.35 3,72,070 219.27 

ICICI Pru Balanced Advantage Fund- Growth 3,04,101 210.92 3,04,101 195.99 

ICICI Prudential Blue Chip Fund 1,70,680 175.78 1,56,231 150.20 

ICICI Prudential Short Term - Growth Option 36,572 21.51 36,572 19.91 

ICICI Pru Regular Saving Fund - Direct Plan- Growth 26,17,376 891.61 26,17,376 818.25 

ICICI Prudential Short Term - Growth Option 462 0.27 462 0.25 

ICICI Prudential Equity Savings Fund Cumulative 13,101 2.86 46,677 9.46 
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ICICI Prudential India Opportunities Fund Growth 25,322 8.38 3,440 1.02 

ICICI Prudential MNC Fund Growth 55,203 14.30 55,203  13.77 

ICICI Prudential Banking and PSU Debt Fund - Growth 88,665 28.41 88,665 26.29 

ICICI Prudential Short Term Fund - Growth 3,90,798 229.90 3,90,798 212.74 

ICICI Prudential Short Term Fund - Direct plan - Growth 3,01,553 193.18 3,01,553 177.71 

ICICI Pru Banking & PSU Debt Fund - Direct Plan - Gr 3,47,908 116.11 3,47,908 107.08 

ICICI Pru Short Term Fund - Direct Plan - Growth 3,01,623 193.22 3,01,623 177.75 

ICICI Prudential Banking and PSU Debt Fund - Growth 5,79,686 185.76 5,79,686 171.91 

Nippon India Short Term Fund - Growth 11,19,402 577.40 11,19,402 533.37 

Invesco India Growth India Opp. Fund - Growth (GF-GP) 80,808 70.32 80,808 61.30 

UTI Hybird Eq. Fund - Growth 66,376 252.48 66,376 228.02 

UTI Value Opportunities Fund - Reg -  Growth 1,00,167 156.49 1,00,167 135.97 

UTI Long Term Equity Fund- Tax Saving - Regular Plan- Growth 25,900 49.48 25,900  45.86 

UTI Flexi Cap Fund  Regular Plan 39,151 117.79 39,151 106.01 

UTI Flexi Cap Fund- Regular - Growth 24,515 73.75 24,515 66.38 

UTI Healthcare Fund - Reg Plan- Gr 34,949 93.75 34,949  78.08 

UTI Equity Fund 5,000 9.95 5,000 8.95 

ABSL Frontline Equity Fund - Reg - Growth 3,566 17.54 563 2.55 

Kotak Bond Fund (Short Term) - Reg - Growth 2,76,522 141.07 2,76,522 130.65 

HDFC Mid Term Opportunities Reg Plan - Growth 42,07,736 1,340.80 42,07,736 1,234.33 

HDFC Capital Builder Value Fund - Reg- Growth 899 6.03 899 5.52 

HDFC Equity Fund - Reg - Growth 4,109 75.86 4,109 65.97 

HDFC Small Cap Fund - Reg Plan - Growth 62,868 76.26 62,868 73.97 

HDFC Low Duration Fund - Reg Plan - Growth 1,04,172 58.94 1,04,172  54.85 

Axis Global Innovation Fund of Fund Reg Plan Growth 4,99,975 60.70 4,99,975 59.75 

Axis Short Term Fund - Regular Growth 21,25,315 641.84 21,25,315 592.81 

Axis Banking & PSU Debt Fund - Direct Growth( BD-DG) 4,225 112.28 4,225 03.67 

Axis Banking & PSU Debt Fund - Regular Growth( BD-GP) 1,072 27.64 1,072 25.59 

Axis Focused 25 Fund - REGULAR GROWTH( AF-GP) 1,01,047 51.58 1,01,047 49.61 

IDFC Banking & PSU Debt Fund - Reg - Growth 1,16,158 28.00 1,16,158 25.95 

IDFC Banking & PSU Debt Fund - Direct Plan - Growth 4,59,382 113.88 4,59,382 105.22 

Sundaram Short Duration Fund 8,851 3.84 8,851 3.55 

Sundaram Balanced Advantage Fund 5,60,619 187.62 5,60,619 176.29 

SBI Blue Chip Fund- Regular- Growth 1,78,187 154.18 1,62,396 129.89 

SBI Bluechip Fund - DIRECT- Growth 1,24,220 118.82 1,22,918 107.94 

SBI Energy Opportunities Fund - Regular Growth 99,995 9.72 99,995 10.09 

PGIM India Dynamic Bond Fund - Direct Plan - growth 4,309 126.66 4,309 115.04 

Canara Robeco Gilt Fund - direct Growth 1,55,149 124.87 1,55,149 114.26 

Total Current Investments 7,390.10 6,753.05 

Note: The Market Value of Quoted Investments is equal to the carrying value.
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9 TRADE RECEIVABLES (Unsecured) (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

Trade receivable consist of the following :-  As at  
31st March, 2025

 As at  
31st March, 2024

a) Receivable from Related Parties

- Unsecured, considered good                      7.24             47.49 

b) Receivable from Others

i) Unsecured, Considered good             14,763.63      11,363.08 

ii) Receivables which have significant increase in credit risk                  896.70           831.09 

Less:  Impairment Allowance (Allowance for Doubtful Receivables)                 (648.52)          (450.82)

            15,019.05      11,790.84 

9.1 Trade Receivables Ageing:

 Outstanding for following periods from due date of 
payment 

  (` in Lakh)

Particulars  Not Due  Less Than   6 Months to  1 - 2 Years  2 - 3 Years More than Total

   6 Months  1 Year     3 Years

As at 31st March, 2025:              

(i) Undisputed Trade Receivables 
- considered good

6,930.40 7,296.10 281.91 186.38 71.41 - 14,766.20

(ii) Undisputed Trade 
Receivables - which have 
significant increase in credit risk

- - 63.57 72.36 25.45 740.01 901.40

(iii) Undisputed Trade 
Receivables - credit impaired

- - - - - - -

(iv) Disputed Trade Receivables - 
considered good

- - - - - - -

(v) Disputed Trade Receivables - 
which have significant increase 
in credit risk

- - - - - - -

(vi) Disputed Trade Receivables - 
credit impaired

- - - - - - -

Total 6,930.40 7,296.10 345.48 258.74 96.86 740.01 1,5667.60

 Outstanding for following periods from due date of payment (` in Lakh)

Particulars  Not Due  Less Than   6 Months to  1 - 2 Years  2 - 3 Years More than Total

   6 Months  1 Year     3 Years

As at 31st March, 2024:              

(i) Undisputed Trade Receivables 
- considered good

10,159.68 599.21 278.09 179.18 205.01 - 11,421.17 

(ii) Undisputed Trade 
Receivables - which have 
significant increase in credit risk

- - 43.07 34.49 52.34 690.60 820.50 

(iii) Undisputed Trade 
Receivables - credit impaired

- - - - - - -

(iv) Disputed Trade Receivables - 
considered good

- - - - - - -

(v) Disputed Trade Receivables - 
which have significant increase 
in credit risk

- - - - - - -

(vi) Disputed Trade Receivables - 
credit impaired

- - - - - - -

Total 10,159.68 599.21 321.16 213.67 257.35 690.60 12,241.67
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10 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

Cash and Cash Equivalents consist of the following :-  As at  
31st March, 2025

 As at  
31st March, 2024

Cash & Cash equivalents:

i) Balances with banks

  In current accounts               7,780.24        6,237.01 

  In cash credit accounts               1,127.25        4,244.87 

(ii) Cheques on hand                    13.76             88.83 

(iii) Cash on hand                      6.43               5.14 

(iv) Imprest Balances                    10.52               7.39 

(v) Imprest Balances - Related Parties                    11.30             14.84 

(vi) Highly Liquid Investment with maturity of three months or less               9,775.27      12,377.60 

            18,724.77      22,975.68 

11 OTHER BALANCES WITH BANKS (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

Other Balances with Banks consist of the following :-  As at  
31st March, 2025

 As at  
31st March, 2024

Other bank balances consists of following:

- Short - Term Bank Deposits               9,019.23        8,376.51 

              9,019.23        8,376.51 

12 LOANS AND ADVANCES - CURRENT (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

Short term loans and advances consist of the following :-  As at  
31st March, 2025

 As at  
31st March, 2024

a) Secured, considered good                          -   

a) Unsecured, considered good

(i) Loans and Advances to Subsidiaries                          -                     -   

(ii) Loans and Advances to Related Parties               1,716.75        1,683.08 

(iii) Loans and Advances to Employees                  248.46           153.87 

(iv) Other loans and advances

a) Unsecured, Considered good               3,935.82        4,088.82 

b) Considered Doubtful                      5.15               5.15 

Less: Allowance for Doubtful Loans and Advances                     (5.15)              (5.15)

              5,901.03        5,925.77 

Other loans and advances considered good includes

- Interest bearing loans & deposits               2,272.30        4,069.02 

- Margin Money                  133.75           668.57 

- Advance to suppliers                  387.32             24.95 

13 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS - CURRENT (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

Other current assets consist of the following :-  As at  
31st March, 2025

 As at  
31st March, 2024

a) Interest receivable                      1.19               1.76 

b) Other Financial Assets                  170.36           693.42 

                 171.55           695.18 
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Other financial assets includes :

- Duty Drawback Receivable                    25.63             14.82 

- VAT Incentive Receivable at Hajipur                      6.82               6.82 

- Forward contract receivable a/c (net)                          -                     -   

- MEIS/ Rodtep Incentive Receivable                    73.31             34.75 

14 OTHER CURRENT ASSETS (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

Other current assets consist of the following :-  As at  
31st March, 2025

 As at  
31st March, 2024

(i) Other Current Assets               3,758.83        3,291.18 

Less: Allowance for Doubtful Other Assets                     (8.84)              (8.84)

              3,749.99        3,282.33 

Other loans and advances considered good includes:

GST Refundable               1,583.38        1,673.45 

Prepaid Expenses                  116.23             73.72 

Advance to Suppliers including Capital Advances                  387.28        1,498.53 

15 EQUITY SHARE CAPITAL (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

As at 
31st March, 2025

 As at  
31st March, 2024Authorized Share Capital :

20,00,000 Equity Shares (Previous Year 10,00,000) of Rs.10/-each                  200.00           200.00 

                 200.00           200.00 

Issued, Subscribed and paid up :

8,70,494 Equity shares (Previous Year 853287) of Rs.10/- each fully paid up                    87.05             87.05 

                   87.05             87.05 

15.1 Reconciliation of number of shares

As at March 31, 2025 As at March 31, 2025

 No. of shares  Amount  No. of shares  Amount 

Equity Shares        

- Opening Balance      8,70,494 87.05            8,70,494   87.05 

- Changes during the year                 -             -                        -   

- Closing Balance      8,70,494 87.05            8,70,494   87.05 

Note: The Change in equity shares is due to Amalgamation of M/s Pahwa Estates & Holdings Pvt. Ltd. (Kindly refer Note No. 38)

15.2 Terms/ Rights attached to Equity Shares
The Company has one class of equity shares having a par value of Rs. 10 each. Each shareholder is eligible for one vote per 
share held. The dividend, if proposed by the Board of Directors is subject to approval of the shareholders in the ensuing Annual 
General Meeting. In the event of liquidation, the equity shareholders are eligible to receive the remaining assets of the Company  
after distribution of all preferential amounts, in proportion to their shareholding.
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15.3 The details of Shareholders holding more than 5% shares :

  As at 
31st March, 

2025
No. of Shares

% As at 
31st March, 

2024
No. of Shares

 % 

Name of Shareholder

 

Rishi Pahwa      1,89,198 21.73%            1,89,198 21.73%

Mandeep Singh Pahwa      1,90,028 21.83%            1,90,028 21.83%

Onkar Singh Pahwa C/o Onkar Singh Pahwa Family Trust 1      1,00,134 11.50%            1,00,134 11.50%

Onkar Singh Pahwa C/o Onkar Singh Pahwa Family Trust 2      1,52,883 17.56%            1,52,883 17.56%

Sarabjit Kaur Pahwa C/o Sarabjit Kaur Pahwa Family Trust 1 1,00,134 11.50%      1,00,134 11.50%

Sarabjit Kaur Pahwa C/o Sarabjit Kaur Pahwa Family Trust 2 1,37,279 15.77%      1,37,279 15.77%

15.4 Shareholding of Promoters:

Sr.
no
 

Promoter’s Name
 
 

 No. of shares 
 at the 

 beginning of 
 the year 

change
during the

year
 

No. of
shares at

the end of
the year

 % of total 
 shares 

 
 

% change
during the

year
 

  As at 31st March, 2025:          

1 Sh. Rishi Pahwa           1,89,198                      -   189198 21.73% 0.00%

2 Sh. Mandeep Singh Pahwa           1,90,028                      -   190028 21.83% 0.00%

3 Pahwa Estates & Holdings Pvt. Ltd.                      -                        -                      -   0.00% 0.00%

4 Smt. Pallavi Pahwa                   830                      -               830.00 0.10% 0.00%

5 Onkar Singh Pahwa C/o Onkar Singh Pahwa 
Family Trust 1 *

          1,00,134                      -       1,00,134.00 11.50% 0.00%

6 Onkar Singh Pahwa C/o Onkar Singh Pahwa 
Family Trust 2  *

          1,52,883                      -       1,52,883.00 17.56% 0.00%

7 Sarabjit Kaur Pahwa C/o Sarabjit Kaur Pahwa 
Family Trust 1  *

          1,00,134                      -       1,00,134.00 11.50% 0.00%

8 Sarabjit Kaur Pahwa C/o Sarabjit Kaur Pahwa 
Family Trust 2  *

          1,37,279                      -       1,37,279.00 15.77% 0.00%

  Total           8,70,486                      -            8,70,486 - -

* Changes in  equity is on account of transfer of shares to different trust for the benefits of relatives of Mr. Onkar Singh Pahwa and Mrs. 
Sarabjit Kaur Pahwa by way of gift. However, voting rights remain with the transferor.

Sr.
no
 
 

Promoter’s Name
 
 
 

 No. of shares 
 at the 

 beginning of 
 the year 

change
during the

year
 

No. of
shares at

the end of
the year

 % of total 
 shares 

 
 

% change
during the

year
 

  As at 31st March, 2024:          

1 Sh. Onkar Singh Pahwa               24,424 (24,424) 0 0.00% -2.81%
2 Smt. Sarabjit Kaur Pahwa                 8,820 (8,820) 0 0.00% -1.01%
3 Sh. Rishi Pahwa           1,89,157                     41 189198 21.73% 0.00%
4 Sh. Mandeep Singh Pahwa           1,90,069 (41) 190028 21.83% 0.00%
5 Pahwa Estates & Holdings Pvt. Ltd.                      -                        -                      -   0.00% 0.00%
6 Smt. Pallavi Pahwa                   830                      -               830.00 0.10% 0.00%
7 Onkar Singh Pahwa C/o Onkar Singh Pahwa 

Family Trust 1 *
             95,713 4,421     1,00,134.00 11.50% 0.51%

8 Onkar Singh Pahwa C/o Onkar Singh Pahwa 
Family Trust 2  *

          1,32,880 20,003     1,52,883.00 17.56% 2.30%

9 Sarabjit Kaur Pahwa C/o Sarabjit Kaur Pahwa 
Family Trust 1  *

             95,713 4,421     1,00,134.00 11.50% 0.51%

10 Sarabjit Kaur Pahwa C/o Sarabjit Kaur Pahwa 
Family Trust 2  *

          1,32,880 4,399     1,37,279.00 15.77% 0.51%

  Total           8,70,486                      -            8,70,486 - -
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16 OTHER EQUITY (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

Other Equity consist of the following: As at 
31st March, 

2025

 As at  
31st March, 

2024

General Reserve

As per last Balance Sheet    16,838.33 16,338.33 

Less:                 -   

Add: Transferred from Profit and Loss Account         500.00  17,338.33               500.00 16,838.33 

Capital Redemption Reserve

As per last Balance Sheet             5.12                   5.12 

Add:

Transfer from PEHPL                 -          5.12                      -    5.12 

Capital Reserve

As per last Balance Sheet           36.48                 36.48 

Cross holding of Shares cancelled due to de-merger with AEIPL                 -         36.48                       -   36.48 

Retained Earnings

As per last Balance Sheet    47,747.25 40,589.67 

Add: Profit for the year      4,407.61            8,092.36 

Other Comprehensive Income          (36.43)                 22.17 

   52,118.43 48,704.20 

Less : Appropriations

Transferred to General Reserve        (500.00) (500.00)

Dividend on Equity Shares        (348.20) (348.20)

Transfer to AEIPL as per order of NCLT dated 03.07.2023                 -                        -   

Prior Period Adjustments                 -                        -   

Tax adjustment of earlier years           62.76 51,332.99 (108.75) 47,747.25 

Total 68,712.92 64,627.18 

Notes to Reserves:

a) Capital Redemption Reserve: 
The Indian Company Act, 2013 (“The Companies Act”) requires that where a company purchases its own shares out of free 
reserves or securities premium account, a sum equal to the nominal value of the shares so purchased shall be transferred to a 
capital redemption reserve account and details of such transfer shall be disclosed in the balance sheet. The capital redemption 
reserve account may be applied by the Company, in paying up unissued shares of the company to be issued to shareholders of 
the company as fully paid bonus shares. Avon Cycles Ltd. established this reserve pursuant to the redemption of equity shares 
issued in earlier years.

b) Retained Earnings:
Retained earnings are the profits that the Company has earned till date, add/(less) any transfers from/(to) general reserve, 
securities premium, dividends or other distributions paid to shareholders. Retained earnings includes re-measurement gain/
(loss) on defined benefit obligations, net of taxes that will not be reclassified to Profit and Loss. 

c) Capital Reserve:
The capital reserve represents the excess of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the consideration paid/ received or vice 
versa in a common control sale/transfer of business/investment. 



129

17 BORROWINGS (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

Borrowings consist of the following : As at 
31st March, 2025

 As at  
31st March, 2024

Secured - at Amortized Cost

Term Loans - from Banks               1,390.19        1,800.62 

Term Loans - from Others                          -                     -   

              1,390.19        1,800.62 

Unsecured - at Amortized Cost

Loans & Advances from related parties                  352.13           728.67 

                 352.13           728.67 

Total               1,742.32        2,529.29 

Note: The Group has used the borrowed funds from banks for the purpose, it were taken.

Detail of Term Loans is:

Name of Facility Repayment Terms  Security Amount 
Outstanding as 

on 31.03.2025

Amount 
Outstanding as on 

31.03.2024

EXIM Bank-Term Loan (15 
Crores)

28 monthly instalments 
starting from October

 Hypothecation of 
Fixed Assets created 
out of Term Loan 

970.76        1,178.57 

HDFC Bank-Term Loan-I (14.69 
Crores)

28 monthly instalments 
starting after from the 
first date of disbursement

 Hypothecation of 
Fixed Assets created 
out of Term Loan 

845.90        1,049.60 

18 NON CURRENT LEASE LIABILITY (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

Non- Current Lease Liabilities consist of the following : As at 
31st March, 2025

 As at  
31st March, 2024

Lease Liability                  155.92           181.88 

                 155.92           181.88 

19 OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

Other Financial Liabilities consist of the following : As at 
31st March, 2025

 As at  
31st March, 2024

Other Financial Liabilities                  638.07           664.97 

                 638.07           664.97 

Other Financial Liabilities includes:

Dealer’s Securities                  578.04           599.17 

Security Deposits                          -               33.46 

20 OTHER NON CURRENT LIABILITIES (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

Other long -term liabilities consist of the following : As at 
31st March, 2025

 As at  
31st March, 2024

Other Non - Current Liabilities                  501.18           316.76 

                 501.18           316.76 

Other Long Term Liabilities includes:

Provision for Unpaid Earned Leaves                  287.45           217.58 
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Note: The Group has used the borrowed funds from banks for the purpose, it were taken.

Detail of Short Term Borrowings is as under: (` in lakh)

Name of Facility
 

Security
 

Amt. Guaranteed

31.03.2025 31.03.2024

 Punjab National Bank Working Capital Limit
 

Hypothecation of any stock (RM/
WIP/FG) lying in premises or in 
transit. Hypothecation of entire 
book debts arising out of genuine 
business transactions.

1,506.13 
 

521.27

HDFC Bank Ltd. - Working Capital Facility
 
 
 

First Pari-Passu charge on stocks  
and book- debts with other 
working capital lenders for total 
working  Capital limits of Group.

432.09 
 
 
 

156.65

21 SHORT TERM BORROWINGS (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

Short -term borrowings consist of the followings As at 
31st March, 2025

 As at  
31st March, 2024

Secured loans:

i) Working Capital limits from Banks               1,938.22           677.92 

ii) Current Maturities of Long Term Debt                  424.20           424.20 

              2,362.42        1,102.12 

22 CURRENT LEASE LIABILITY (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

Current Lease Liabilities consist of the following : As at 
31st March, 2025

 As at  
31st March, 2024

Lease Liability                    44.62             47.68 

                   44.62             47.68 

23 TRADE PAYABLES: (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

Trade Payables consists of following: As at 
31st March, 2025

 As at  
31st March, 2024

a) Trade Payables:

a) Total Outstanding dues of micro enterprises and               4,662.35        3,410.73 

small enterprises

b) Total Outstanding dues of other than micro enterprises and small enterprises               3,270.33        3,962.15 

b) Due to Related Parties                  322.69                   -   

              8,255.37        7,372.88 

23.1 Trade Payables Ageing: (` in Lakh)

 Outstanding for following periods from due date of payment

Particulars
 

Not Due
 

 Less Than  
 1 Year 

 1 - 2 Years 
 

 2 - 3 Years 
 

More than 
3 Years

Total

As at 31st March, 2025: 

(i) MSME              4,662.06                  0.29 -                    -                        -            4,662.35 

(ii) Others              1,926.47 1,511.33  65.47 22.55                67.20          3,593.02 

(iii) Disputed dues- MSME - - - - - -

(iv) Disputed dues- Others - - - - - -

Total              6,588.53 1,511.62 65.47 22.55 67.20          8,255.37 
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(` in Lakh)

 Outstanding for following periods from due date of payment 

Particulars
 

Not Due
 

 Less Than  
 1 Year 

 1 - 2 Years 
 

 2 - 3 Years 
 

More than 
3 Years

Total

As at 31st March, 2024: 

(i) MSME                               -   

(ii) Others              3,410.73 - - - -          3,410.73 

(iii) Disputed dues- MSME              2,864.89 1,012.29 22.08 30.64 32.25          3,962.15 

(iv) Disputed dues- Others - - - - - -

Total              6,275.62 1,012.29 22.08 30.64 32.25          7,372.88 

24 OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

Other current liabilities consist of the following : As at 
31st March, 2025

 As at  
31st March, 2024

Other Financial Liabilities:

i) Due to  Related Parties                          -                     -   

ii) Due to Other than Related parties                  421.89           563.30 

                 421.89           563.30 

Other Financial Liabilities includes:

Cheques Issued but not presented                  368.87           464.31 

25 SHORT-TERM PROVISIONS (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

As at 
31st March, 2025

 As at  
31st March, 2024Short -term borrowings consists of the following:

Provision for Unspent CSR Liability                          -                     -   

                         -                     -   

26 OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

Other current liabilities consist of the following : As at 
31st March, 2025

 As at  
31st March, 2024

Advance received from Customers                  188.18           188.70 

Due to Related Parties                  291.38        2,150.24 

Other Payables                  770.71           904.45 

              1,250.27        3,243.39 

Other payables includes :

Statutory liabilities                  287.01           285.88 

Income Received in Advance                      2.24               4.41 

Advance from Sale of Property                          -               23.29 

27 REVENUE FROM OPERATIONS (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

 2024-2025  2023-2024 

Sale of Products             94,184.32   1,15,788.87 

Other Operating Revenues                  265.54           177.51 

            94,449.86   1,15,966.38 
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28 OTHER INCOME (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

 2024-2025  2023-2024 

a) Interest Income

i) On Bank Deposits (at amortized cost)         717.02               628.38 

ii) On Loans & Advances (at amortized cost)         329.12               337.93 

iii) Other interest           44.50   1,090.64                 29.91           996.22 

b) Net gain on Sale/ Fair valuation of Investments

i) Fair Valuation gain on Investments (net)         698.59            1,068.78 

ii) Profit on sale of current investments         935.06               829.69 

iii) Profit on sale of non-current investments             2.33 1,635.98                      -          1,898.47 

c) Royalty                        -               31.99 

d) Other Non Operating Income 483.03           266.75 

 3,209.65        3,193.44 

Other Non - Operating Income includes:

- Rent Received   212.48           204.91 

- Profit on Sale of property, plant & equipment     50.98             21.13 

29 COST OF MATERIALS CONSUMED (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

 2024-2025 
 % of  

consumption 

 2023-2024 
 % of  

 consumption 

Imported      1,792.32 2.86%            1,460.52 5.85%

Indigenous    60,914.64 97.14%          72,115.18 94.15%

Total    62,706.96 100.00%          73,575.70 100.00%

30 PURCHASE OF STOCK - IN - TRADE (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

 2024-2025 
 % of  

consumption 

 2023-2024 
 % of  

 consumption 

Imported                 -   0.00%                      -   0.01%

Indigenous      4,071.23 100.00%            3,945.33 99.99%

Total      4,071.23 100.00%            3,945.33 100%

31 CHANGE IN INVENTORIES OF FINISHED GOODS/
STOCK-IN-TRADE/ WORK-IN-PROGRESS

(` in lakh)
 2024-2025 

(` in lakh)
 2023-2024 

Opening Stock 5,821.16        8,092.47 

Less: Closing Stock (8,108.37)       (5,821.16)

(2,287.21)        2,271.31 

27.1 PARTICULARS OF SALE OF PRODUCTS (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

Particulars  2024-2025  2023-2024 

Domestic

Bicycles & its parts             81,863.82   1,04,359.17 

E-Bikes & its parts                  316.67           841.48 

E- Rickshaw & its parts                  741.86        1,332.55 

Export Sales             10,464.53        8,517.52 

Export Incentives                  436.26           293.47 

Others                  361.19           444.68 

            94,184.33   1,15,788.86 
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32 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE (` in lakh)
 2024-2025 

(` in lakh)
 2023-2024 

Salaries and Wages   6,434.42        5,669.39 

Contribution to Provident and other Funds      529.34           500.43 

Staff Welfare Expenses      143.00           130.61 

Total 7,106.76        6,300.43 

33 FINANCE COSTS (` in lakh)
 2024-2025 

(` in lakh)
 2023-2024 

Interest Expenses 341.27           441.19 

Other borrowing costs    73.64           120.26 

   414.91           561.45 

34 OTHER EXPENSES (` in lakh)
 2024-2025 

(` in lakh)
 2023-2024 

Manufacturing Expenses

Stores, chemical and packing material      5,431.99            5,407.52 

Processing Charges         502.13               532.99 

Power & Fuel         402.13               387.91 

Carriage Inward           86.83                 90.44 

Repairs to Machinery           78.91  6,501.99                 71.29        6,490.15 

Selling and distribution Expenses

Clearing & Forwarding Charges      7,520.56          10,980.06 

Commission         411.97               347.74 

Advertisement      1,421.52               946.67 

Other Selling Expenses         243.17 9,597.22               138.34      12,412.81 

Establishment Expenses

Printing & Stationery           36.89                 31.81 

Postage, Telegrams & Telephone Expenses           94.50                 63.21 

Travelling Expenses         486.55               538.12 

Vehicles Maintenance Expenses           47.06                 44.38 

Repairs to Building         274.68               179.34 

Repairs & Renewals           66.15               112.05 

Payments to Auditors           17.75                 18.10 

Charity & Donation             6.06                   6.20 

Insurance         133.03               173.58 

Rates & Taxes           37.67                 28.71 

Legal & Professional Charges         269.54               253.76 

Bad Debts & Advances written off             2.08                 10.61 

Miscellaneous Expenses         441.22 1,913.18               364.16        1,824.00 

18,012.39      20,726.96 
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34.1 PAYMENT TO AUDITOR AS (` in lakh)
 2024-2025 

(` in lakh)
 2023-2024 

i) Audit Fees            2.10               2.10 

ii) Tax Audit Fee           3.50               2.00 

iii) GST/ VAT Audit Fee                          -                     -   

iv) Certification fees                          -                     -   

iii) Others        12.15             14.00 

    17.75             18.10 

35 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (` in lakh)
 2024-2025 

(` in lakh)
 2023-2024 

a) Guarantees given by Bank 5888.91 3030.34

b) Proposed Dividend 174.09           174.10 

c) i) The Company has given Corporate Guarantee to Banks & NBFC’s to make good any default committed by the persons who 
get finance for the purchase of E- Rickshaw of Avon Cycles Ltd. From Bank/ NBFC. The total amount of loan outstanding as on 
31.03.2025 is as below:

Name of Financial Institution (` in lakh)
 As at 31.03.2025 

(` in lakh)
 As at 31.03.2024 

Indusind Bank Ltd.      74.07              61.46 

Mufin Green Finance Ltd.          1.13                   -   

d) Disputed excise and service tax demand amounting to Rs. 36.68 Lakh (pre year 36.68 Lakh) and penalty of Rs. 36.68 Lakh 
(Previous year 36.87 Lakh)pertain to financial year from 2006-07 up to 2008-2009 in case of excise and April 2008 to September 
2011 in case of Service Tax under appeal pending before Appellate authorities. Group has deposited Rs. 2.90 Lac in case 
of Service Tax and Rs. 41.52 Lakh in case of custom and Rs. 1.50 lakh as penalty with custom. Disputed Basic Custom Duty 
amounting to Rs. 22.39 Lac (Previous Year - 22.39) for financial year 2018-19 and Rs. 531.43 lakh (previous year Rs. 531.43 lakh) 
for period january 2018 to August 2022 . The management is of opinion that the demand  is not sustainable.

e) Show cause notices received from Excise and Custom Department pending formal demand notices, have not been considered 
as contingent liability.

f ) Income Tax demand for Rs. 6.58 Lac are outstanding for Assessment Year 2016-17 and Rs. 29.55 for Assessment Year 2018-19.

g) Levy of Entry Tax pertaining to period 1st April 2015 to 30th June 2017 has been affirmed by West Bengal High Court. The 
company is now in process to file SLP with Supreme Court on the matter.  The disputed amount of entry tax including interest 
is Rs. 86.15 lakh for FY 2017-18 and Rs. 182.69 for FY 2016-17 and Rs. 249.21 lakh for FY 2015-16.

36 On certain points, appeals/ references/ revisions are pending at various stages in respect of past year’s income tax assessments. 
Additional demands/ refunds, if any, shall be accounted for as and when these are actually paid/ refunded.
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37 SCHEME OF ARRANGEMENT 
National Company Law Tribunal-Chandigarh has approved the Scheme of Arrangement amongst M/s Pahwa Estates And 
Holdings Private Limited (Transferror Company) and M/s Avon Cycles Limited (Transferree Company/Demerged Company And 
M/s Avon Energies And Investments Private Limited (Resulting Company) And their respective shareholders and creditors, vide 
its order dated 03.07.2023, detail of which is given below:  

1) First part of the Scheme-Amalgamation of M/s Pahwa Estates And Holdings Private Limited (Transferor Company) with M/s 
Avon Cycles Limited (Transferree Company/Demerged Company) 

2) Second Part of the Scheme-Demerger of Non Core Undertaking of the Company into M/s Avon Energies And Investments 
Private Limited (Resulting Company)  

As per first part of the scheme, M/s Pahwa Estates And Holdinngs Private Limited has been amalgamated with the Company 
with appointed date 01.04.2022. The Company has issued 73207 equity shares face value of Rs. 10 each, fully paid up, in lieu of 
44100  equity shares face value of Rs. 100 each, fully paid up to the shareholder of the M/s Pahwa Estates And Holdings Private 
Limited in the ratio of 1.66:1 i.e. for every one Equity Shares of M/s Pahwa Estates And Holdings Private Limited 1.66 Equity 
Shares of M/s Avon Cycles Limited. Further, as per this scheme, the Company (Avon Cycles Limited) has done the reduction of 
share capital by cancellation and extinguishment of 56000 equity shares of Rs. 10 each fully paid up agreegating to Rs. 5.60 
Lakh.  

As per second part of the scheme, Non Core Undertaking of the Company has been  demrged into M/s Avon Energies And 
Investments Private Limited (AEIPL) with appointed date 01.04.2022. The Company has duly given effect of the scheme and 
accounted for necessary enteries in the books of accounts of the Company in accordance with the applicable Indian Accounting 
Standards (IND-AS) and nothing is left  to report as deviation. Although necessary book entries have been passed in both the 
companies but still in in some cases certain income and expenditure have been received/ incurred by the transferor company 
and the said transactions have been given effect through book entries in both the companies in FY 2024-2025.

38 DIVIDENDS 
Dividends paid during the year ended March 31, 2025 include an amount of Rs. 20 per equity share towards final dividend 
for the year ended March 31, 2024 and Interim Dividend of  Rs. 20 per equity share for the year ended March 31, 2025. The 
dividends declared by the Company are based on profits available for distribution as reported in the standalone financial 
statements of the Company. Accordingly, the retained earnings reported in these standalone financial statements may not be 
fully distributable. 

As at March 31, 2025, the income available for distribution were Rs. 4407.61 Lakh. Total cash outflow of dividend for the year 
ended March 31, 2025 are  Rs. 348.18 Lacs.

Further, Board proposed an amount of Rs. 20 per equity share towards final dividend for the year ended March 31,2025.  
Dividend, if approved by shareholders at Annual General Meeting, the dividend would result in a further  cash outflow of  
Rs. 174.09 Lakh.

39 TAX BALANCES

39.1 The following is analysis of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) presented in Balance Sheet:

Deferred Tax Liabilities (Net): Opening 
Balance

Recognised in 
Profit or Loss

Recognised 
in OCI

Closing 
Balance

Deferred Tax Assets:

Property, Plant & Equipment, and Intangible Assets           13.60   14.81                      -    28.41 

Expenses deductible in Future Years         257.08 (113.37)                      -    143.71 

Provision for Doubtful Debts/ Advances             1.58 163.22                      -   164.80 

Losses allowable in future years         180.54    24.56                      -   205.10 

ROU Assets           44.00 (14.44)                      -   29.56 

Other Financial Liabilities             2.81  (2.81)                      -                     -   

Others                 -     13.14                       -   13.14 

        499.61  85.11                      -   584.72 

Deferred Tax Liabilities:

Property, Plant & Equipment, and Intangible Assets           68.78                      9.84                      -   78.62 

Other Financial Assets           29.76                  331.53                      -   361.29 

Investment in Bonds, Mutual Funds and equity instruments         471.80                          -                        -   471.80 

Other Financial Liabilities             2.05                     (2.03)                      -   0.02 

Others             0.00                      0.91 (0.36) 0.55 

        572.38                  340.25   (0.36)  912.27 

Net Deferred Tax Liability          (72.77) (255.14)    0.36 (327.55)
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39.2 Income Tax Recognised in Profit or Loss:

Particulars (` in lakh)
For Year Ended

31st March, 2025

(` in lakh)
For Year Ended

31.03.2024

Current Tax

In respect of current year               1,552.00            2,299.22 

Deferred Tax

In respect of Current Year                  268.22             (121.72)

Total Income Tax Expense Recognised               1,820.22            2,177.50 

39.3 Income Tax recognised in Other Comprehensive Income

Particulars (` in lakh)
For Year Ended

31st March, 2025

(` in lakh)
For Year Ended

31.03.2024

Arising on Remeasurement of Defined benefit Obligation                    13.43                   2.78 

                   13.43                   2.78 

40 EARNINGS PER EQUITY SHARES

Basic/Diluted EPS amounts are calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the Group by 
weighted average number of Equity shares outstanding during the year.

The following reflects the income and share data used in the basic and diluted EPS computations:

Particulars (` in lakh)
31st March, 2025

(` in lakh)
31st March, 2024

Profit/ (Loss) after Tax               4,407.61            8,092.36 

Less: Adjustment of Income Tax Earlier Years                   (62.76)               108.75 

Profit after adjustment of Income Tax Earlier Years               4,344.85            8,201.11 

Weighted average number of equity shares          8,70,494.00       8,70,494.00 

Earning per share : Basic/Diluted (A/B)`                  499.12               942.12 

41 Interest paid  includes Rs. 77.34 Lakh for F/Y 2024-2025 and Rs. 99.10 lakh for F/Y 2023-2024 paid to Directors.

42 Charity & Donation includes Rs. 0.25 lakh contributed to political parties during Financial year 2024-25, Rs. Nil during Financial 
Year 2023-24, detail of which is as under:

Party Name (` in lakh)
31st March, 2025

(` in lakh)
31st March, 2024

Bihar Pradesh Janta Dal                      0.25                      -   

                         -                        -   

                     0.25                      -   

43 Interest received of Rs. 1090.64 Lakh (Previous Year Rs. 957.32 Lakh) includes Tax deducted at source of Rs.62.64  Lakh (Previous 
Year Rs. 115.21 Lakh).

44 Expenditure on insurance includes Rs.13.61 Lakh (Previous year Rs. 44.98 Lakh) being premiums paid under Keyman Insurance 
schemes to cover risks on life of Key Management personnel.

45 Income -tax assessments of the Company have been completed upto the accounting year ended 31.03.2024 relevant to the 
assessment year 2024-2025.
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46 In accordance with section 135 of Companies Act, 2013, the company is covered by the provision of said section:

Particulars (` in lakh)
2024-2025

(` in lakh)
2023-2024

i) The amount required to be spent under CSR Obligation                  135.96               126.52 

ii) The amount of expenditure incurred during the year                  137.41               129.05 

iii) Shortfall at the end of the year                     (1.45)                 (2.53)

iv) Total of Previous Years Shortfall                          -                        -   

v) Movement of Provision for unspent CSR:

Opening                          -                     3.54 

Provision created during the year                          -                        -   

Spent during the year                          -                     3.54 

Closing                          -                        -   

vi) Detail of nature of CSR Expenditure incurred during the year:

  Particulars (` in lakh)
2024-2025

(` in lakh)
2023-2024

a) Animal Welfare                      5.08                   2.00 

b) Welfare of Armed Forces                      0.12                 32.65 

c) Education                    31.64                 11.80 

d) Environment                    27.74                 62.71 

e) Health                    69.63                   0.50 

f ) Hunger                      2.00                 11.24 

g) Sports                      1.20                   8.31 

h) Art & Culture                          -                     0.25 

  Total                  137.41               129.46 

47 In the opinion of the Directors, current assets, loans and advances have a value on realisation in the ordinary course of business 
atleast equal to the value at which they are stated in the Balance Sheet.

48 Previous years’  figures have been regrouped/ recasted/ rearranged/ reclassified where necessary to make them comparable.

49 Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises

a) Disclosures required under Section 22 of the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act,2006

Particulars (` in lakh)

2024-2025  2023-2024

A) (i) Principal amount remaining unpaid at the end of accounting year  4,662.35 3410.73

(ii) Interest due on above  0.01 -

B) The amount of interest paid by the Group in terms of section 16 of the 
MSMED, along with amount of payment made to the suppliers beyond the 
appointed date during the accounting year.

-                       -   

C) The amount of interest accrued and remaining unpaid at the end of the 
financial year.

0.01              -      

D) The amount of interest due and payable for the period of delay in making 
payment (which have been paid but beyond the due date during the year) but 
without adding interest specified under the MSMED

-                       -   

E) The amount of further interest remaining due and payable in succeeding 
years, until such interest is actually paid.

 0.01 -

b) The above information has been compiled in respect of parties to the extent to which they could be identified as Micro, Small 
and Medium Enterprises on the basis of information available with the Group.
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50 Government Grants: (` in lakh)
2024-2025

(` in lakh)
2023-2024

At the Beginning 6.82 6.82

Provided during the year                          -                        -   

Received/ Adjusted during the year                          -                        -   

At the End of the year 6.82 6.82

51 Significant Accounting Judgements, estimates and assumptions: 
The preparation of the Group’s Consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the accompanying disclosures, 
and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that 
require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or liabilities affected in future periods.

Judgements: 
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made following judgements, which have the most 
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the Consolidated financial statements:

Estimates & Assumptions 
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimating uncertainty at the reporting date, that have 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, 
are described below. The Group based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the Consolidated financial 
statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments, however, may change due 
to market changes or circumstances arising that are beyond the control of the Group. Such changes are reflected in the 
assumptions when they occur.

Defined Benefit Plans (gratuity benefits) 
The cost of the defined benefit gratuity plan and other post-employment benefits and the present value of the gratuity 
obligation are determined using actuarial valuations. An actuarial valuation involves making various assumptions that may 
differ from actual developments in the future. These include the determination of the discount rate, future salary increases and 
mortality rates. Due to the complexities involved in the valuation and its long-term nature, a defined benefit obligation is highly 
sensitive to changes in these assumptions. All assumptions are reviewed at each reporting date.

The parameter most subject to change is the discount rate. In determining the appropriate discount rate for plans operated in 
India, the management considers the interest rates of government bonds in currencies consistent with the currencies of the 
post-employment benefit obligation.

The mortality rate is based on publicly available mortality tables for the specific countries. Those mortality tables tend to change 
only at interval in response to demographic changes. Future salary increases and gratuity increases are based on expected 
future inflation rates. Further details about gratuity obligations are given in Note 60.

Fair Value Measurement of Financial Instruments 
When the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the balance sheet cannot be measured based on 
quoted prices in active markets, their fair value is measured using other valuation techniques. The inputs to these models are 
taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgement is required in establishing 
fair values. Judgements include considerations of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk and volatility. Changes in assumptions 
about these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments.

Impairment of Non- Financial Assets 
Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the 
higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The fair value less costs of disposal calculation is based on 
available data from binding sales transactions, conducted at arm’s length, for similar assets or observable market prices less 
incremental costs for disposing of the asset. The value in use calculation is based on a DCF model. 

52 Financial risk management objective and policies
The Group’s principal financial liabilities comprise loans and borrowings, trade and other payables. The main purpose of these 
financial liabilities is to finance the Group’s operations and to support its operations. The Group’s financial assets include loans, 
trade and other receivables, and cash & cash equivalents that derive directly from its operations.

a) Market Risk 
Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 
prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: interest rate risk, currency risk and other price risks. Financial instruments 
affected by market risk include loans and borrowings, deposits and payables/receivables in foreign currencies. 
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i) Interest Rate Risk: 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
market interest rates. The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s long 
term debt obligations with floating interest rates . The Group is carrying its borrowings primarily at variable rates. For floating 
rates borrowings the analysis is prepared assuming the amount of the liability outstanding at the end of the reporting period 
was outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis point Increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk internally 
to Key management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates .

(` in lakh)
 31st March, 2025 

(` in lakh)
 31st March 2024 

Variable Rate Borrowings               8,440.61            5,060.74 

Fixed Rate Borrowings                  352.13               728.67 

Interest Rate Sensitivity
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates on that portion of loans 
and borrowings affected. With all other variable held ‘constant, the Group’s profit before tax is affected through the impact on 
floating rate borrowings, as follows:   

Effect on Profit Before Tax

(` in lakh) (` in lakh)

 31st March, 2025  31st March 2024 

Increase by 50 Basis Points                    42.20                 25.30 

Decrease by 50 Basis Points                   (42.20)               (25.30)

b) Foreign Currency Risks 
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of an exposure will fluctuate because of changes in 
international currencies as part of the business is transacted in foreign currencies and consequently the Group is exposed to 
foreign exchange risk. The Group’s exposure in foreign currency is in loans, trade receivables and advances and trade payables.  

i) Particulars of Unhedged Foreign Currency Exposure as at reporting date:

Particulars (USD in Lakh)
 31st March, 2025 

(USD in Lakh)
 31st March 2024 

Trade Receivables                    15.40                 16.57 

EEFC Balance                          -                        -   

Loan                          -                        -   

Trade Payables                          -                        -   

Foreign Currency Sensitivity 
The following table demonstrate the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in foreign currency exchange rates, with all 
other variables held constant. The impact on the Group’s profit before tax is due to changes in the fair value of monetary assets 
and liabilities.  

(` in lakh)
 31st March, 2025 

(` in lakh)
 31st March 2024 

5% Increase 5% Decrease 5% Increase 5% Decrease

USD

Increase/ (Decrease) in Profit or Loss           65.91 (65.91)                 69.08            (69.08)

ii) Foreign Currency Exposure (Forward Booking) 
The foreign currency exposure of the Group as on reporting date is as under. The Group does not use forward contracts for 
speculative purpose.
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(USD in Lakh) (USD in Lakh)

 31st March, 2025  31st March 2024 

Forward Contracts against Exports                      2.00                   2.00 

Forward Contracts against Imports                          -                        -   

iii) Price Risk 
The Group’s exposure price risk arises from investments held and classified in the balance sheet either as fair value through 
other comprehensive income or at fair value through profit or loss. To manage the price risk arising from investments, the Group 
diversifies its portfolio of assets. 

B) Credit Risk 
Credit risk is the risk that counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract, leading 
to a financial loss. The Group is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities (primarily trade receivables)

Credit Risk Management 
The Group assesses and manages credit risk based on internal credit rating system. Internal credit rating is performed for each 
class of financial instruments with different characteristics. . The Group assigns the following credit ratings to each class of 
financial assets based on the assumptions, inputs and factors specific to the class of financial assets.

(i) Low credit risk on reporting date

(ii) Moderate Credit Risk

The Company provides for expected credit loss based on the following:

Asset Group  Basis of Categorization Provision for expected credit loss

Low Credit Risk Cash and cash equivalents, other bank balances, loans 
trade receivables and other financial assets

12 month expected credit loss

Moderate credit risk Trade receivables and other financial assets Life time expected credit loss or 12 
month expected credit loss

Based on business environment in which the Group operates, a default on a financial asset is considered when the counter 
party fails to make payments within the agreed time period as per contract. Loss rates reflecting defaults are based on actual 
credit loss experience and considering differences between current and historical economic conditions. 

Assets are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery, such as a debtor declaring bankruptcy or a litigation 
decided against the Group. The Group continues to engage with parties whose balances are written off and attempts to enforce 
repayment. Recoveries made are recognised in statement of profit and loss.

Cash & cash equivalents and bank deposits 
Credit risk related to cash and cash equivalents and bank deposits is managed by only accepting highly rated banks and 
diversifying bank deposits and accounts in different banks across the country.

Trade receivables 
The Group closely monitors the credit-worthiness of the debtors through internal systems that are configured to define credit 
limits of customers, thereby, limiting the credit risk to pre-calculated amounts. The Group assesses increase in credit risk on 
an ongoing basis for amounts receivable that become past due and default is considered to have occurred when amounts 
receivable become one year past due.

Other financial assets measured at amortized cost 
Other financial assets measured at amortized cost includes loans and advances to employees, security deposits and others. 
Credit risk related to these other financial assets is managed by monitoring the recoverability of such amounts continuously. 

i) Trade Receivables 
Customer credit risk is managed by each business location subject to the Group’s established policy, procedures and control 
relating to customer credit risk management. Credit quality of a customer is assessed and individual credit limits are defined in 
accordance with the assessment both in terms of number of days and amount.

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date on an individual basis for major clients. In addition, a large number 
of minor receivables are grouped into homogenous groups and assessed for impairment collectively. The maximum exposure 
to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of each class of financial assets disclosed in Notes. Trade receivables are 
unsecured but considered goods subject to provision made thereon.

Trade Receivables (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

 31st March, 2025  31st March 2024 

Not Due               6,905.80          10,225.80 

Up to Six Months Past Due               7,320.71               533.09 

6 Months to 1 Year Past Due                  345.44               321.15 

More Than 1 Year Past Due               1,095.61            1,161.62 

            15,667.56          12,241.66 
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Provision for Doubtful Debts                 (648.52)             (450.82)

Total             15,019.04          11,790.84 

(` in lakh) (` in lakh)

 31st March, 2025  31st March 2024 

Reconciliation of Provision for Doubtful Debts

Balance at the Beginning of the Year                  450.82               321.64 

Add: Provision made during the year                  197.70               129.18 

Less: Transfer due to De-Merger                          -                        -   

Less: Provision Written Back during the Year                          -                        -   

Balance at the end of the Year                  648.52               450.82 

(C) Liquidity risk 
Liquidity Risk refers to the risk that the Group meet its financial obligations. The objective of liquidity risk management is to 
maintain sufficient liquidity and ensure that funds are available for use as per requirements. The Group consistently generated 
sufficient cash flows from operations to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due. The tables below provide 
details regarding contractual maturities of significant financial liabilities as at:

(` in lakh) (` in lakh)

 31st March, 
2025 

 31st March 2024 

Floating rate

(a) Expiring within one year (Bank overdraft and other facilities)

Secured

- Working Capital Limits 1,938.22               677.92 

(b) Expiring beyond one year (Bank loans) 

Secured

-Term loan from banks  1,390.19            1,800.62 

ii) Maturity Patterns of borrowings (` in lakh)

Less than 
1Year

1 to 2 years 2 to 5 years More than 5 
years

Year ended 31st March, 2025

Contractual Maturities of borrowings      2,158.58      776.33            1,169.83                   -   

Contractual Maturities of trade payables      8,255.37                          -                        -                     -   

Contractual Maturities of other financial liabilities         498.69           14.53                 71.02           676.26 

Total    10,912.64       790.86            1,240.85           676.26 

Year ended 31st March, 2024

Contractual Maturities of borrowings      1,102.12  1,152.87            1,272.61           103.80 

Contractual Maturities of trade payables      7,372.88                          -                        -                     -   

Contractual Maturities of other financial liabilities         644.44  665.50               147.89 

Total      8,463.50 1,677.31            1,379.91        1,221.50 
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55 POST EMPLOYMENT OBLIGATIONS - GRATUITY

The Group provides for gratuity for employees as per the Payment of Gratuity Act, 1972. Employees who are in continuous service 
for a period of 5 years are eligible for gratuity. The amount of gratuity payable on retirement/termination is the employees last 
drawn basic salary per month computed proportionately for 15 days salary multiplied for the number of years of service. For the 
funded plan the Group makes contributions to LIC of India. 

a) Changes in Defined Benefit Obligation  31st March, 2025  31st March, 2024 

Gratuity Plan               1,278.42            1,115.29 

b) Changes in present value of defined obligation representing reconciliation of opening and closing balances thereof are as 
follows :

(` in lakh)

  For the year
ended on 31st 

March 2025

For the year
ended on 31st 

March 2024
Changes in Defined Benefit Obligation

Present value obligation as at the start of the year               1,115.29            1,014.81 

Interest costs                    80.24                 75.76 

Current Service costs                  127.20               107.36 

Benefits paid                   (97.68)               (59.57)

Re-measurement (or Actuarial) (gain) / loss arising from:                          -                        -   

- change in financial assumptions                    54.75                 25.70 

- experience Variance                     (1.37)               (48.77)

Present value obligation as at the end of the year               1,278.42            1,115.29 

In order to achieve this overall objective, the Group’s capital management, amongst other things, aims to ensure that it meets 
financial covenants attached to the interest-bearing loans and borrowings that define capital structure requirements. Breaches 
in meeting the financial covenants would permit the bank to immediately call loans and borrowings. There have been no major 
breaches in the financial covenants of any interest- bearing loans and borrowing in the current period. No changes were made 
in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the year ended 31st March 2025.

54 Expenditure Incurred on Research & Development

2024-2025
(` in lakh)

2023-2024Particulars

 -  Capital Expenditure                 -                        2.40 

 -  Revenue Expenditure         164.50                  158.20 

        164.50                  160.60 

53 Capital Management
For the purpose of the Group’s capital management, capital includes issued equity capital and all other equity reserves 
attributable to the equity holders of the Group. The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to maximize the 
shareholder value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments in light of changes in economic conditions and the 
requirements of the financial covenants. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment 
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is 
net debt divided by total capital plus net debt. The Group includes within net debt, interest bearing loans and borrowings, trade 
payables, less cash and cash equivalents.

(` in lakh) (` in lakh)

 31st March, 2025  31st March 2024 

Borrowings               4,104.74            3,631.41 

Trade Payables               8,255.37            7,372.88 

Less: Cash & Cash Equivalents            (18,724.77)        (22,975.68)

Net Debt              (6,364.66)        (11,971.39)

Equity             68,799.97          64,714.23 

Capital & Net Debt             62,435.31          52,742.84 

Gearing Ratio -10.19% -22.70%



143

c) Changes in the fair value of plan assets representing reconciliation of opening and closing balances thereof as follows :

(` in lakh)

  For the year
ended on 31st 

March 2025

For the year
ended on 31st 

March 2024
Change in fair value of plan assets

Fair value of plan assets as at the start of the year               1,036.00               934.23 

Return on plan assets                    74.24                 69.39 

Actuarial gains/ (losses)                      3.82                   3.97 

Contributions by employer                    74.12                 87.99 

Benefits paid                   (97.68)               (59.57)

Fair value of plan assets as at the end of the year               1,090.50            1,036.00 

d) Reconciliation of present value of defined benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets

(` in lakh)

Particulars For the year
ended on 31st 

March 2025

For the year
ended on 31st 

March 2024
 

Present value obligation as at the end of the year               1,278.42            1,115.29 

Fair value of plan assets as at the end of the year               1,090.50            1,036.00 

Net asset/(obligation) recognized in balance sheet                 (187.92)              (79.28)

e) The amounts recognised in the statement of profit and loss are as follows :

(` in lakh)

  For the year
ended on 31st 

March 2025

For the year
ended on 31st 

March 2024
Amount recognized in the statement of profit and loss

Current service cost                  127.20               107.36 

Interest on obligation                      5.70                   6.02 

Total included in employee benefit expense                132.90               113.38 

f) Amount recognised in the statement of Other Comprehensive Income

(` in lakh)

Particulars For the year
ended on 31st 

March 2025

For the year
ended on 31st 

March 2024
 

Change in Financial Assumptions                    54.75                 25.70 

Change in Demographic Assumptions                          -                        -   

Experience Variance i.e. Actual Experience vs Assumptions                     (1.37)               (48.77)

Actuarial Gain/(Loss) for the year                     (2.73)                 (3.30)

Return on Planned Assets, excluding amount recognised in net interest expense                     (0.80)                 (0.32)

Components of defined benefit cost recognised in OCI                    49.85               (26.70)

g) Principal actuarial assumptions at the balance sheet date:

  For the year
ended on 31st 

March 2025

For the year
ended on 31st 

March 2024
Actuarial Assumptions

Discount rate (per annum) 6.75% 7.45%

Salary escalation rate (per annum) 9.00% 9.00%

The discount rate indicated above reflects the estimated timing and currency of benefit payments. It is based on the yields/ 
rates available on applicable bonds as on the current valuation date. 

The Salary growth rate indicated above is the Group’s best estimate of an increase in salary of employees in future years, 
determined considering the general trend in inflation, seniority, promotions, past experience and other relevant factors such as 
demand and supply in employment market, etc.
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h) Demographic Assumptions:

The Principal Demographic Assumptions used in the valuation are shown in the table below:

  For the year
ended on 31st 

March 2025

For the year
ended on 31st 

March 2024
Demographic Assumptions

Mortality Rate (% of IALM 2012-14) 100.00% 100.00%

Normal Retirement Age 58 Years 58 Years

Attrition/ Withdrawal rate, based on age: (per annum)  

Upto 30 Years 3.00% 3.00%

31 to 44 Years 2.00% 2.00%

Above 44 Years 1.00% 1.00%

Attrition rate indicated above represents Group’s best estimate of employee turnover in future (other than on account of 
retirement, death or disablement) determined considering various factors such as nature of business, retention policy, industry 
factors, past experience etc.  

i) Sensitivity Analysis: 
Significant actuarial assumptions for the determination of the defined benefit obligation are discount rate, expected salary 
increase and mortality. The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based on reasonably possible changes of the 
assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period, while holding all other assumptions constant. The result of sensitivity 
analysis is given below: 

(` in lakh)

Particulars For the year
ended on 31st 

March 2025

For the year
ended on 31st 

March 2024
 

 

Defined Benefit Obligation (base)               1,278.42            1,115.29 

Particulars (` in lakh)

  For the year ended on For the year ended on

  31st  March, 2025 31st  March, 2024

  Decrease Increase Decrease Increase

Discount Rate (-/+1%)      1,416.64 ] 1,162.95  1,230.21        1,018.89 

(% change compared to base due to sensitivity) 10.81% -9.03% 10.30% -8.64%

         

Salary Growth Rate (-/+1%)      1,167.21 ] 1,406.72  112.08        1,222.66 

(% change compared to base due to sensitivity) -8.70% 10.04% -89.95% 9.63%

       

Attrition Rate (-/+ 50% of attrition rates)      1,304.12 ]1,257.66 1,131.02        1,102.19 

(% change compared to base due to sensitivity) 2.01% -1.62% 1.41% -1.17%

         

Mortality Rate (-/+ 10% of mortality rates)      1,278.95 ] 1,277.89 1,115.61        1,114.95 

(% change compared to base due to sensitivity) 0.04% -0.04% 0.03% -0.03%

Please note that the sensitivity analysis presented above may not be representative of the actual change in the defined benefit 
obligation as it is unlikely that the change in assumptions would occur in isolation of the another as some of the assumptions 
may be correlated.
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j) Expected Cash Flows over the next (valued on undiscounted basis):

Expected Cash Flows over the next (valued on undiscounted basis) (` in lakh)

1 Year                    278.16 

2 to 5 years                    289.73 

6 to 10 years                    373.46 

More than 10 years                 2,120.18 

56 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS - EARNED LEAVE PLAN

Assets and Liability (Balance Sheet Position)

Particulars As on

31.03.2025 31.03.2024

Present Value of obligation         392.27                  278.81 

Fair Value of Plan Assets                 -                            -   

Surplus/(Deficit)        (392.27)                 (278.81)

Effects of Asset Celling, if any                 -                            -   

Net Asset/(Liability)        (392.27)                 (278.81)

Bifurcation of Present Value of obligation at the end of the year as per revised schedule III of the Companies Act 2013

Particulars As on

31.03.2025 31.03.2024

Current Liability(Short Term)           84.24                    55.89 

Non-Current Liability(Long Term)         308.03                  203.50 

Present Value of obligation as at the end         392.27                  259.40 

Expenses Recognized in income Statement

Particulars For the Period ending

31.03.2025 31.03.2024

Present value of obligation as at the beginning         278.81                  170.34 

Present value of obligation as at the end         392.27                  259.40 

Benefit Payment           36.32                    29.15 

Actual return on plan assets                 -                            -   

Transfer in/(out)                 -                            -   

Expenses Recognized in income statement         149.78                  118.22 

Financial Assumptions

The Principal financial assumptions used in valuation are shown in the below table :

Particulars As on

  31.03.2025 31.03.2024

Discount rate (per annum) 6.95% 7.20%

Salary Growth rate(per annum) 9.00% 9.00%

The Discount Rate indicated above reflects the esteemed timing and currency of benefit Payments.  It is based on the yields/
rate available on applicable bonds as on the current valuation date. The salary growth rate indicated above is the company’s 
best estimate of an increase in salary of the employees in future years, determined considering the general trend in inflation 
,seniority, promotions, past experience and other relevant factors such as demand and supply in employment marketed.
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Demographic Assumptions

The Principals demographics assumptions used in the valuation are shown in the table below :

Particulars As on

31.03.2025 31.03.2024

Mortality Rate 100% 100%

Normal retirement age 58 Years 58 Years

Attrition/withdrawal rate (Per annum)    

Upto 30 Years 3.00% 3.00%

31 - 44 Years 2.00% 2.00%

Above 44 Years 1.00% 1.00%

Rate of Leave Availment (per annum) 0.00% 0.00%

Rate of Leave Encashment during employment (per annum) 0.00% 0.00%

Attrition rate indicated above represents the Group’s best estimate of employee turnover in future (other than on account of 
retirement, death or disablement) determined considering various factors such as nature of business , retention policy, past 
experience etc. 

Sensitivity Analysis 
Significant actuarial assumptions for the determination of the leave liability are discount rate, expected salary increase and 
mortality. The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based on reasonably possible changes of the assumptions 
occurring at the reporting period, while holding al other assumptions constant. The results of sensitivity analysis is given below

Particulars 31.03.2025 31.03.2024

Present Value of obligation (Base)         392.55                  278.81 

Particulars
 

For the year ended on
31.03.2025 

For the year ended on
31.03.2024 

  Decrease Increase Decrease Increase

Discount Rate (-/+1%)         435.54      355.77 314.10 249.58 

(% change compared to base due to sensitivity) 10.95% -9.37% 12.66% -10.48%

 

Salary Growth Rate (-/+1%)         356.17   434.14 249.78 313.14 

(% change compared to base due to sensitivity) -9.27% 10.59% -10.41% 12.31%

  

Attrition Rate (-/+ 50% of attrition rates)         400.78    386.31  285.04 274.31 

(% change compared to base due to sensitivity) 2.10% -1.59% 2.23% -1.61%

 

Mortality Rate (-/+ 10% of mortality rates)         392.46  392.08  278.94 278.69 

(% change compared to base due to sensitivity) -0.02% -0.12% 0.05% -0.04%

Please note that the sensitivity analysis presented above may not be represented of the actual Change in the present value of 
obligation as its is unlikely that the change in assumptions would occur in isolation of one another as some of the assumptions 
may be correlated. There is no change in the method of valuation for the prior period. For change in assumptions please refer to 
section 4 above, where assumptions for prior period, if applicable, are given.

Maturity Profile of  Defined Benefit Obligation

Weighted average duration(based on discounted cashflows) 9.5

Expected cash flows over the next (Valued on undiscounted basis) (` in lakh)

1 year           84.23 

2 to5 years           49.93 

6 to 10 years           76.20 

More than 10 years         720.72 
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57 Detail of Related Parties

(a) List of Related Parties

Party

1 Associates

Avon Infrabiz Private Ltd.

2 Entities with control or Joint Control by KMP

Avon Fitness Machines Pvt. Ltd  

Avon Energies And Investments Private Limited   

Hans Raj Pahwa & Brothers

3 Key Management Personnel

Sh. Onkar Singh Pahwa

Sh. Rishi Pahwa

Sh. Mandeep Singh Pahwa

Sh. Girish Paman Vanvari

Sh. Anil Arora

Sh. Manish Kumar Mittal

Sh. Bhavdeep  Sardana

4 Other Related Parties

Smt. Sarabjit Kaur Pahwa

Smt. Pallavi Pahwa

Smt. Jasmine Pahwa

Aditragh Enterprises

NRG enterprises

Rolex Metals Pvt. Limited 

Wheel Craft 
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(b) Related Party Transactions

(` in lakh)

Transactions Associates / Joint 
Ventures

Entities with Control or 
Joint Control by KMP 

Key Management 
Personnel 

Other Related Parties

2024-25  2023-24 2024-25 2023-24 2024-25 2023-24 2024-25 2023-24

Rent Paid             -               -      54.90 37.61             -               -               -               -   

Remuneration Paid             -               -                  -                 -   2,017.21 1,835.06             -               -   

Interest Paid             -               -                  -                 -         58.76       48.48      18.59       50.62 

Interest Received 113.05       75.64                -                 -               -               -               -               -   

Rent Received             -               -      79.73  73.60             -               -               -               -   

Service Charges Received             -               -        1.00   0.07             -               -               -               -   

Dividend Paid             -               -                  -                 -       151.69 156.58         0.33         1.93 

Royalty             -               -   -  31.99             -               -               -               -   

Food Bill             -               -     7.24  7.17             -               -               -               -   

Purchase             -               -   55.55      -               -               -   3,604.58 5,083.15 

Sale -          0.00 4.85           1.93             -               -           9.72    109.49 

Sale/ Trf.  of Fixed Assets             -               -                   -                    -               -               -               -               -   

Sitting Fees             -               -                   -                    -           1.50         1.70             -               -   

Re-imbursement of 
expenses

   144.83       71.95          9.23        45.54 - - - -

Loan Given -      600.00                 -                    -   - - - -

Loan Received Back - -                 -                    -   - - - -

Legal & Professional 
Charges

            -               -                   -                    -               -               -               -               -   

Payment of Misc. Charges - - - - - - - -

Purchase of Shares - - - - - - - -

Debit balances outstanding 
as at the closing

 1,716.75  1,683.42  7.22 47.48             -               -               -               -   

Credit balances as at the 
closing

            -               -       5.16  4.16       59.92       53.29     319.39  165.62 
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58 Fair Value Measurement

(a) Financial Instruments by Category

For amortized cost instruments, Carrying values represents the best estimates of Fair Value

 
 

(` in lakh)
 31st March, 2025 

(` in lakh)
 31st March, 2024 

Particulars
 

FVTPL
 

FVOCI
 

Amortized
Cost

FVTPL
 

FVOCI
 

Amortized
Cost

Financial Assets            

Investments        8,032.35               -                    -   7,341.53                 -                      -   

Trade Receivables                  -                 -   15,019.05                     -                   -    11,790.84 

Other Financial Assets                  -                 -          6,969.18                     -                   -    7,628.05 

Cash & Cash Equivalents        9,775.27               -          8,949.50 12,377.60                 -   10,598.08 

Other Bank Balances                  -                 -          9,019.23                     -                   -    8,376.51 

Total 17,807.62               -   39,956.96 19,719.13                 -   38,393.49 

Financial Liabilities            

Borrowings                  -                 -          4,104.74                     -                   -    3,631.41 

Trade Payables                  -                 -          8,255.37                     -                   -    7,372.88 

Other Financial Liabilities                  -                 -          1,260.50                     -                   -    1,457.82 

Total                   -                 -    13,620.61                     -                   -   12,462.11 

(b) Fair value measurement hierarchy for assets and liabilities

The Company has classified its financial instruments into the three levels prescribed under the accounting standards. An 
explanation of each level follows underneath the table.

Financial assets and liabilities 
measured at fair value-recurring fair 
value measurements

(` in lakh)
 31st March, 2025 

(` in lakh)
 31st March, 2024 

Particulars Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial Assets            

Investments        7,866.04               -             166.31 7,192.94                 -    148.58 

Cash & Cash Equivalents        9,775.27               -                    -   12,377.60                 -                      -   

Total 17,641.31               -   166.31 19,570.54                 -   148.58 

Financial assets and liabilities 
measured at amortized cost for 
which fair values are disclosed

(` in lakh) 
 31st March, 2025 

(` in lakh) 
 31st March, 2024 

Particulars Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial Assets            

Investments                  -                 -                    -                       -                   -                      -   

Trade Receivables                  -                 -   15,019.05                     -                   -    11,790.84 

Other Financial Assets                  -                 -          6,969.18                     -                   -    7,628.05 

Cash & Cash Equivalents                  -                 -          8,949.50                     -                   -   10,598.08 

Other Bank Balances                  -                 -          9,019.23                     -                   -    8,376.51 

Total                   -                 -   39,956.96                     -                   -    38,393.49 

Financial Liabilities            

Borrowings                  -                 -          4,104.74                     -                   -    3,631.41 

Trade Payables                  -                 -          8,255.37                     -                   -   7,372.88 

Other Financial Liabilities                  -                 -          1,260.50                     -                   -    1,457.82 

Total                   -                 -   13,620.61                     -                   -    12,462.11 
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Fair Value Hierarchy: 
Level 1: Level 1 hierarchy includes financial instruments measured using quoted prices. This includes listed equity instruments, 
mutual funds that have quoted price. The fair value of all equity instruments which are traded in the stock exchanges is valued 
using the closing price as at the reporting period. The mutual funds are valued using the closing NAV.

Level 2 : Value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined using valuation techniques which 
maximize the use of observable market data and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs 
required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in Level 2.

Level 3 : If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included in level 3. This 
is the case for unlisted equity securities, contingent consideration and indemnification asset included in level 3. 

c. Fair value of financial assets and liabilities measured at amortized cost

 
 

(` in lakh)
 31st March, 2025 

(` in lakh)
 31st March, 2024 

Particulars
 

Carrying
Amount

Fair
Value

Carrying
Amount

Fair
Value

Financial Assets        

Investments               -                    -                       -                   -   

Trade Receivables  15,019.05  15,019.05 11,790.84    11,790.84 

Other Financial Assets    6,969.18        6,969.18  7,628.05      7,628.05 

Cash & Cash Equivalents    8,949.50        8,949.50 10,598.08    10,598.08 

Other Bank Balances    9,019.23        9,019.23  8,376.51      8,376.51 

Total  39,956.96 39,956.96  38,393.49    38,393.49 

Financial Liabilities        

Borrowings    4,104.74        4,104.74  3,631.41      3,631.41 

Trade Payables    8,255.37        8,255.37  7,372.88      7,372.88 

Other Financial Liabilities    1,260.50        1,260.50 1,457.82      1,457.82 

Total  13,620.61 13,620.61 12,462.11    12,462.11 

The carrying amounts of trade receivables, trade payables, advances to employees, cash and cash equivalents and other bank 
balances are considered to be the same as their fair values, due to short term nature. The fair values for FMP’s, Margin Money, 
Employee Loans and security deposits were calculated based on cash flows discounted using a current lending rate. They are 
classified as level 3 fair values in the fair value hierarchy due to the inclusion of unobservable inputs including counter party 
credit risk.
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59 Enterprises Consolidated as Subsidiary in accordance with Indian Accounting Standard 110 – Consolidated Financial Statements

Name of Enterprise Country of Incorporation Proportion of Ownership Interest

M/s Avon Newage Cycles Pvt. Ltd. India 100%

60 Additional Information, as required under Schedule III to the Companies Act, 2013, of Enterprises Consolidated as Subsidiary / Associates 
/ Joint Ventures

Name of Enterprise Net Assets, i.e. total 
assets minus total 

Liabilities

 Share in profit or loss  Share in OCI  Share in Total 
Comprehensive Income 

  As % of 
consoli-
dated 

net 
assets

(` in Lakh) As % of 
consoli-
dated 

Profit or 
Loss

(` in 
Lakh)

As % of 
consoli-
dated 
other 

compre-
hensive 
income

(` in 
Lakh)

As % of 
consolidated 
total compre-

hensive 
income

(` in 
Lakh)

Parent 

M/s Avon Cycles Ltd. 101.50% 69,831.16 108.02%  4,760.92 106.67% (38.86) 108.03% 4,722.06 

Subsidiary 

M/s Avon Newage Cycles Pvt. 
Ltd.

4.53% 3,117.97 -8.02% (353.30) -6.67% 2.43 -8.03% (350.87)

Total 106.03%  
72,949.13 

100.00% 4,407.62 100.00% (36.43) 100.00% 4,371.19 

Adjustment arising out of 
Consolidation

-6.03%  
(4,149.16)

0.00% (0.01) 0.00% - 0.00% (0.01)

Non - Controlling interest in 
all subsidiaries

- - 0.00% - 0.00% - - - 

Associates (Investment as per 
Equity Method)

- - - - - - - -

Indian: -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   

Foreign -   -   0.00% -   0.00% -   -   

Joint Ventures (Investment as 
per Equity Method)

               

Indian -   -   0.00% -   0.00% -   -   -   

Foreign -   -   0.00% -   0.00% -   -   -   

Total 100% 68,799.97 100%  4,407.61 100%  (36.43) 100% 4,371.18 
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61 SEGMENT INFORMATION 
Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise for which discrete financial information is available that is 
evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources and assessing performance. The 
group’s chief operating decision maker is Managing Director and Joint Managing Director.

The group had  in the year 2021-2022 identified two segments; viz: 1) Core segment, and, 2) Non - Core Segment. Core segment 
contains Bicycles and EV Division. Non - Core contains Power segment, Treasury Segment and Renting business.  The Non-Core 
segment of the group has been demerged w.e.f 1st April, 2022, vide scheme of arrangement approved by NCLT vide its order 
dated 03.07.2023 (kindly refer note 38). 

Hence, segment reporting of core and non-core segment is not given. However, geographical allocation of revenue is given by 
the group.

i) Geographical revenue is allocated based on the location of the customers.

Information regarding geographical revenue is as follows:

(` in lakh)
 2024-2025 

(` in lakh))
 2023-2024 

India     83,283.54 1,06,977.88

Africa       1,812.86      1,134.64 

South/Latin America            77.10           50.10 

Asia          626.63         366.22 

South Africa       2,434.99      2,697.98 

Europe       5,526.50      4,417.16 

Unallocated Revenue          422.70         144.89 

    94,184.32 1,15,788.87

Information regarding geographical non- current assets is as follows: (` in lakh) (` in lakh)

For Year Ended For Year Ended

31st March 2024 31st March 2023

Non - Current Assets:

Within India     13,909.36    13,315.40 

Outside India                  -                   -   

ii) As per Indian Accounting Standard 108 – Operating Segments, the Group has reported segment information on consolidated 
basis including businesses conducted through its subsidiaries.

iii) Information about major customers:
No single customer represents 10% or more of the Group’s total revenue for the years ended March 31, 2025 and 2024, respectively.
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62 Other Statutory Information:

i) The Company has disclosed investment property at Cost.

ii) The Company has not revalued  its Property, Plant and Equipment (including Right of Use Assets) during the year.

iii) The Company has not revalued its intangible Assets during the year.

iv) The Company has made Loans and advances to following related parties (as defined under Companies Act) that are repayable 
on demand:

As at 31.03.2025 As at 31.03.2024

  Type of Borrower Amount %age to Total Amount %age to Total 

    Outstanding Loans & 
Advances

Outstanding Loans & 
Advances

(` in lakh) (` in lakh)

a) To Associates 1716.75 51.03%           1,683.08 27.75%

b) To other Related Parties 0.00 0.00%                      -   0.00%

v) There are no intangible assets under development.

vi) There are no proceedings initiated or pending against the Company for holding any benami property under the Benami 
Transactions (Prohibition) Act, 1988.

vii) The quarterly returns or statements of Current Assets filed by the Company with banks or Financial Institutions are in agreement 
with books of accounts.

viii) The Company is not declared willful defaulter by Banks, Financial Institutions or any other lender.

ix) The Company has not done any transactions directly with struck off Companies u/s 248 of Companies Act, 2013 or u/s 560 of 
Companies Act, 1956.

x) The Company has not advanced or loaned or invested funds to any other persons or entities, including foreign entities 
(Intermediaries) with the understanding that the Intermediary shall:

(a) Directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the 
company (Ultimate Beneficiaries), or,

(b) Provide any guarantee, security or the like to or on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.

xi) The Company has not received any fund from any persons or entities, including foreign entities (Funding Party) with the 
understanding (whether recorded in writing or otherwise) that the Company shall:

(a) Directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the 
Funding Party (Ultimate Beneficiaries), or,

(b) Provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.

63 The figures have been rounded off to the nearest rupee Lakh up to two decimal point.

As per our report of even date

For H.K. Chitkara & Co.	 For and on behalf of the Board	 For and on behalf of the Board
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